A dissertation submitted to the Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy of Central European University in part fulfilment of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions: Historical Interventions and Their Outcomes in the G7 and the EU, compared to Net-Zero Targets

Masahiro SUZUKI

March 2024

Vienna

Supervisor: Prof. Aleh Cherp

Copyright and the ownership of intellectual property rights

(1) Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the Author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the Author and lodged in the Central European University Library. Details may be obtained from the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) of copies made in accordance with such instructions may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the Author.

(2) The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in the Central European University, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the University, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.

(3) For bibliographic and reference purposes this thesis should be referred to as:

Suzuki, M. 2024. Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions: Historical Interventions and Their Outcomes in the G7 and the EU, compared to Net-Zero Targets. Doctoral Dissertation, Central European University, Vienna.

Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Head of the Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy, Central European University.

Author's declaration

No portion of the work referred to in this thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning.

Furthermore, this dissertation contains no materials previously written and/or published by another person, except where appropriate acknowledgement is made in the form of bibliographical reference, etc.

一般木暢大

Masahiro SUZUKI

Authorship notice for included journal article

This dissertation incorporates the content of the following journal article, which I published with two co-authors including my dissertation supervisor (Aleh Cherp).

Suzuki, M., Jewell, J., Cherp, A., 2023. Have climate policies accelerated energy transitions? Historical evolution of electricity mix in the G7 and the EU compared to net-zero targets. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 106, 103281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2023.103281</u>

As the first and corresponding author of this article, I played a leading role in conceiving the study, developing the research design, collecting, analysing, and visualising data, as well as writing and revising the manuscript.

Abstract

Avoiding dangerous climate change requires a significant political acceleration in energy transitions, where fossil fuels must be replaced by low-carbon technologies within the next decades. Are there historical precedents for such acceleration? Are recent transitions faster with climate policies? Existing studies do not answer these questions due to their analysis being too broad, emphasising the slowness of global transition, or too narrow, highlighting recent short-term changes in specific countries without assessing their significance compared to historical experiences or climate target requirements.

Against this backdrop, this dissertation develops a middle-range methodology with the typology of energy transitions to systematically categorise, trace, and compare energy transitions towards decarbonisation across countries and time-periods. I apply this methodology to comparatively examine the historical and planned transitions in the electricity sector in the G7 and the EU, where political acceleration is expected, given their leadership in decarbonisation and climate policies. I compare this historical analysis with climate target requirements to elucidate the challenges to keeping the global temperature increase below 1.5° C.

I find that, throughout the last six decades, electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU have been primarily driven by the changes in electricity demand, and the developments under climate policies since 1990 have not been accelerated in terms of the growth of low-carbon electricity or the decline of fossil fuels beyond historical trends. Moreover, none of these countries have yet empirically demonstrated or even planned the rates of acceleration necessary to achieve 1.5°C. In other words, in contrast to the claim in the literature, there has been no 'successful' case of transitions comparable with the magnitude of acceleration required to mitigate climate change. Meeting the 1.5°C target, therefore, requires radically different energy transitions in the future with the unprecedented level of political acceleration.

The middle-range approach developed in this dissertation can be applied to track future progress in the G7 and the EU and analyse other sectors and countries. Taking stock of empirical evidence and advancing discussions on what then needs to be done is more warranted.

Keywords: energy transitions, climate change, political acceleration, G7, EU

Acknowledgements

My PhD journey has been quite an adventure. It began with my move to Budapest in 2017, knowing that the university would soon need to relocate to a different country. After much uncertainty, a decision was made to move the entire campus to Vienna in 2019. This relocation coincided with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, adding unprecedented challenges to an already complex transition. Like many other non-EU students, I had to return to my home country, move to a country where I could apply for a residence permit, and eventually stay there to finalise my dissertation, unfortunately without fully integrating into the new campus life in Vienna.

Why am I listing all these challenges? Because I managed to overcome them, all thanks to the unwavering support, kindness, and encouragement I received from numerous people.

Above all, I deeply appreciate my supervisor, Aleh, for being an incredible scientist, educator and mentor, always striking a sophisticated balance between critically challenging and supporting me to grow as a scientist. You have been and will stay a role model, and I hope to achieve the same depth of wisdom you possess one day. My only regret is that we lost the opportunity to casually go for lunch or dinner to discuss not only our work but also other things which were difficult to do online. I'm looking forward to remedying this soon and continuing our collaboration.

I would also like to show my great appreciation to my committee members, Mike and Takeshi, for supporting my PhD studies. Mike, I was really happy to see you at the ECPR Conference in 2023. Seeing how you were interacting with other scholars was truly inspirational. Takeshi, thank you for helping me to move and stay in Germany to continue my dissertation research. Having daily conversations on various topics has enriched my life and research in Germany in so many ways.

My deep gratitude also goes to my co-authors of conference papers, presentations, and journal articles, Jessica and Vadim. Thank you so much for being such inspirational Senpai and for your kindness and engagement in helping me grow. I greatly appreciate your critical comments, which always help me go extra steps forward to make new and more exciting discoveries with you!

I am extremely grateful to my colleagues/friends at NewClimate Institute. Without you all, I would have drowned in my PhD loneliness. Thank you for giving me another home and treating me as part of the team all these years. I have so many great memories with you and find it difficult to write this without some tears. Without the inspiration I received from your work and our conversations, my research could have never achieved the level of social relevance I hope it has.

Another special thanks goes to the members of the POLET research group. It is incredible how intellectually stimulating and enjoyable our seminars always are! Many thanks to Aleh, Jessica, Vadim, and Marta for creating and maintaining such a dynamic environment, and everyone else for being just so wonderful. I am looking forward to collaborating more with you all in the future.

I am greatly appreciative of the support from the faculty members and staff at the Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy of CEU. Sadly, I could not see many of you as frequently as I did in 2017 and 2018. Still, even with the distance, I always felt included and prioritised, and I believe it is this culture of inclusiveness and care which makes this department really special. I am looking forward to reconnecting with you all at my defence and graduation in Vienna.

Many thanks also go to my CEU friends who shared their time discussing research, enjoying meals, drinks, and occasional travels together. Special thanks to Jackie, who kindly hosted me multiple times when I didn't have a home in Budapest; to Steffen, Georgina, and Varvara for our online collaborations and chats; and, of course, to my cohort mates, Judit, Balsa, Olea, Gina, John, and Chunyu for our wonderful time together in Budapest. Let's aim for a reunion soon, everyone!

Thank you also to my MESPOM friends. I am grateful to have had many opportunities to reunite with so many of you and to make new friends from different batches. I cannot wait to see you all in person this October at our big MESPOM reunion in Budapest. MESPOM is the BEST!

I would also like to thank my family and friends in Japan, who have always empowered me to keep going. I hope to return the favour whenever you can visit me in Europe. I am particularly looking forward to the opportunity to spoil my niece and nephews, Yuika, Sousuke and Shūsuke.

Finally, my deepest gratitude goes to my husband, Sven, who always treats me as his top priority in any circumstances. Thank you so much for being patient with me, cheering for me, and forward-looking for us. I am excited for our future together, especially with some changes finally taking place! 18.

Table of Contents

Coj	pyrigh	t and the ownership of intellectual property rights	ii
Au	thor's	declaration	iii
Au	thorsh	ip notice for included journal article	iv
Ab	stract		v
Acl	knowl	edgements	vi
Tal	ole of (Contents	viii
Lis	t of Fi	gures	xi
Lis	t of Ta	ables	xiv
Lis	t of Al	bbreviations	XV
1.	Intro	oduction	1
2.	Lite	rature review	6
2	.1	Climate mitigation requires a significant political acceleration in energy trans	sitions 6
_	2.1.1	Historical transitions – slow and technological additions	6
	2.1.2	Required transitions – rapid and drastic technological substitution	8
	2.1.3	Political acceleration in energy transitions to bridge the gap	11
2	.2	Theories on political acceleration in energy transitions	
	2.2.1	States steer energy transitions to achieve national objectives	12
	2.2.2	But state motivations and capacities are constrained.	12
	2.2.3	Policies can be strengthened or weakened over time	16
2	.3	Mixed observations and arguments on political acceleration	
	2.3.1	Growing international climate regime and climate policies	19
	2.3.2	Seemingly no political acceleration at the global level	20
	2.3.3	Increasingly identified cases of political acceleration at the national level	22
	2.3.4	But policies can also decelerate at the national level	23
2	.4	Literature gap in analysing political acceleration	
	2.4.1	Analyses being too broad or too narrow	25
	2.4.2	Addressing the gap needs a more appropriate range of analysis	29
2	.5	Summary	
3.	Rese	earch design	
3	.1	Ontological and epistemological assumptions	
	3.1.1	Critical realism and mechanistic analysis	31
	3.1.2	Application of critical realism to analyse energy transitions	33
3	.2	Conceptual frameworks	
	3.2.1	Middle-range methodology to analyse national energy transitions	35
	3.2.2	Tracing systemic changes towards decarbonisation	
	3.2.3	Examining the level of required acceleration	41
3	.3	Methods	
	3.3.1	Common methods for the three empirical analyses	42
	3.3.2	Specific methods for Germany-UK comparison (Chapter 4)	44
	3.3.3	Specific methods for G7 and EU policy impact analysis (Chapter 5)	45
	3.3.4	Specific methods for G7 policy evolution analysis (Chapter 6)	51
3	.4	Summary	53

4. H	Historical and planned transitions in Germany and the UK	55
4.1	Introduction	55
4.2	Electricity transitions in Germany	55
4	.2.1 Coal	57
4	.2.2 Natural gas	58
4	.2.3 Nuclear power	
4	.2.4 Modern renewables	61
4.3	Electricity transitions in the UK	
4	4.3.1 U11	64
4 4	-3.2 Coal	04
4	-3.4 Nuclear power	
4	.3.5 Modern renewables	
4.4	Comparing Germany and the UK	69
4	4.1 State actions and coal	72
4	.4.2 State actions and nuclear power	75
4	4.3 State actions and modern renewables	76
4.5	Comparing the speed of technological growth and decline	
4	L.5.1 Comparing the growth of modern renewables	79
4	4.5.2 Comparing the decline of incumbent technologies	80
4.6	Summary	81
5. H	Historical and required transitions in the G7 and the EU	
51	Introduction	83
5.1		
3. 4	Historical and required evolution of the electricity sector	
5	5.2.1 Speed of technological changes and climate policies	
5	5.2.3 Evolution of the type and speed of electricity transitions	90
5	5.2.4 Frontier speed of national low-carbon substitutions in 2020	95
5	5.2.5 Latest developments	98
5.3	Comparing the historical and required electricity transitions	
5	5.3.1 Evolution of the electricity sector in the G7 and the EU	99
5	5.3.2 Effects of climate policies	100
5	5.3.3 Implications for achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway in the G7 and the EU	103
5.4	Summary	106
6. E	Evolution of energy transition policies in the G7	
6.1	Introduction	
6.2	Overview of national transition projections analysed	109
6	5.2.1 Germany	
6	5.2.2 United Kingdom	111
6	5.2.3 France	114
6	5.2.4 Italy	115
6	5.2.5 Japan	117
6	0.2.6 Canada	
6	0.2.7 United States	120
6.3	Ratcheting up of policies reflected in projections towards 2035	
6	0.5.1 Germany	126
0 6	5.3.2 United Kingdom	129
6	5.3.4 Italy	
0		

	6.3.5	Japan	136
	6.3.6	Canada	138
	0.3./		140
	6.4	Cross-country comparison of energy transition projections	. 143
	6.5	Transition projections vs actual transitions	. 145
	6.6	Summary	. 149
7.	Disc	ussion	152
	7.1	State of the art and the gap in the literature	. 152
	7.2	Methodological contributions	. 155
	7.2.1	Developing a middle-range methodology to analyse energy transitions	156
	7.2.2	Advancing the approach while conducting comparative analyses	157
	7.2.3	National transition projections as proxy to examine the stringency of policies	159
	7.3	Empirical contributions	. 160
	7.3.1	Changing nature of energy transition but the speed has not been faster in recent decades	3 161
	7.3.2	No compatible transition has ever occurred or planned for 1.5°C	164
	7.3.3	The role of nuclear power in accelerating energy transitions	169
	7.4	Theoretical contributions	. 170
	7.4.1	Typology of energy transitions	171
	7.4.2	Energy transitions have always been policy-driven	172
	7.4.3	Role of the context and technology characteristics in technological growth	174
	7.5	Limitations and the need for further research	. 178
	7.5.1	Relevance of my dissertation beyond G7 and EU, and the electricity sector	179
	7.5.2	Scrutinising the true impacts and stringency of climate policies	181
	7.5.3	Societal transformations rather than technological accelerations	183
8.	Sum	mary and conclusion	184
A]	ppendi	x A	. 194
R	eferenc	es	. 196

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Dissertation structure
Figure 2.1: Global primary energy consumption by source
Figure 2.2: Global primary energy consumption since 1850
Figure 2.3: Total energy supply to achieve 1.5°C under the IEA net-zero pathway
Figure 2.4: Role of electricity in energy supply in 2021 and in 2050 under the IEA net-zero pathway
Figure 2.5: Sectoral emission pathways to achieve 1.5°C under the IEA net-zero pathway10
Figure 2.6: Global carbon dioxide emissions
Figure 3.1: Overarching conceptual framework of this dissertation and the focused analyses of three empirical chapters
Figure 3.2: Typology of energy transitions
Figure 3.3: Empirically grounded speed zones and the required level of acceleration for targets
Figure 4.1: Historical and planned electricity supply in Germany in 1960-2030
Figure 4.2: Historical and planned electricity supply in the UK in 1960-2030
Figure 4.3: Coal power in Germany and the UK as % of the peak value, 1960-2040
Figure 4.4: Nuclear power generation in Germany and the UK as % of peak value
Figure 4.5: Low-carbon electricity growth in Germany, and the UK77
Figure 4.6: Aggregated growth of modern renewables in Germany and the UK
Figure 4.7: Aggregated decline of incumbent technologies in Germany and the UK
Figure 5.1: Historical and required electricity generation to limit the temperature increase below 1.5°C in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035
Figure 5.2: Speed of historical and required electricity transitions (A), and the number of climate policies introduced in 1960-2035 in the G7 and the EU (B)
Figure 5.3: Number of climate policies in force in the G7 and the EU as a whole and individually in 1960-2020
Figure 5.4: Speed of historical electricity transitions in 1960-2020 in the G7 main member states
Figure 5.5: Costs of solar, onshore, and offshore wind in comparison to yearly addition of modern renewables in the G7 and the EU in 2000-2020 and the required addition in 2020-2035
Figure 5.6: Historical and required electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035

Figure 5.7: Historical developments of the electricity sector in the G7 main member states in 1960-203593
Figure 5.8: Speed zones, and historical, required and frontiers of low-carbon energy transitions
Figure 5.9: Required speed of low-carbon substitutions in 2020-2035, compared to the historically top 10 fastest episodes of low-carbon substitutions for 15 years in all case countries
Figure 5.10: Latest developments in the G7 countries and the EU
Figure 5.11: Growth of nuclear power and modern renewables in the share of electricity generation after reaching a 1% market share in the G7 and the EU
Figure 5.12: Growth speed of nuclear power and modern renewables in the share of electricity generation after reaching a 1% market share in the G7 main member states
Figure 6.1: Germany - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)
Figure 6.2: Germany - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions128
Figure 6.3: UK - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)
Figure 6.4: UK - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions 131
Figure 6.5: France - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)
Figure 6.6: France - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions 133
Figure 6.7: Italy - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)
Figure 6.8: Italy - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions 135
Figure 6.9: Japan - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)
Figure 6.10: Japan - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions 138
Figure 6.11: Canada - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the source of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)
Figure 6.12: Canada - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions 140
Figure 6.13: US - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)
Figure 6.14: US - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions 142
Figure 6.15: The required rates of low-carbon substitutions compared to up to three of the highest projected

Figure 6.16: Speed zones ar to the IEA 1.5°C path	nd historical, projected, and required rat hway for the G7	tes of low-carbon substitutions in comparison
Figure 6.17: Correlation be transitions towards 20	etween projected change rates and actu 020	al change rates in the G7 in their electricity 146

Figure 7.1: Historical growth of nuclear power compared to the recent growth of modern renewables in G7 and EU (A). Historical decline of oil in electricity supply (B), compared to the historical decline of oil in primary energy supply (C), and to the recent decline of fossil fuels in electricity supply (D) in G7.... 163

Figure 7.2: Historical and planned supply of nuclear power in 2000s, 2010s, and since 2020...... 170

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Source categories used in this dissertation 40
Table 3.2: Selection method of highest low-carbon transition episodes, France as an example
Table 3.3: Low-carbon episodes used to delineate speed zones of low-carbon substitutions. 49
Table 3.4: This dissertation's approach, in contrast to the two major methodologies
Table 4.1: Technological change rates in Germany in 1960-2030, divided into decadal episodes
Table 4.2: Technological change rates in the UK in 1960-2030, divided into decadal episodes
Table 4.3: Historical and planned electricity transitions and state interventions in Germany and the UK in 1960-2030
Table 5.1: Fastest 25% episodes of low-carbon substitutions in the G7 and the EU and comparable countries in1960-2020 in comparison to the required transition of the G7 and the EU in 2020-2035.96
Table 5.2: Historical and required electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035
Table 6.1: Major energy transition projections of the G7 countries between 2000 and 2023 123
Table 7.1: Lack of comparative analyses addressed by my dissertation 157
Table 7.2: Compatibility of historical and recent transitions as well as policies implemented after 2000 with the IEA 1.5°C pathway for the G7 countries
Table 7.3: Technology characteristics and historical context of the growth of nuclear power and modern renewables in the G7 and the EU. 175

List of Abbreviations

ARERA	Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks, and the Environment (In Italian: Autorità di Regolazione per Energia Reti e Ambiente)
BASE	German Federal Office for the Safety of Nuclear Waste Management (In German: Bundesamt für die Sicherheit der nuklearen Entsorgung)
BEIS	British Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy
BMU	German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (In German: Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und nukleare Sicherheit)
BMUB	German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Building, and Nuclear Safety (In German: Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, Bau und Reaktorsicherheit)
BMW	German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (In German: Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie)
BMWA	German Federal Ministry of Economics and Labour (In German: Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Arbeit)
BMWK	German Federal Ministry of Transport, Building, and Urban Development (In German: Bundesministerium für Verkehr, Bau und Stadtentwicklung)
BMWT	German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (In German: Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung)
CCC	British Committee on Climate Change
CCGT	Combined Cycle Gas Turbine
CCS	Carbon Capture and Storage
CCUS	Carbon Capture, Utilisation, and Storage
CEGB	British Central Electricity Generating Board
CER	Canadian Clean Energy Regulator
CME	Coordinated Market Economy
CRE	French Energy Regulatory Commission (In French: Commission de Régulation de l'Énergie)
DECC	British Department of Energy and Climate Change
DESNZ	British Department for Energy Security and Net Zero
DOE	United States Department of Energy
DTI	British Department of Trade and Industry
EC	European Commission
ECCC	Canadian Department of Environment and Climate Change
EDF	Électricité de France (French electric utility company)
EEG	German Renewable Energy Sources Act (In German: Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz)
EIA	United States Energy Information Administration

ENEA	Italian National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development (In Italian: Energia Nucleare ed Energie Alternative)	
EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency	
ETS	Emissions Trading System	
EUR	Euro (currency)	
EWI	Institute of Energy Economics at the University of Cologne (In German: Energiewirtschaftliches Institut an der Universität zu Köln)	
FDP	German Free Democratic Party (In German: Freie Demokratische Partei)	
FIT	Feed-in-Tariff	
G7	Group of Seven (Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the United Kingdom and the United States. The European Union joins as a "non-enumerated member".)	
GEA	Global Energy Assessment	
GHG	Greenhouse Gas	
GW	Gigawatt	
IAEA	International Atomic Energy Agency	
IAM	Integrated Assessment Model	
IEA	International Energy Agency	
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change	
IRENA	International Renewable Energy Agency	
LC	Low-carbon	
LME	Liberal Market Economy	
LNG	Liquefied Natural Gas	
MATTM	Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea (In Italian: Ministero dell'Ambiente e della Tutela del Territorio e del Mare)	
METI	Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade, and Industry (In Japanese: 経済産業省)	
MIMIT	Italian Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport (In Italian: Ministero delle Infrastrutture e dei Trasporti)	
MISE	Italian Ministry of Economic Development (In Italian: Ministero dello Sviluppo Economico)	
MW	Megawatt	
NEB	Canadian National Energy Board	
NECP	National Energy and Climate Plan	
NEMS	United States National Energy Modeling System	
NFFO	British Non-Fossil Fuel Obligation	
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development	
PE	Primary Energy	
PNIEC	Italian National Integrated Energy and Climate Plan	

	(In Italian: Pubblicato il testo definitivo del Piano Energia e Clima)
POPE	French Program Law establishing the Guidelines for Energy Policy (In French: loi Programme fixant les Orientations de Politique Energétique)
PPCA	Powering Past Coal Alliance
RES	Renewable Energy Sources
RITE	Japanese Research Institute of Innovative Technology for the Earth (In Japanese: 地球環境産業技術研究機構)
RO	British Renewable Obligation
RPS	Renewable Portfolio Standard
RTE	French Electricity Transmission Network (In French: Réseau de Transport d'Électricité)
SEP	Japanese Strategic Energy Plan (In Japanese: エネルギー基本計画)
SME	State-influenced Market Economy
SPD	German Social Democratic Party (In German: Sozialdemokratische Partei Deutschlands)
TIMES	British Energy System Model (The Integrated MARKAL-EFOM System)
TWh	Terawatt hours
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
USD	United States Dollar
USSR	Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

CEU eTD Collection

1. Introduction

Avoiding dangerous climate change requires a significant political acceleration in energy transitions, where fossil fuels must be replaced by low-carbon alternatives within the next few decades. According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), to keep the global temperature increase below 1.5°C, developed countries must decarbonise electricity by 2035 while increasing power generation to electrify other sectors (IEA, 2021a). To demonstrate leadership in spearheading this transition, the Group of Seven (G7) countries and the European Union (EU) committed in 2022 to achieving this target (G7, 2022).

The existing literature provides various and often contrasting arguments regarding such rapid energy transitions. On the one hand, scholars analysing historical energy transitions highlight the consistently growing trend in the global use of energy resources, the increasing accumulation of energy technologies and infrastructure, and the correspondingly increasing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in the past centuries (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; Grubler, 2012; Smil, 2010; Stoddard et al., 2021). Looking at these global trends, these scholars observe no substantial political interventions to change the trajectory to date. This is why some scholars assert that "none of today's promises for a greatly accelerated energy transition from fossil fuels to renewable energies will be realized" (Smil, 2010, p. 28).

On the other hand, by analysing more recent transitions, particularly after 1990, transition scholars and climate policy researchers have identified a growing number of rapid technological changes taking place at the national level. Prominent examples are often drawn from Europe and other developed countries, such as the recent renewable growth in Germany (Chapman and Itaoka, 2018; Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Rogge and Johnstone, 2017), the UK (Geels et al., 2016b; Kern et al., 2014, 2015), Spain (Jänicke, 2012), and Denmark (Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016), as well as the recent coal decline in Canada

(Rosenbloom, 2018; Sovacool, 2016) and the UK (Brauers et al., 2020; Pollitt, 2012; Turnheim and Geels, 2012).

Attributing these changes to political acceleration by referring to the growing international climate regime since the 1990s and the climate policies adopted in these countries, these scholars argue that recent energy transitions are more politically governed and increasingly accelerated by climate policies (Hoppe et al., 2023; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Roberts et al., 2018; Sovacool and Geels, 2016). From their perspective, achieving rapid energy transitions to mitigate climate change is therefore possible, particularly if political interventions identified in these cases are replicated and reinforced globally (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Köhler et al., 2019; Roberts et al., 2018; Sovacool and Geels, 2016). Such global acceleration is expected to take place, given that almost all countries in the world have collectively committed to keeping the global temperature increase below 1.5°C by adopting the Paris Agreement in 2015 and the Glasgow Climate Pact in 2021 (Depledge et al., 2022; Kern and Rogge, 2016).

These contrasting views on rapid energy transitions, in particular the rates of political acceleration, are caused by their respective scopes of observation. One group examines highly aggregated transitions over long periods, encompassing various sectors and countries. Consequently, this approach dismisses more granular changes that may be occurring in a specific sector or country at a particular point in time. This is problematic because revolutionary technological transformations often originate from such initially insignificant niches that expand and diffuse exponentially (Sovacool and Geels, 2016).

In contrast, the other group focuses on recent technological and policy changes in a specific sector and country, often over a short period of time. These highly granular studies often lack comparative analysis (Grubler et al., 2016; Sorrell, 2018), raising questions about whether and to what extent the identified technological changes are faster than historical trends.

An even more critical issue in these highly granular studies is the ambiguity surrounding how significant such individual short-term technological changes are in terms of the more long-term systemic shifts required in the energy sector towards decarbonisation. For instance, the recent policy-driven growth of renewables in Germany has been accompanied by the concurrent decline of nuclear power and occasionally increased reliance on fossil fuels (Cherp et al., 2017), leading to intermittent rises in the country's GHG emissions over the past decade (Alkousaa and Wacket, 2023). Similarly, the recent decline of coal in Canada has been coupled with the increased use of natural gas, potentially perpetuating reliance on fossil fuels rather than accelerating the shift to low-carbon alternatives (Gürsan and Gooyert, 2021; Kemfert et al., 2022). Notably, Canada's GHG emissions increased by ca. 14% between 1990 and 2021 (ECCC, 2023). These examples underscore the need to analyse more long-term systemic transitions rather than individual short-term technological changes and assess whether and how recent transitions are systemically more accelerated compared to the past.

Against this backdrop, this dissertation aims to contribute to understanding the political acceleration in energy transitions and the challenges implied by this historical analysis for mitigating climate change. These aims are achieved by pursuing the following three research objectives:

- (1) Developing a methodology with an appropriate granularity to examine political acceleration in energy transitions.
- (2) Applying this approach to analyse historical political interventions in the energy sector and their outcomes in terms of the nature and speed of energy transitions.
- (3) Comparing this historical analysis with climate target requirements to elucidate the challenges in accelerating energy transitions to mitigate climate change.

3

Figure 1.1 shows the structure of the rest of this dissertation. In Chapter 2, I conduct a literature review by exploring the imperatives, theories, and empirical observations of political acceleration in energy transitions to mitigate climate change while identifying the gap in the literature. Chapter 3 describes the ontological and epistemological assumptions of this dissertation based on critical realism and develops the 'middle-range' methodology with conceptual frameworks and methods to address the gap in the literature identified.

1. Introduction

- Motivation
- Aims, objectives, research questions
- Dissertation structure overview

2. Literature review

- Historical vs required energy transitions
- Political acceleration theories and observations
- Literature gap

3. Research design

- Critical realism ontology and epistemology
- Conceptual frameworks
- Methods

EMPIRICAL CHAPTERS

4. Historical transions in DE and GB

- Electricity transitions in DE
- Electricity transitions in GB
- Comparing state interventions
 and their outcomes

5. Historical and required transitions in G7 and EU

- Historical vs required transitions
- Outcomes of climate policies
- Implications for 1.5°C

6. Evolution of transition policies in G7

- Ratcheting -up in policies
- Cross-period and cross -
- country comparison
- Planned vs actual transitions

7. Discussion

- State of the art and literature gap, revisited
- Contributions to the literature
- Limitations and future research

8. Summary and conclusion

- Dissertation summary and outlook
- Policy recommendations

Figure 1.1: Dissertation structure

There are three empirical chapters in this dissertation: In Chapter 4, I focus on analysing the historical electricity transitions in Germany and the UK. These countries are selected because they are often considered 'climate leaders' in the existing literature (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Tobin, 2017), thus offering a promising opportunity to analyse political interventions and their outcomes in accelerating energy transitions. In Chapter 5, I expand this scope of analysis to the G7 countries and the EU, particularly focusing on examining whether and how energy transitions under climate policies have taken place differently compared to past transitions in light of achieving climate target requirements for 1.5°C. In Chapter 6, I further investigate how the stringency of energy transition policies has evolved in the G7 countries over the last decades, comparing this evolution once again to climate target requirements for achieving 1.5°C.

The following research questions, developed to address the literature gap (see Section 2.4), respectively guide these empirical chapters:

- Chapter 4: How have the state interventions in the energy sector differed across countries, and how have the differences affected their transition outcomes?
- Chapter 5: Have climate policies altered energy transitions beyond historical trends, if so, how in light of climate target requirements?
- Chapter 6: How has the stringency of national energy transition policies changed over the last decades, and how does this evolution compare to historical and required transitions?

Following these three empirical chapters, in Chapter 7, I revisit the state of the art and the literature gap that I aim to address in my dissertation research and clarify how I methodologically, empirically, and theoretically contributed to the understanding of the political acceleration in energy transitions. Lastly, Chapter 8 provides the dissertation summary and conclusion.

2. Literature review

An extensive body of scholarly literature analyses energy transitions from diverse perspectives, such as energy historians exploring the evolution of energy systems, political scientists examining various political approaches at the given time, and transition scholars scrutinising granular changes in actors and technologies. In this literature review, my focus is to explore the imperatives, theories, and empirical observations of political acceleration in energy transitions to mitigate climate change.

The chapter is organised as follows: In Section 2.1, I comparatively review historical and required energy transitions to elucidate the imperatives of political acceleration to mitigate climate change. Section 2.2 delves into the literature theorising political acceleration in energy transitions, while in Section 2.3, I review empirical observations that present mixed evidence, accompanied by correspondingly different and often conflicting arguments. Section 2.4 scrutinises the gap in the literature to examine political acceleration in energy transitions. Finally, a summary of the chapter is provided in Section 2.5.

2.1 Climate mitigation requires a significant political acceleration in energy transitions

This section provides a comparative review of the literature concerning historical energy transitions and required transitions to mitigate climate change. There is a significant disparity between the two, underscoring the urgent need for significant political acceleration in energy transitions to bridge the gap.

2.1.1 Historical transitions – slow and technological additions

Energy transitions are commonly defined in the literature as long-term structural changes in energy systems, with two key features characterising their historical developments. First, as the definition indicates, energy transitions have taken place remarkably slowly in the past, typically requiring many decades, if not centuries (Grubler, 2012). This slowness stemmed from the fact that the development and diffusion of new energy technologies were inherently 'protracted processes' requiring many decades, if not centuries, to take place (Smil, 2008, 2010, 2016a). This observation, initially put forth by Marchetti and Nakicenovic in the 1970s (Marchetti and Nakicenovic, 1979) has since been consistently substantiated as a prevailing trend in the use of primary energy sources (Smil, 2010), and technologies across diverse energy sectors including electricity supply (Wilson, 2012; Wilson and Grubler, 2011), transportation (Grubler and Nakicenovic, 1991), heating and lighting (Fouquet, 2010), as well as end-use technologies such as cars and washing machines (Bento and Wilson, 2016).

Another key feature of historical energy transitions is that new energy technologies were typically added on top of older technologies instead of replacing them (Smil, 2016a). While existing technologies may have experienced a decrease in market share, they rarely declined in absolute terms (Figure 2.1) (Vinichenko et al., 2021; York and Bell, 2019). Thus, scholars argue that past energy transitions are more accurately described as 'energy additions' rather than energy transitions (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; York and Bell, 2019).



Figure 2.1: Global primary energy consumption by source Image source: York and Bell (2019).

The lack of technological substitution in historical energy transitions has resulted in a dramatic increase in global energy consumption since the Industrial Revolution (GEA, 2012). Putting it differently, historical energy transitions were primarily driven by the dramatic growth of energy demand, requiring the rapid expansion of new technologies (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012).



Figure 2.2: Global primary energy consumption since 1850 Image source: GEA (2012).

2.1.2 Required transitions – rapid and drastic technological substitution

In contrast to historical energy transitions, mitigating climate change requires pursuing significantly different pathways in the future. Such pathways are commonly developed by the use of mathematical models including integrated assessment models (IAMs) and other energy and climate models, which illustrate necessary technological developments to achieve particular socio-economic objectives, including temperature limits to mitigate climate change. According to the IEA, meeting the 1.5°C target requires rapidly replacing fossil fuels with low-carbon alternatives within the next few decades (Figure 2.3).







Figure 2.4: Role of electricity in energy supply in 2021 and in 2050 under the IEA net-zero pathway Image source: IEA (2023a)

To facilitate such rapid transitions, it is imperative to accelerate the decarbonisation of electricity while significantly expanding its supply. According to the IEA net-zero pathway, electricity is expected to supply most of the energy demand by 2050 (Figure 2.4). This is attributed to the substantial electrification required in the energy demand sectors including transport, building, and industry to reduce emissions. Consequently, decarbonising electricity stands as the foundational step in mitigating climate change (IEA, 2021b; Williams et al., 2012).

Figure 2.5 further shows the importance of prioritising the decarbonisation of electricity, showing a steep decline in emissions starting in the electricity sector, followed by gradual reductions in other sectors.



Figure 2.5: Sectoral emission pathways to achieve 1.5°C under the IEA net-zero pathway Image source: IEA (2023b).

In developed countries, electricity decarbonisation must be completed already by 2035, according to the IEA net-zero pathway, to achieve 1.5°C (IEA, 2021b). This rapidity of required transitions significantly deviates from the historical development of the energy sector, both in nature and speed: they require not only a much faster development of low-carbon technologies but also the rapid substitution of fossil fuels—a process rarely, if at all, observed in the past centuries (Vinichenko et al., 2021; York and Bell, 2019).

It is important to emphasise that while these 'normative' scenarios outline what needs to happen based on certain assumptions and values to achieve distinct objectives (Ellenbeck and Lilliestam, 2019), they do not show what can actually take place in the real world (Pielke et al., 2008; Smil, 2008; Süsser et al., 2022). This limitation arises because contemporary modelling exercises, rooted in mathematical algorithms, can typically account only for techno-economic variables such as costs and technology diffusion rates. Consequently, they have not been able to incorporate other factors that exist in the real world but are challenging to parameterise, such as political priorities, regime resistance, and public acceptance (Geels et al., 2016a; Jewell and Cherp, 2023; Süsser et al., 2022).

2.1.3 Political acceleration in energy transitions to bridge the gap

The significant disparity between historical and required transitions calls for a substantial political acceleration in energy transitions (Roberts et al., 2018). Recognising that energy transitions are primarily accelerated by national policies—a mechanism also institutionalised under the Paris Agreement (Falkner, 2016)—a rapidly expanding body of scholarly work has delved into the roles, mechanisms, and dynamics of political acceleration at the national level—a topic I further elaborate on in the following Section 2.2.

2.2 Theories on political acceleration in energy transitions

The scholarly exploration of how energy transitions are politically accelerated intensified in the 1970s, a pivotal era marked by the urgent need for substantial political intervention in the energy sector to address the threats to energy security posed by the oil crises. This scholarly interest has dramatically amplified in recent decades, driven by a consistent rationale: the imperative of state intervention to accelerate energy transitions to mitigate climate change.

2.2.1 States steer energy transitions to achieve national objectives

Political scientists have long recognised that national governments, often referred to as 'the states', have always played a significant role in 'steering' energy transitions (Helm, 2002; Hughes and Lipscy, 2013; Ikenberry, 2009; Jordan and Matt, 2014; Pierre and Peters, 2020). This persistent involvement stems from the understanding that "energy is too important to the economy and society" (Helm, 2002, p. 174). Put differently, various state objectives such as ensuring energy security, generating employment, maintaining technological leadership, and addressing urgent problems like climate change (Cherp et al., 2017; Goldthau, 2012; Ikenberry, 1986; Jacobsson and Lauber, 2006a), cannot be achieved solely by relying on market forces. Hence, even in highly liberalised and privatised energy markets, the state remains a crucial player in designing and adjusting market rules by implementing regulatory frameworks and influencing price mechanisms (Helm, 2002).

2.2.2 But state motivations and capacities are constrained

However, the motivation and capacity of national governments to steer energy transitions, despite being a vital force, are constrained by various mechanisms and factors (Cherp et al., 2018; Ikenberry, 1986; Jewell and Cherp, 2019; Meckling and Nahm, 2018; Skocpol, 1985). As noted in subsection 2.2.1, national governments pursue a range of state objectives (Jordan and Matt, 2014; Pierre and Peters, 2020), and climate mitigation may not always be the state's priority. In developing countries, for instance, priorities often revolve around eliminating energy poverty and promoting economic development rather than climate mitigation (Spilker, 2013). Prioritising these objectives may lead to an increased consumption of fossil fuels (Jakob and Steckel, 2014; Semieniuk et al., 2021). Even in developed countries, addressing concerns related to energy security may necessitate reinvesting in fossil fuels. This is evidenced by advanced economies consistently subsidising fossil fuel exploration, extraction, transportation,

and consumption, reaching a peak of 1.4 trillion USD in G20 countries in 2022 following the Russo-Ukrainian War (Laan et al., 2023).

At the same time, even when national governments are motivated to mitigate climate change, they may lack the necessary capacity to achieve this objective. State capacity, as defined in the existing literature, refers to the ability of the state to attain desired outcomes through policies (Feng and Jiang, 2021; Singh, 2023). Developed countries are generally considered to possess greater technological, institutional, and economic capacity compared to developing countries. This disparity is a fundamental reason why various resource transfers from developed to developing countries are facilitated under the Paris Agreement (Falkner, 2016; Sforna, 2019).

However, even when sufficient resources are available, the implementation of 'ideal' policies may be hindered by various political constraints. The existing literature engages in several critical debates on this topic, exploring the impact of specific state features influencing the political capacity of the state in energy transitions. There is no consensus yet in the literature regarding which feature dominates, enables, or hinders state intervention in the energy sector. These debates primarily revolve around three key aspects: (1) centralisation vs decentralisation of state power; (2) democracy vs autocracy; and (3) state-industry relationships.

First, the literature engages in a debate about whether centralisation or decentralisation of state power is more effective in accelerating energy transitions, a discussion that dates back to the 1970s when abrupt state interventions were called for to address energy security challenges following the oil crises (Ikenberry, 1986; Katzenstein, 1976). The inquiry was motivated by a perplexing question back then: Why did the United States, as the world superpower, struggle to address energy challenges compared to other countries like France, which swiftly responded to the oil crises in the 1970s? Historical and recent studies offer conflicting perspectives. On the one hand, some argue that the centralisation of state power enabled rapid and robust responses to the crisis, exemplified by the swift development of nuclear power in France and Sweden (Grubler, 2010; Kaijser, 1992; Katzenstein, 1976). On the other hand, more recent studies contend that decentralisation, often in the form of federalism, may facilitate faster development of new energy technologies (Cherp et al., 2021; Drezner, 2001; Schaffer and Bernauer, 2014). However, federalism is also argued to create more entry points for veto-players, such as fossil fuel industries, potentially delaying climate mitigation efforts, including the development of renewable technologies, both at regional and national levels, as they seek to protect their vested interests (Karapin, 2020; Moe, 2011; Unruh, 2000).

Another debate revolves around whether democracy or autocracy leads to faster energy transitions. China, an autocratic state, has been acknowledged for its remarkable efforts in mitigating environmental problems, leading some scholars to argue that autocratic states perform better in addressing climate change (Beeson, 2010; Drahos, 2021; Shearman and Smith, 2007). Conversely, proponents of democracy assert that democratic states are better positioned to enhance national climate commitments due to the increasing climate awareness among citizens (Colvin and Jotzo, 2021; Povitkina, 2018). Moreover, studies find that democratic states tend to exhibit better international cooperation with other nations in mitigating climate change (Bättig and Bernauer, 2009; Povitkina, 2018). Contrastingly, scholars also argue that policymakers in democratic countries, akin to federalist states, tend to prioritise the short-term gains of their electorates rather than long-term benefits for the whole country (Congleton, 1992; Povitkina, 2018). This means that voters' preferences, which may not consistently align with climate mitigation goals (Spilker, 2013), particularly in areas bearing the costs of climate policies (Stokes, 2016, 2013), significantly influence national policies in democratic states, potentially blocking or weakening their effectiveness.

The third debate delves into how different state-industry relationships shape national policies. A foundational theory upon which numerous historical and contemporary studies have been built is the varieties of capitalism framework proposed by Hall and Soskice (2001). This framework categorises modern states into distinct types, including 'coordinated market economies (CMEs)', 'liberal market economies (LMEs)', and 'state-influenced market economies (SMEs)' (Hall and Soskice, 2001; Schmidt, 2009). Ikenberry (1986) characterises the roles of these states in energy transitions as follows:

- In SMEs (e.g., France), the state assumes the role of 'producer', as it publicly owns much of the energy sector and exercises direct control over it.
- In CMEs (e.g., Germany and Japan), the state acts as the 'negotiator', closely collaborating with nationally representative industries and often formulating transition policies as part of industrial strategies.
- In LMEs (e.g., the UK and US), the state operates as the 'facilitator', adopting a more 'hands-off' approach and employing price mechanisms to influence the functioning of the energy market.

Similar to the previous debates on centralisation vs decentralisation, and democracy vs autocracy, there is no consensus in the literature regarding which type of capitalism accelerates energy transitions more effectively. For instance, Rentier et al. (2019) argue that LMEs tend to phase out coal generation faster due to their looser connections with fossil fuel industries. Conversely, it is contended that CMEs develop renewable technologies more rapidly because of greater coordination between the state and relevant industries (Ćetković and Buzogány, 2016). Although France (an SME) significantly accelerated energy transitions through the rapid development of nuclear power after the 1970s oil crisis, Grubler (2010) argues that such level

of acceleration may not be possible in today's more liberalised and democratised energy markets.

These ongoing debates suggest that even if states are motivated to mitigate climate change, their actions are likely constrained, albeit to varying degrees. In other words, implementing 'ideal' policies to mitigate climate change may not always be possible. Moreover, state motivations and the structures enabling or hindering state actions can change over time. This changing landscape has led to increasing scholarly attention to understanding how national policies can evolve over time.

2.2.3 Policies can be strengthened or weakened over time

The mechanisms and factors discussed in the previous subsection 2.2.2 may evolve over time due to exogenous shocks, such as energy crises, leading to the reordering of state objectives and changes in voters' preferences, thereby influencing policy adjustments. Additionally, endogenous changes, including those initiated by policies, can also open or close windows of opportunity for subsequent policies. In essence, therefore, national policies can be reinforced or weakened over time.

Policy sequence, increasing socio-economic support, and ratcheting-up

Such dynamics of national policies are extensively studied in the literature on policy sequence, increasing returns, and ratcheting up (Falkner, 2016; Meckling et al., 2017; Pahle et al., 2018; Pierson, 2000).

To steer energy transitions, states are found to often begin with relatively easy policies, such as research and development (R&D) subsidies, and gradually implement more challenging but stronger measures such as carbon pricing to mitigate climate change (Meckling et al., 2017; Pahle et al., 2018). This sequence in policy developments helps increase support from positively affected stakeholders (e.g. low-carbon technology industries) while reducing the transition costs for negatively affected ones (e.g. fossil fuel industries as well as other industries and households facing higher energy bills) by making alternative technologies affordable over time (Meckling et al., 2017; Pahle et al., 2018).

For instance, Germany's state-led Energiewende started off by providing subsidies to develop renewable technology industries, which, in turn, supported the government in strengthening renewable policies over time while phasing out nuclear power and coal (Cherp et al., 2017). Similarly, to replace the coal industry with gas and later renewables, the UK also followed a similar sequence: first reducing policy support to coal, subjecting it to market competition through the liberalisation of the electricity market, and then ultimately imposing taxes on it (Geels et al., 2016b; Turnheim and Geels, 2012).

This sequential progression of policies—closely related to concepts such as 'path-dependence' (Mahoney, 2000) in general, and 'increasing returns' (Pierson, 2000), 'positive policy feedback', and 'ratcheting up' (Falkner, 2016) in particular—is the most important mechanism under the Paris Agreement where countries are expected to adopt progressively stronger climate policies to collectively achieve global climate targets (Falkner, 2016; Nascimento et al., 2023).

Lock-ins, negative feedback, increasing socio-economic resistance, and ratcheting-down

However, policies may also create unfavourable path-dependence and lock-ins. Pierson (2000) argues that once policies establish a specific development pathway, it is very difficult to reverse it.

Historically, there are many examples of this irreversibility in technological developments, as seen in the case of QWERTY keyboards dominating the typewriter market over many decades

(David, 1985), fossil fuels predominantly supplying energy over the last centuries (Unruh, 2000), or the continued reliance on nuclear power even after a major nuclear accident (Suzuki, 2014). In more recent transitions, the lock-in effects of policies in developing renewables have also been observed. It is argued, for example, that cost-effective policies often lock in mature renewable technologies at the time of policy adoption, consequently locking out immature but potentially more desirable technologies in the long term (Eitan and Hekkert, 2023; Haelg et al., 2018; Santana, 2016).

Moreover, while ambitious policies are necessary to mitigate climate change, these policies often come with high costs and face strong socio-economic and political resistance, which may lead to the ratchet 'down' of policies over time (Breetz, 2020; Jacobs and Weaver, 2015; Patterson, 2023; Sewerin et al., 2023). This societal resistance against policies is commonly referred to as 'backlash' in the literature such as by Patterson (2023) who further defines it as a process of counter-action which "contests the very legitimacy of policy action, involving particularly strong and volatile grievances" (2023, p. 69). Unlike mere disagreement with policies, backlash thus involves stronger actions aimed at delegitimising a policy or a national government more broadly (Patterson, 2023).

The presence of these accelerating and decelerating mechanisms in state-led energy transitions as well as the sudden and potentially significant influences of exogenous shocks suggests that accelerating energy transitions is most likely a non-linear process.

2.3 Mixed observations and arguments on political acceleration

On the one hand, theories suggest that political acceleration in energy transitions exhibits a non-linear nature, involving periods of both acceleration and deceleration, accompanied by shifts in direction. On the other hand, the literature recognises the stably growing trend of political interests in mitigating climate change across the world, exemplified by the emergence
and progressively established international climate regime and increasing introduction of climate policies since 1990. Whether such a trend of more climate policies has resulted in an accelerated energy transition towards decarbonisation, however, remains highly uncertain with mixed observations and correspondingly different and often conflicting arguments.

2.3.1 Growing international climate regime and climate policies

Since 1990, the international climate regime has undergone a noteworthy evolution, marked by several key milestones that underscore a growing political interest in mitigating climate change, followed by the increased adoption of climate policies over time.

First, the establishment of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in 1992 signified the global acknowledgement of the urgency to mitigate climate change, and operationalised subsequent developments (Kuyper et al., 2018). In 1997, the Kyoto Protocol was adopted as the first international agreement addressing climate change, implementing binding emission reduction targets for developed countries (UNFCCC, 1998). The scope of these efforts was substantially expanded by the Paris Agreement in 2015, involving both developed and developing countries in a collective effort to keep the global temperature increase below 1.5-2°C (UNFCCC, 2015). This agreement adopts a bottom-up approach, enabling each country to voluntarily shape its climate action plan while progressively accelerating efforts to mitigate climate change (Falkner, 2016; Nascimento and Höhne, 2023). Furthermore, the Glasgow Climate Pact in 2021 reinforced the temperature target by countries collectively committing to aim for 1.5°C (Depledge et al., 2022).

Accordingly, a growing number of climate policies have been introduced in recent decades, with more than 1600 policies in the G20 targeting the energy sector in 2019 (Iacobuta et al., 2018; Nascimento et al., 2022b). Studies claim that these policies contributed to cost reductions and the diffusion of low-carbon technologies, as well as accelerating the decline of fossil fuels

(IRENA, 2022; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Loftus et al., 2015). As a cumulative impact, Hoppe et al. (2023) estimate, based on the meta-analysis of existing studies, that climate policies introduced by 2020 reduced global emissions by several billion tons of CO^2 compared to the counterfactual world without these policies.

2.3.2 Seemingly no political acceleration at the global level

Despite the growing international climate regime and the increasing adoption of climate policies, there seems to be no discernible change in the global development of the energy sector. New technologies have consistently been added on top of existing ones rather than replacing them (Figure 2.2). This pattern has resulted in a stable and dramatic growth in global energy consumption, a trend observed over the last centuries including the recent decades (Pielke et al., 2008; Ritchie et al., 2023; Smil, 2016b) (also see subsection 2.1.1). As a result, carbon dioxide (CO₂), a primary anthropogenic GHG, has not only increased but has done so at an unprecedentedly rapid speed since 1990 (Figure 2.6). This has led to more emissions being released in the last three decades than the cumulative emissions before that (Stoddard et al., 2021).



Figure 2.6: Global carbon dioxide emissions

Source: adapted from Figure 1 in Stoddard et al. (2021).

Given these stable growth trends in energy consumption and GHG emissions in the last centuries, scholars focusing on analysing global transitions argue that energy transitions have consistently been primarily driven by market forces (i.e., demand growth) and technologies (i.e., the availability of new, superior technologies to meet demand), with the impact of political acceleration deemed minimal (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; Smil, 2016a; Wilson and Grubler, 2011). This analytical perspective leads some scholars, such as Smil (2024, 2010), to contend that "none of today's promises for a greatly accelerated energy transition from fossil fuels to renewable energies will be realized" (2010, p. 28). This view has recently been reiterated as "[t]he goal may be desirable, but it remains unrealistic" (Smil, 2024, p. 20).

2.3.3 Increasingly identified cases of political acceleration at the national level

Contrary to the analysis and argument presented on a global scale in the previous subsection 2.3.2, scholars dedicated to analysing sustainable transitions¹ and the role of (often climate) policies have identified a growing number of national transition cases characterised as 'accelerated', emphasising the importance of political acceleration in them (see my discussion on the issues related to the ambiguity surrounding terms such as 'accelerated', 'successful' or 'rapid' without comparative analysis in subsection 2.4.1).

The majority of these studies have focused on examining rapid technological changes in Europe or other developed countries in recent decades. Notably, Germany and the UK have received particularly extensive attention to analysing their recent growth of renewables and their decline of fossil fuels (Bang et al., 2022; Chapman and Itaoka, 2018; Geels et al., 2016b; Jänicke, 2012; Kern et al., 2015; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Lechtenböhmer and Luhmann, 2013; Pollitt, 2012; Rogge and Johnstone, 2017; Sovacool, 2016; Turnheim and Geels, 2012). This focus can be attributed to the perception of these countries as 'climate leaders' or 'front runner countries' (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Tobin, 2017), making them natural subjects for in-depth analysis and serving as successful models for broader replication. Other country cases include the recent growth of renewables in Spain (Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016), Denmark (Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016), the historical growth of nuclear power in France (Sovacool, 2016), as well as the decline of coal in the Netherlands (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Normann, 2019; Sovacool, 2016) and Ontario in Canada (Rosenbloom, 2018; Sovacool, 2016).

Drawing upon these 'successful' examples, scholars argue that politically accelerating energy transitions is not only possible (Roberts et al., 2018), but also an increasingly observed trend

¹ hereafter referred to as "transition scholars".

in recent decades (Kern and Rogge, 2016). In their view, the global impact of this recent trend has remained limited because the international climate regime initially encompassed only developed countries under the Kyoto Protocol in 1997. Given that the Paris Agreement in 2015 covers all countries, however, transition scholars argue that the acceleration effects have now spurred globally (Iacobuta et al., 2018; Kern and Rogge, 2016). Referring to the 'accelerated' and 'successful cases' in the literature, as well as other observations including corporate and civic efforts in developing low-carbon technologies worldwide, Kern and Rogge (2016) assert that "this level of activity... has generated significant momentum behind the low carbon transition, likely to expedite the process, and unparalleled in comparison to historical transitions' (2016, p. 14).

2.3.4 But policies can also decelerate at the national level

In contrast to the growing recognition of political acceleration in energy transitions, there is also an increasing case of political deceleration reported in the literature. This counters the notion of continuous acceleration in the pace of energy transitions, potentially including shifts away from decarbonisation.

This is even true in countries mentioned in the previous subsection (2.3.3), where nationally accelerated technological changes were observed. For example, despite being commonly considered as 'climate leaders', both the governments of Germany and the UK recently increased their public investments in fossil fuel projects due to energy security concerns (Brauers et al., 2020; Höhne et al., 2022; The Government of the United Kingdom, 2022). Scholars argue that this shift away from climate mitigation efforts jeopardises their climate targets, making their national as well as global temperature goals unachievable (Abram et al., 2023; Höhne et al., 2022).

Moreover, Sewerin et al. (2023) empirically find statistically significant evidence that stronger climate policies are more likely to be weakened over time. There are also many qualitative case studies supporting such evidence. For example, Spain achieved the rapid deployment of renewables in the early 2000s with generous financial support through Feed-in Tariffs (FITs), a transition case often considered 'accelerated' in the literature (Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016). However, electric utilities, who bore much of the transition costs, increasingly lobbied against the national government to dismantle the policy (Gürtler et al., 2019). This led to a change in the governing political party in 2011, with the new government suspending financial incentives for all renewable sources, resulting in the stagnation of renewables in the country throughout the 2010s. Similar cases of such backlash against renewable policies and subsequently weakened policies exist in many other countries with accelerated transition cases reviewed in subsection 2.3.3 such as in Ontario (Canada) (Stokes, 2013), the Czech Republic (Gürtler et al., 2019), Germany (Hoppmann et al., 2014), the US (Breetz, 2020; Stokes, 2020, 2016), the UK (Lockwood, 2015), as well as the EU as a whole (Skogstad, 2017).

Furthermore, even if strong policies are sustained or even strengthened over time, it does not necessarily guarantee the desired outcome. For example, despite the strong and continuous support from national governments, recent nuclear construction projects and plans have often experienced significant delays with escalating project costs across the world (Haywood et al., 2023). Additionally, increasing opposition has taken place in the form of lawsuits in recent years to delay and cancel not only nuclear power projects (Kikuchi, 2021) but also renewable energy projects, including those in Japan (Kohsaka and Kohyama, 2022), Germany (Dehler-Holland et al., 2022), the UK (Jones and Eiser, 2010), and the US (Susskind et al., 2022). Perhaps most notably, a recent study found that the majority of wind projects had been vetoed by municipalities in Sweden between 2020 and 2022 (Westander and Risberg, 2022).

These observations on policy deceleration, taking place even in the countries where low-carbon transitions are considered 'accelerated', raise questions about whether, and if so to which extent, recent energy transitions have been accelerated beyond historical trends in the energy sector.

2.4 Literature gap in analysing political acceleration

Both theoretical and empirical studies in the literature suggest that energy transitions are nonlinear processes characterised by periods of acceleration and deceleration, including potential changes in direction over time. To what extent are these transitions politically accelerated? Are more recent transitions under climate policies different and faster than historical transitions, as required to achieve climate targets? The existing literature does not answer these questions because the current analyses are either too broad or too narrow to allow for a comparative analysis of political acceleration across countries and time-periods.

2.4.1 Analyses being too broad or too narrow

There is a sharp divide in the methodologies for analysing energy transitions in the literature. On the one hand, scholars investigating generalisable patterns in historical energy transitions adopt very broad scopes of analysis, including: (1) temporal spans ranging from decades to even centuries; (2) a global focus on aggregated transitions; and (3) economy-wide or multi-sectoral analyses. While such low-granular analysis may be well-suited to examine the overall trends in global energy consumption and GHG emissions, it inevitably overlooks potential changes occurring at a more granular scale in terms of time, geography, and sectors. This is problematic because revolutionary technological transformations often originate from such initially insignificant niches that expand and diffuse exponentially (Sovacool and Geels, 2016). Since political acceleration in energy transitions has been primarily driven by national policies (Falkner, 2016; Helm, 2002; Ikenberry, 1986), a more appropriate scale of analysis to discern the rates of political acceleration should be national or sub-national.

On the other hand, scholars seeking to pinpoint 'successful' cases of accelerated transitions or evaluate the impacts of climate policies have adopted a much narrower scope of analysis: (1) a limited temporal scope, focusing on several years to a few decades, mainly post-1990; (2) specific attention to individual countries, including those with small economies; (3) examination of changes in individual technologies rather than a sectoral perspective. While focusing on national transitions is more suitable for analysing political acceleration, there are multiple issues in these studies to properly discern them due to their highly granular analysis.

Focusing on short-term, potentially insignificant changes

First, these transition studies and climate policy research focus on specific points in time when rapid changes took place and examine how national policies contributed to these processes. While these studies provide valuable insights into the mechanisms of political acceleration for short periods, they do not clarify whether these cases represent meaningful transitions compared to the long-term structural changes required to mitigate climate change. This is particularly true for studies focusing on small economies such as Denmark or Ontario in Canada, as the changes there may not be directly relevant to the magnitude of acceleration necessary in much larger economies worldwide.

Given that policies change over time (as discussed in subsection 2.2.3), it is more important to understand the sequence of these policy changes, the speed of transitions, and the duration required to achieve specific technological changes. For example, instead of solely focusing on how national policies accelerated the growth of renewables in Spain in the early 2000s (Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016), it is crucial to understand the extent of renewable growth and how long this growth was sustained. Similarly, rather than concentrating only on the decline of coal power in the UK during the 1990s (Pollitt, 2012), it is essential to examine how long it

took for the UK to phase out coal power completely and how the sequence of policies influenced the decline speed.²

Focusing on individual technological changes rather than systemic shifts

Secondly, prevalent studies in existing literature often focus on individual technological changes, such as the growth of solar or wind power or the decline of coal, rather than analysing systemic transitions in the energy sector towards decarbonisation. This approach can be highly problematic because the expansion of low-carbon technologies does not necessarily lead to a corresponding decline in fossil fuels and vice versa.

Consider Germany, one of the most extensively studied countries for its state-led 'Energiewende' towards a renewable-based economy. While Germany achieved record growth of renewables in 2022, the concurrent decline of nuclear power and resurgence of fossil fuels led to an increase in the country's greenhouse gas emissions in the same year (Alkousaa and Wacket, 2023). In other words, the expansion of renewable technologies does not necessarily accelerate energy transitions towards decarbonisation. Therefore, implying expedited low-carbon transitions solely based on the growth of renewables can be misleading.

Furthermore, the decline of coal in the UK, the Netherlands, and Canada—framed as rapid transition cases by multiple scholars (Brauers et al., 2020; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Normann, 2019; Pollitt, 2012; Rentier et al., 2019; Sovacool, 2016; Turnheim and Geels, 2012)—was accompanied by the increased use of natural gas, potentially perpetuating reliance on fossil fuels rather than accelerating the shift to low-carbon alternatives (Gürsan and Gooyert, 2021; Kemfert et al., 2022). Notably, Canada's GHG emissions increased by ca. 14% between 1990

 $^{^{2}}$ While Turnheim and Geels (2012) document such long-term decline of coal use in the UK since the 1960s, they do not compare this speed with that of other countries. Therefore, the significance of this case remains unclear.

and 2021 (ECCC, 2023). The same logic applies here: the decline of coal does not necessarily indicate that countries are accelerating low-carbon energy transitions.

Accelerated compared to what?

Thirdly, existing studies often lack clear definitions for terms like 'successful', 'rapid', or 'accelerated' transitions. For instance, the growth of renewables in Germany is frequently described using these terms (Chapman and Itaoka, 2018; Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Pahle et al., 2018; Rogge and Johnstone, 2017), often with implicit or explicit arguments that other countries should emulate Germany's model. However, this speed is rarely contextualised against historical rates of technological growth in Germany or other comparable countries. This lack of comparative analysis—a significant issue in the literature(Grubler et al., 2016; Sorrell, 2018)—leaves it unclear whether these cases genuinely represent accelerated transitions.

Furthermore, while the existing literature concludes that climate policies have positive impacts in accelerating energy transitions towards decarbonisation including by expediting the growth of renewable technologies (Hoppe et al., 2023; Nascimento and Höhne, 2023), this finding is hardly surprising, given that policies are inherently designed to enact impacts. The essential question here is not merely whether climate policies have impacts but rather whether these impacts are significant enough to alter the nature and speed of energy transitions compared to the historical development of the energy sector.

Perhaps more importantly, uncertainty persists regarding whether the growth of renewables in 'frontrunner countries' or 'climate leaders' such as Germany and the UK (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Tobin, 2017)—even if accelerated by climate policies—is occurring at a pace sufficient to achieve climate targets. Advocating for the replication of such cases without validating the extent of acceleration could potentially hinder, rather than expedite, global decarbonisation processes.

2.4.2 Addressing the gap needs a more appropriate range of analysis

Addressing the gap in the literature caused by existing analyses being either too broad or too narrow (see subsection 2.4.1) necessitates a methodology to conduct a more appropriate range of analyses and examine the rates of political acceleration in energy transitions. Such an approach should analyse long-term systemic transitions in a specific sector at the national level and compare them across countries and time-periods. With this in mind, my dissertation explores the following research questions:

- How have the state interventions in the energy sector differed across countries, and how have the differences affected their transition outcomes?
- Have climate policies altered energy transitions beyond historical trends, if so, how in light of climate target requirements?
- How has the stringency of national energy transition policies changed over the last decades, and how does this evolution align with achieving climate targets?

2.5 Summary

This chapter began by highlighting the significant disparity between historical and required energy transitions to mitigate climate change, involving differences in both the nature and speed of energy transitions. While steering these transitions through policies towards decarbonisation is crucial to bridging this gap, existing literature debates their empirical role and ability.

This debate arises from the distinct and highly contrasting methodologies in the literature. On the one hand, there is an inclination to study energy transitions in an overly broad manner, focusing on global trends and potentially dismissing more granular changes. On the other hand, there is an inclination to adopt excessively narrow approaches, looking at specific and shortterm technological and policy changes in specific countries without assessing their significance in comparison to other countries, historical transitions or climate target requirements.

To develop a greater understanding of political acceleration in energy transitions towards decarbonisation, this dissertation aims to develop a methodology to conduct a more appropriate range of analyses to answer the following research questions: (1) How have state interventions in the energy sector differed across countries, and how have the differences affected their transition outcomes?; (2) Have climate policies altered energy transitions beyond historical trends, if so, how in light of climate target requirements?; and (3) How has the stringency of national energy transition policies changed over the last decades, and how does this evolution compare to historical and required transitions?

The following chapter outlines the research design of this dissertation, encompassing the ontological and epistemological assumptions and the 'middle-range' methodology with conceptual frameworks and methods employed to answer the research questions.

3. Research design

Addressing the literature gap requires a methodology with a more appropriate granularity to examine political acceleration in energy transitions. This chapter develops such 'middle-range' methodology by employing the ontological and epistemological assumptions of critical realism in Section 3.1, building a set of conceptual frameworks to undertake the three empirical chapter analyses of this dissertation in Section 3.2, and describing the common and distinct methods used in these chapters in Section 3.3.

3.1 Ontological and epistemological assumptions

This dissertation is built on ontological and epistemological assumptions based on critical realism. This section describes critical realism and how I apply its ontological and epistemological assumptions to analyse the political acceleration of energy transitions.

3.1.1 Critical realism and mechanistic analysis

Critical realism is a philosophy of science originally developed by Roy Bhaskar in the 1970s (1978, 1975). As an alternative approach to other mainstream philosophies such as positivism and constructivism, critical realism distinguishes itself by the foundational assumption that ontology (i.e., the nature of reality) cannot be reduced to epistemology (i.e., our knowledge of reality) (Danermark et al., 2019; Fletcher, 2017). It argues that reality exists independent of our perception, observation, or knowledge of it.

According to critical realism, there are three domains of reality: the real, the actual, and the empirical. What we can observe is only the surface phenomena to which our perceptive scope is confined (i.e. empirical domain). Beyond our perceptions, there exist more phenomena which we do not observe but nonetheless actually exist (i.e. actual domain) (Bhaskar, 1975). These phenomena, commonly referred to as 'events', whether observed or not, are caused by

the underlying structures and causal mechanisms which we cannot directly observe (Bhaskar, 1975).

The primary objective of critical realism is, similar to conducting experiments in natural science to uncover regularities, to identify these structures and mechanisms and examine how they contribute to the observations we perceive (Danermark et al., 2019; Sayer, 1992). This process deepens our understanding of reality through our perception and knowledge. It also underscores that what we comprehend as reality or scientific findings is not 'theory determined' but invariably 'fallible' and 'theory-laden' (Sayer, 1992). Consequently, social science progresses through scientific debates, where diverse 'facts' can be generated based on distinct theories and research designs (Hancké, 2009).

It is crucial to emphasise that, in contrast to positivism, critical realism distinctly acknowledges the significance of human agency in causing social phenomena (Elder-Vass, 2010). This is because it is the human actions, driven by ideas, beliefs, and interests, that 'consciously' and 'intentionally' maintain or change structures (e.g. institutions) and enable or hinder mechanisms (e.g. providing or abolishing subsidies) to produce a particular social phenomenon (e.g. emergence of new technologies) (Leca and Naccache, 2006). In other words, "social phenomena…cannot exist without human activity" (Danermark et al., 2019, p. 27).

However, this human action faces material and non-material limits and obstacles. For example, it is not possible for anyone to 'live freely' because our social life is constrained by the availability of financial resources, public regulations, social norms, and duties. Moreover, even when mechanisms are enabled (e.g. providing subsidies), they may not always yield the same effects, as these effects can be influenced by other confounding and evolving structures and mechanisms (e.g. material obstacles and actions constraining the effectiveness of subsidies). Knowledge of the social world is, therefore, always context-dependent (Leca and Naccache,

2006) compared to that of the natural world. In the view of critical realism, 'tendencies' that are context-dependent exist in the social world rather than 'regularities' in the natural world (Danermark et al., 2019, pp. 47–50).

3.1.2 Application of critical realism to analyse energy transitions

These ontological and epistemological assumptions of critical realism can help advance our understanding of political acceleration in energy transitions in three ways. First, it clarifies why the academic debate on the topic exists, as I reviewed in Chapter 2. For example, studies which argue that historical energy transitions have been very slow are those that look at the slowness in global changes (i.e. observed events of interest) and explain the underlying structures and causal mechanisms behind such as the speed of technology diffusions (Grubler, 2012; Grubler et al., 2016) and vested interests in fossil fuels (Stoddard et al., 2021). On the other hand, studies that identify accelerated transition cases focus on much more granular observations where rapid changes took place, such as the coal decline in the UK in the 1990s or the renewable growth in Spain in the 2000s. These studies then look for driving mechanisms such as increasing political will driving transitions (Kern and Rogge, 2016) or decisive policies like the liberalisation and privatisation of the electricity market in the UK in the 1980s (Pollitt, 2012). Resolving the debates, therefore, requires a more suitable scope of analysis such as national energy transitions, rather than global changes or individual technological changes, that can be compared to one another.

Secondly, it helps to systematically structure my empirical analyses. Cherp et al. (2018) argue that energy transitions should be analysed through the co-evolution of three systems: technoeconomic, socio-technical, and political. This approach typically divides energy transitions into a distinct set of episodes (Cherp et al., 2018), which can then examine how respective episodes emerged as effects of certain combinations of these perspectives and corresponding structures and mechanisms. Using this mechanistic analysis, Cherp et al. (2017a) reveal the sequential developments of the electricity sector in Germany and Japan since the 1960s, where various mechanisms and their combinations resulted in diverged outcomes where Germany became a global leader in solar and wind power while Japan did not. This argument is more convincing than other studies based on a single theory/mechanism, such as the environmental tradition of Germany (Geels et al., 2016b) or the vested interests of Japan for nuclear power (Valentine and Sovacool, 2010) because these two mechanisms also existed for the other country (Cherp et al., 2017). Similarly, the political acceleration of energy transitions can be examined as the sequence of policies and its effects on the direction and the pace of energy transitions over time.

Thirdly, the assumption that there exist changing but also somewhat autonomous and stable structures constraining human actions to activate mechanisms in order to influence social phenomena resonates remarkably well with the various enabling and constraining factors in nationally accelerating energy transitions reviewed in Chapter 2. This relative stability and mutual as well as complex dependencies among structures, actions, and mechanisms may imply that there is a certain limit to the degree of politically accelerating energy transitions. For example, analysing the political-economic structures of national governments to explain their diverse responses to the oil crises in the 1970s, Ikenberry (1986) convincingly writes that:

But responses to the energy crisis depended upon existing institutions even as they sought to effect changes. Officials confronted bewildering new international circumstances with established institutional resources and policy tools. **All was not created anew**. Rather, enduring institutional structures and established policy repertoires, despite efforts to move beyond them, became the central mechanisms for state policy (1986, pp. 105–106, bold added to the original).

While transition scholars argue that 'politics may trump economics' in low-carbon transitions (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Sovacool and Geels, 2016), the critical realist approach enables me to evaluate this hypothesis by analysing whether political mechanisms have over-ruled the

34

direction and speed of energy transitions over other non-political mechanisms to mitigate climate change.

3.2 Conceptual frameworks

Employing the ontological and epistemological assumptions of critical realism, this section describes the conceptual frameworks of this dissertation to examine political acceleration in energy transitions.

3.2.1 Middle-range methodology to analyse national energy transitions

In the mid-20th century, Robert K. Merton advocated for the development of 'middle-range' theories within the field of sociology (Merton, 1968). His motivation mirrored the objective I pursue in my dissertation: reconciling the dichotomy between studies aiming to construct 'grand theories' to explain society as a whole and those focused on overly context-specific empirical observations which cannot be generalised at all (Coser, 2017; Merton, 1968).

Inspired by this terminology, my dissertation develops and applies a 'middle-range' methodology to analyse energy transitions at a more focused scope than the existing global and economy-wide analyses, but broader than the alternative approach looking solely at individual technological changes over short-term reviewed in Chapter 2 (see Table 3.4 at the end of this chapter for the summarised comparison of my middle-range methodology with the other major approaches in the literature). By doing so, my dissertation focuses on national energy transitions, examining all technological changes involved in their energy systems but within the same sector.³

³ While this approach can be applied to various energy sectors, this dissertation specifically focuses on analysing the electricity sector. See subsection 3.3.1 for the reasons behind this choice.

Drawing on ontological and epistemological assumptions grounded in critical realism, I conceptualise national energy transitions as the cumulative outcome of changes in energy systems caused by co-evolving structures and mechanisms. My literature review in Chapter 2 identifies three major structures that encompass distinct mechanisms affecting national energy systems: changes in policies, technological and market trends, and other contextual factors related to energy, climate, and other social challenges. Interactions between these structures can be categorised into material impacts or other knowledge and power flows, as depicted in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Overarching conceptual framework of this dissertation and the focused analyses of three empirical chapters

It is important to note that energy systems themselves constitute a semi-autonomous structure with multiple technology clusters with agency, each involving distinct technologies and their infrastructure, industries, and various supporting groups. These clusters may interact with one another, thereby causing changes within the system without external influence. Additionally, energy systems are not merely passive recipients of influences from other structures; they also actively shape them through lobbying for or against policies as feedback and contribute to technological and market trends.

Policies, on the other hand, are informed by evolving energy, climate, or other social challenges, as well as technological and market trends. In such an environment, policymakers may develop various policies, strengthening or weakening them over time depending on the state's motivation and capacity for energy transitions. These policies materially affect energy systems by altering cluster arrangements through manipulating market forces with subsidies or taxes, or more forcefully dictating developments with regulations and bans, including phase-out policies. This policy push, as I discussed above, may create a positive feedback loop with affected technological clusters, supporting the reinforcement of the policy (e.g., subsidy to renewable industries, supporting policymakers to strengthen it), or may trigger a negative feedback loop weakening it (e.g., utilities bearing the costs of the renewable subsidy, lobbying against the policy).

With this conceptualisation of national energy transitions in mind, the focus of my dissertation research is to examine how actual energy transitions have been influenced by policies and analyse this historical implication for achieving climate target requirements.

To achieve this aim, I adopt a step-by-step approach, conducting three empirical analyses while progressively broadening the scope. In Chapter 4, as the first empirical analysis, I focus on examining historical energy transitions by tracing material impacts, knowledge, and power flows over time to test this analytical approach. Reflecting on the results, in Chapter 5, I compare historical transitions and the required ones to mitigate climate change. The purpose of this chapter is to elucidate whether and how much acceleration is necessary to achieve climate targets compared to the historical rates of acceleration. Finally, in Chapter 6, I further incorporate planned transitions based on existing policies to examine how these plans compare

to actual and required ones. The objective of this chapter is to analyse the extent of ratcheting up in policies over time in comparison to historical and required transitions.

3.2.2 Tracing systemic changes towards decarbonisation

To facilitate the comparative analyses of this dissertation among actual, planned, and required energy transitions and across countries, I develop and apply a typology of energy transitions based on the changes and their interplays in fossil fuels and low-carbon technologies (Figure 3.2, see Table 3.1 for source categories). These changes are most relevant to mitigating climate change, which requires the rapid replacement of fossil fuels with low-carbon technologies (IEA, 2023b). This analysis on more systemic transitions, rather than individual or some limited number of technological changes, goes beyond existing approaches in the literature which focus on analysing either the growth of low-carbon technologies (Cherp et al., 2017; Grubb et al., 2020; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Sovacool, 2016; Wilson et al., 2013) or the decline of fossil fuels (Brauers et al., 2020; Normann, 2019; Sovacool, 2016; Turnheim and Geels, 2012; Vinichenko et al., 2021, 2023b) separately.

Based on this typology, there are four types of energy transitions: (1) **energy additions** where low-carbon technologies are added (but do not replace) fossil fuels; (2) **low-carbon substitutions** where low-carbon technologies replace fossil fuels; (3) **high-carbon substitutions** where fossil fuels replace low-carbon technologies; and (4) **energy reductions** where both low-carbon technologies and fossil fuels decline through an overall contraction of the energy system.



Figure 3.2: Typology of energy transitions

Notes: Energy transitions can be categorised into four types depending on the changes in the use of fossil fuels and low-carbon technologies. The arrows indicate a potential pathway and other possible developments towards (or away from) decarbonisation.

Historically, *energy additions* were the primary mode of development in the energy sector, where the rapidly growing demand was met by adding all sorts of technologies, with fossil fuels playing a major role (Fouquet, 2010; York and Bell, 2019). However, with the increasing availability of low-carbon technologies, recent and future transitions may involve more technological substitutions. These substitutions can be further divided into two types: *low-carbon substitutions* where fossil fuels are replaced by low-carbon alternatives such as nuclear or modern renewables, aligning with the concept of sustainable development including mitigating climate change (Dincer, 2000; Lélé, 1991). On the other end of the spectrum are *high-carbon substitutions*, which contradict the principles of sustainable development by replacing low-carbon sources with fossil fuels. Such substitutions may be caused by multiple factors including vested interests in fossil fuels (Cherp et al., 2017; Moe, 2015), or a sudden

loss of low-carbon sources due to, for instance, adverse weather for renewables or nuclear accidents (Cho et al., 2016). Lastly, the energy system may evolve without the growth of new technologies and instead undergo shrinkage. This can be called *energy reductions* which may align with the concept of 'degrowth', although 'sustainable degrowth' often entails the development of low-carbon technologies to replace the currently dominant fossil fuels (Grubler et al., 2018; Kallis et al., 2018; Schneider et al., 2010), which is more closely related to *low-carbon substitutions*.

Category	Source
	- Coal
E	- Oil
Fossil fuels	- Natural gas
	- Other non-renewable
	- Hydro
	- Nuclear
	- Solar
Low-carbon	- Wind
	- Biofuel (including renewable waste)
	- Geothermal
	- Tidal
	- Solar
	- Wind
Modern renewables	- Biofuel (including renewable waste)
	- Geothermal
	- Tidal
Hydro	- Hydro
Nuclear	- Nuclear

Table 3.1: Source categories used in this dissertation

Notes: While existing studies generally find biofuel-based electricity as low-carbon (Evans et al., 2010), its environmental impacts could vary rather significantly based on factors such as feedstock type, land-use change, water usage, and fertiliser type as well as quantity (Jeswani et al., 2020).

This systematic categorisation of energy transitions makes it possible to trace and compare the types and speeds of energy transitions over time. Given that historical transitions were predominantly energy additions, a potential pathway towards decarbonisation should be such that low-carbon technologies develop progressively faster to increasingly substitute fossil fuels over time, as depicted in Figure 3.2.

Additionally, systematically categorising, tracing, and comparing energy transitions enables us to examine the impacts of climate policies (see subsection 3.3.3 for more detailed methods). I follow the conventional definition of climate policies as "(national) sectoral or overarching policies that result in lasting emission reductions" (Nascimento et al., 2022b). My primary interest is to examine whether and how these policies have resulted in significant changes in the type and speed of energy transitions beyond historical trends.

3.2.3 Examining the level of required acceleration

To clarify how much acceleration in energy transitions is necessary to mitigate climate change, I compare the required rates of low-carbon substitutions outlined in climate mitigation pathways to historically relevant observations. Such comparative analysis, linking historical cases to analysing the challenges of meeting future scenarios or targets, has been so far utilised in examining global climate scenarios (Loftus et al., 2015; Semieniuk et al., 2021; Sluisveld et al., 2015), as well as analysing the speed of national and regional technological growth (Ewijk and McDowall, 2020; Odenweller et al., 2022), and technological decline (Jewell et al., 2019; Muttitt et al., 2023; Vinichenko et al., 2021, 2023b). This dissertation extends this analysis to examine both technological growth and decline simultaneously in order to analyse the level of acceleration necessary in energy transitions more comprehensively. To do so, I use a systematic method of mapping future transitions onto empirically grounded speed zones constructed from historically relevant cases and their density of observations (Jewell and Cherp, 2023; Odenweller et al., 2022; Vinichenko et al., 2021) (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: Empirically grounded speed zones and the required level of acceleration for targets

Notes: Areas with shaded colours show the different speed zones of transitions where the darkest area represents the fastest speeds (the top 5% of historical observations), the second darkest/second fastest (top 25% to 5%), the third darkest/third fastest (top 50% to 25%), and lightest/slowest (below 50%). Examples of historical observations (n = 40) are depicted with dots, while decarbonisation targets are shown with stars.

3.3 Methods

This dissertation encompasses three longitudinal comparative case studies that evolved as the research progressed. The subsequent subsections detail the shared methods utilised across these studies (subsection 3.3.1), followed by distinct methods specific to each study, outlining more precise scopes and supplementary data sources (subsections 3.3.2, 3.3.3, 3.3.4)

3.3.1 Common methods for the three empirical analyses

The three empirical analyses share three common research design features: (1) the choice of the sector and countries; (2) the metric to calculate the rate of technological changes; and (3) the main data source.

Firstly, I focused on analysing the electricity sector in the G7 and EU countries between 1960 and 2035 including their future targets and plans to mitigate climate change. I selected this specific scope for three reasons: (1) the majority of policies, particularly climate policies that are relevant to this dissertation, have been implemented in this sector so far (Iacobuta et al., 2018; Nascimento et al., 2022b); (2) these countries spearheaded in introducing these policies in the last decades and repeatedly committed to lead global climate mitigation efforts (Kirton et al., 2018; Kokotsis, 1999); and (3) these countries are among the largest economies in the world with significant economic, technological, and financial capabilities. Therefore, not only do electricity transitions in these countries offer a great opportunity to analyse political interventions and their outcomes, but the empirical insights from these countries (or lack thereof) also have significant implications for mitigating climate change globally.

Secondly, I applied the following metric to calculate the rate of technological changes in order to systematically identify the periods of rapid transitions in the energy system.

$$ACR_i = \frac{(S_{i1} - S_{i0}) * 2}{(T_0 + T_1)} * \frac{1}{(Y_1 - Y_0)}$$

where ACR_i represents the annual change rate (%) of electricity generated (TWh) from a given source (i) between the start year (S_{i0}) and end year (S_{i1}). This rate is normalised by the average total electricity generation (TWh) during the start year (T_0) and end year (T_1), and then further divided by the number of years between the start year (Y_0) and end year (Y_1). The original form of this metric to quantify the rate of energy transitions was developed by Vinichenko et al. (2021).

Thirdly, all three empirical chapters use IEA's Extended Energy Balances (2022) for historical data. As I aim to analyse the trends of technological changes in electricity generation, I smooth IEA's historical data by using three-year moving averages.

3.3.2 Specific methods for Germany-UK comparison (Chapter 4)

The primary focus of this chapter is to test the overarching conceptual framework of this dissertation (Figure 3.1) and examine the historical interventions of national governments in the electricity market and their outcomes in terms of accelerating energy transitions. To meet this objective, I focused on Germany and the UK because these two countries are often considered leading nations in climate change mitigation (Chapman and Itaoka, 2018; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Tobin, 2017) while pursuing diverse transition policies (Geels et al. 2016), offering a great opportunity to examine whether, and if so, how the differences in policies have affected the speed of energy transitions.

To facilitate this longitudinal comparative analysis, I employed the following steps. First, I segmented the electricity transitions in both countries into a series of decadal episodes. Such an approach to breaking down the temporal scope into a sub-set of analytical periods has been used by Cherp et al. (2017) to compare long-term energy transitions in Germany and Japan. Second, I used the metric described in 3.3.1 to calculate the rates of technological change of all major sources (oil, coal, gas, nuclear, hydro, and modern renewables) to identify annual changes exceeding 1% compared to other minor fluctuations. Thirdly, I analysed how the national governments of Germany and the UK contributed to the identified rapid changes by reviewing relevant scholarly literature and governmental policy documents. Lastly, I conducted a comparative assessment of these countries' electricity transitions, focusing particularly on the role of policies in facilitating them.

In this chapter, IEA's historical data (2022) was supplemented by the recent national transition targets of these countries towards 2030. The rate of technological change between 2020 and 2030 was calculated using the same metric to analyse how the recently adopted targets compare to their historical transitions in 1960-2020.

3.3.3 Specific methods for G7 and EU policy impact analysis (Chapter 5)

The central aim of this chapter is to analyse whether recent climate policies have influenced the nature and speed of energy transitions beyond historical trends. This objective emerged as the focal point following observations made during Chapter 4, where I identified great similarities in the speed of technological changes between Germany and the UK despite the great diversity in their policies. It became thus important to scrutinise whether this pace of change has been accelerating, particularly in light of the growing awareness of climate change in the last decades.

To achieve this objective, I expanded the scope of analysis to all the G7 countries and the EU, which have spearheaded the introduction of climate policies in recent decades (Iacobuta et al., 2018; Nascimento et al., 2022b), and have repeatedly committed to lead the global decarbonisation efforts (Kirton et al., 2018; Kokotsis, 1999). To examine the overall difference (or lack thereof) between energy transitions with and without climate policies, I mainly analysed the transitions of these countries as a whole, but I also supplemented this analysis by looking at the transitions in the individual countries. I used the Climate Policy Database (NewClimate Institute et al., 2023) to analyse the adoption of climate policies over time in the G7 and the EU.

To examine the evolving rates of change, I analysed the historical electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU between 1960 and 2020 by segmenting this period into sequential episodes over five years. This choice of five years, in comparison to 10 years in Chapter 4, was made to strike

a balance between capturing trends and accounting for the fact found in Chapter 4 that rapid technological changes could take place within shorter timeframes. The typology of energy transitions that I developed in my dissertation (see subsection 3.2.2 and Figure 3.2) was applied in Chapter 5 to trace and compare the systemic developments in the energy sector towards decarbonisation across countries and time-periods. Moreover, I supplemented this historical analysis by using Ember's Yearly Electricity Data for the most recent data available between 2020 and 2022 (Ember, 2023) to examine the latest developments in these countries.

Furthermore, I compared this historical analysis from 1960 to 2022 with climate target requirements to elucidate the level of acceleration necessary in the future. This analysis applied the conceptualisation of "empirically grounded speed zones" described in subsection 3.2.3, encompassing the following steps. First, I calculated the required rates of low-carbon substitutions (find the definition of 'low-carbon substitutions' in subsection 3.2.2) in the G7 and the EU between 2020 and 2035 to achieve their "fully or predominantly decarbonised electricity" target by 2035 (G7, 2022), thereby keeping the global temperature increase below 1.5°C (i.e. this would be the star target rate as depicted in Figure 3.3). For this task, I used the specific pathway outlined in IEA's "Achieving Net Zero Electricity Sectors in G7 Members" (IEA, 2021a). I chose this pathway because the G7 and the EU requested the IEA to develop this report in 2021 and subsequently adopted the advised target in 2022, making this pathway highly relevant for their future transitions (IEA, 2021a).

Secondly, these required rates were compared to the density of relevant historical observations. To construct a dataset of such historical cases, I first identified all national five-year episodes of low-carbon substitutions worldwide in 1960–2020. I then calculated the transition speed as the annual total change rates as follows:

$$ACR_{Transition_speed} = G_{low_carbon} + |D_{fossil_fuels}|$$

where $ACR_{Transition_speed}$ (%) is a positive value aggregating the total growth rate of lowcarbon electricity (G_{low_carbon}) and the absolute total decline rate of fossil fuel-based electricity (D_{fossil_fuels}). From this dataset, I selected the episodes with the highest values while ensuring that there was no overlap or double-counting of years. Table 3.2 shows the example of this approach, choosing four episodes with the highest values in France, namely a 14.3% annual change rate in 1979–1984, followed by 7.0% in 1984–1989, 4.3% in 1989–1994, and 1.3% in 2009–2014.

Table 3.2: Selection method of highest low-carbon transition episodes, France as an example.

Country	Year		Entrada	Total avg.	Generation change (TWh)		Annual change rate			
	Start	End	- Episode	Episode	(TWh)	Low-carbon	Fossil fuels	Low-carbon	Fossil fuels	Transition
	1979	1984	FR79-84	280.7	140.4	-61.5	10.0%	-4.4%	14.4%	Highest
	1980	1985	FR80-85	299.9	148.5	-64.3	9.9%	-4.3%	14.2%	
	1981	1986	FR81-86	315.2	150.4	-61.1	9.5%	-3.9%	13.4%	
	1978	1983	FR78-83	262.3	117.0	-43.9	8.9%	-3.3%	12.3%	
	1982	1987	FR82-87	329.5	144.8	-52.2	8.8%	-3.2%	12.0%	overlap
	1977	1982	FR77-82	248.7	104.6	-35.6	8.4%	-2.9%	11.3%	
	1983	1988	FR83-88	344.4	129.8	-38.5	7.5%	-2.2%	9.8%	
France	1976	1981	FR76-81	235.5	83.7	-13.8	7.1%	-1.2%	8.3%	
	1984	1989	FR84-89	361.9	105.2	-21.7	5.8%	-1.2%	7.0%	2nd Highest
	1975	1980	FR75-80	225.2	67.1	-1.9	6.0%	-0.2%	6.1%	overlap
	1985	1990	FR85-90	383.0	83.5	-1.4	4.4%	-0.1%	4.4%	
	1989	1994	FR89-94	441.1	84.6	-9.8	3.8%	-0.4%	4.3%	3rd Highest
	1990	1995	FR90-95	457.9	82.2	-14.7	3.6%	-0.6%	4.2%	
	1988	1993	FR88-93	429.1	81.2	-3.2	3.8%	-0.1%	3.9%	1
	1991	1996	FR91-96	471.7	70.0	-12.5	3.0%	-0.5%	3.5%	overlap
	1992	1997	FR92-97	483.1	48.3	-2.9	2.0%	-0.1%	2.1%	
	2009	2014	FR09-14	563.8	27.8	-9.9	1.0%	-0.3%	1.3%	4th Highest
	2010	2015	FR10-15	560.7	22.5	-10.1	0.8%	-0.4%	1.2%	
	2008	2013	FR08-13	562.7	22.0	-6.1	0.8%	-0.2%	1.0%	overlap
	2007	2012	FR07-12	569.3	3.6	-0.1	0.1%	-0.004%	0.1%	

Notes: Data from IEA (2022), calculated by the metric described in subsections 3.3.1 and 3.3.3.

Subsequently, I further refined the selection from the compiled dataset of national low-carbon substitution episodes by focusing on those with an average total electricity generation exceeding 100 TWh. I set this threshold because systems smaller than this threshold tend to exhibit more rapid growth of renewables (Cherp et al., 2021) and decline of fossil fuels (Vinichenko et al., 2021), which I considered less relevant to future transitions in the G7

countries and the EU. This is because the total electricity generation of the G7 and the EU was, on average, ca. 100 TWh per country in 2021, including smaller EU countries who are 'non-enumerated' members, although the average among the main member states (Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, UK, and United States (US)) was ca. 1100 TWh. Thus, I adopted an optimistic rather than conservative approach, considering that all episodes above this 100 TWh threshold have direct relevance to all the G7 countries and the EU. This resulted in a final selection of 19 countries and their 56 episodes (Table 3.3).

Finally, I performed kernel density estimation with the final selection of the dataset, using R's package ggdensity (Otto and Kahle, 2022) to delineate speed zones as depicted in Figure 3.3. Each zone was defined to encompass 50%, 75%, and 95% of these historical episodes, with the remaining 5% representing historically the fastest national low-carbon substitution episodes.

Table 3.3: Low-carbon episodes used to delineate speed zones of low-carbon substitutions.

Note: The top G7+EU required transition was not used to delineate the zones but is shown here as a reference. Data from IEA (2022), calculated by the metric described in subsections 3.3.1 and 3.3.3.

		Year			Total	Generation change (TWh)		Annual change rate		
Period	Country	Start	End	Episode	average generation (TWh)	Low-carbon	Fossil fuels	Low-carbon	Fossil fuels	Transition speed
Required	G7+EU	2020	2035	G7_20-35	10893.6	8264.8	-4410.0	5.1%	-2.7%	7.7%
	France	1979	1984	FR79-84	280.7	140.4	-61.5	10.0%	-4.4%	14.4%
	Spain	1982	1987	ES82-87	123.0	38.1	-17.9	6.2%	-2.9%	9.1%
	United Kingdom	2011	2016	GB11-16	352.4	58.0	-90.7	3.3%	-5.1%	8.4%
	Ukraine	1991	1996	UA91-96	230.6	0.9	-92.6	0.1%	-8.0%	8.1%
	Sweden	1979	1984	SE79-84	108.8	35.9	-7.8	6.6%	-1.4%	8.0%
	Italy	2008	2013	IT08-13	295.6	49.9	-65.5	3.4%	-4.4%	7.8%
	France	1984	1989	FR84-89	361.9	105.2	-21.7	5.8%	-1.2%	7.0%
	Brazil	1979	1984	BR79-84	152.4	52.4	-0.2	6.9%	0.0%	6.9%
	Spain	2008	2013	ES08-13	292.5	40.9	-59.0	2.8%	-4.0%	6.8%
	Japan	2015	2020	JP15-20	1038.9	103.8	-153.9	2.0%	-3.0%	5.0%
	Venezuela	2002	2007	VE02-07	103.0	23.7	-0.3	4.6%	-0.1%	4.7%
	France	1989	1994	FR89-94	441.1	84.6	-9.8	3.8%	-0.4%	4.3%
Historical	Germany	2015	2020	DE15-20	611.2	39.5	-89.9	1.3%	-2.9%	4.2%
	Netherlands	2015	2020	NL15-20	115.9	18.5	-6.0	3.2%	-1.0%	4.2%
	Brazil	2014	2019	BR14-19	598.3	77.3	-41.9	2.6%	-1.4%	4.0%
	Brazil	1987	1992	BR87-92	224.7	38.3	-2.4	3.4%	-0.2%	3.6%
	Japan	1978	1983	JP78-83	584.8	78.2	-23.5	2.7%	-0.8%	3.5%
	Germany	1980	1985	DE80-85	491.2	66.1	-18.1	2.7%	-0.7%	3.4%
	Norway	2010	2015	NO10-15	135.4	18.9	-1.6	2.8%	-0.2%	3.0%
	Ukraine	2015	2020	UA15-20	159.6	2.6	-21.1	0.3%	-2.6%	3.0%
	Norway 🗄	1986	1991	NO86-91	108.7	15.6	-0.3	2.9%	0.0%	2.9%
	United Kingdom	1979	1984	GB79-84	286.6	17.6	-23.8	1.2%	-1.7%	2.9%
	Australia	2015	2020	AU15-20	258.1	25.0	-12.1	1.9%	-0.9%	2.9%
	Thailand	2014	2019	TH14-19	178.7	17.2	-6.3	1.9%	-0.7%	2.6%
	Sweden	2010	2015	SE10-15	151.1	15.1	-3.0	2.0%	-0.4%	2.4%

		Ŋ	Year	Episode	Total	Generation change (TWh)		Annual change rate		
Period	Country	Start	End		average generation (TWh)	Low-carbon	Fossil fuels	Low-carbon	Fossil fuels	Transition speed
	United Kingdom	2006	2011	GB06-11	381.3	9.8	-35.0	0.5%	-1.8%	2.4%
	Sweden	1995	2000	SE95-00	148.9	13.5	-3.5	1.8%	-0.5%	2.3%
	Australia	2009	2014	AU09-14	248.6	14.1	-12.7	1.1%	-1.0%	2.2%
	Canada	1989	1994	CA89-94	522.5	54.7	-1.2	2.1%	0.0%	2.1%
	Netherlands	2009	2014	NL09-14	109.3	1.5	-9.9	0.3%	-1.8%	2.1%
	Canada	2002	2007	CA02-07	608.6	46.9	-16.8	1.5%	-0.6%	2.1%
	United States	2015	2020	US15-20	4312.7	226.5	-212.5	1.1%	-1.0%	2.0%
	United Kingdom	1989	1994	GB89-94	319.4	23.2	-9.2	1.5%	-0.6%	2.0%
	Poland	2006	2011	PL06-11	159.4	9.1	-6.8	1.1%	-0.9%	2.0%
	Canada	2011	2016	CA11-16	642.5	51.0	-11.4	1.6%	-0.4%	1.9%
	Spain	2015	2020	ES15-20	271.0	9.4	-16.8	0.7%	-1.2%	1.9%
	Sweden	1985	1990	SE85-90	139.0	13.0	-0.4	1.9%	-0.1%	1.9%
	Ukraine	1996	2001	UA96-01	178.7	2.2	-14.4	0.2%	-1.6%	1.9%
	South Africa	2015	2020	ZA15-20	244.6	7.2	-15.2	0.6%	-1.2%	1.8%
	Poland	2011	2016	PL11-16	163.7	9.6	-3.4	1.2%	-0.4%	1.6%
	Argentina	2015	2020	AR15-20	143.8	6.0	-4.9	0.8%	-0.7%	1.5%
	Germany	2010	2015	DE10-15	622.3	35.3	-7.2	1.1%	-0.2%	1.4%
	France	2009	2014	FR09-14	563.8	27.8	-9.9	1.0%	-0.3%	1.3%
	United States	2007	2012	US07-12	4304.4	129.8	-148.9	0.6%	-0.7%	1.3%
	Russia	2015	2020	RU15-20	1096.8	59.2	-10.2	1.1%	-0.2%	1.3%
	Sweden	2015	2020	SE15-20	162.0	9.8	0.0	1.2%	0.0%	1.2%
	South Africa	2010	2015	ZA10-15	251.4	4.3	-10.1	0.3%	-0.8%	1.1%
	Russia .5	1994	1999	RU94-99	872.9	0.2	-47.4	0.0%	-1.1%	1.1%
	Germany a	2004	2009	DE04-09	614.4	18.7	-12.3	0.6%	-0.4%	1.0%
	Germany $\overset{\heartsuit}{\Box}$	1990	1995	DE90-95	541.6	7.2	-17.9	0.3%	-0.7%	0.9%
	Sweden	2003	2008	SE03-08	144.8	3.5	-3.0	0.5%	-0.4%	0.9%
	Poland ^H	1989	1994	PL89-94	137.0	0.1	-5.9	0.0%	-0.9%	0.9%
	Russia	1984	1989	RU84-89	1493.9	40.9	-22.5	0.5%	-0.3%	0.8%
	Norway	2015	2020	NO15-20	146.1	5.1	-1.0	0.7%	-0.1%	0.8%
	Ukraine	2004	2009	UA04-09	183.9	2.9	-0.6	0.3%	-0.1%	0.4%
	Italy	2015	2020	IT15-20	283.8	3.3	-0.7	0.2%	0.0%	0.3%

3.3.4 Specific methods for G7 policy evolution analysis (Chapter 6)

The main objective of Chapter 6 is to examine whether and how the overall stringency of energy transition policies to mitigate climate change—as cumulative outcomes of factors related to policy acceleration and deceleration towards decarbonisation reviewed in Sections 2.2 and 2.3 —has evolved over the last decades.

However, systematically assessing the stringency of policies and comparing it across countries and time-periods is considered extremely challenging due to the high level of granular analysis required, even to examine the stringency of a single policy (Knill et al., 2012; Schaub et al., 2022). Applying such an approach to analyse all policies adopted in the G7 countries over the last decades would thus be virtually impossible.

To address this challenge, I aimed to identify and analyse the evolution of national transition projections developed or commissioned by national governments in recent decades. These projections are also commonly referred to as 'reference', 'predictive' or 'forecast' scenarios. They can serve as a proxy to understand how the overall stringency of energy transition policies has evolved because they reflect the anticipated cumulative impacts of existing and planned policies, judged by country experts at the time of projection development. Consequently, other 'exploratory' or 'normative' scenarios are not considered in this analysis as they include policies not implemented or planned.⁴ Such an approach, using projections to evaluate overall progress in policies towards decarbonisation, has been employed by Nascimento et al. (2022a) in the context of GHG emissions reductions. To the best of my knowledge, this dissertation is the first attempt to apply this method in the context of energy transitions.

⁴ Sometimes, a projection including planned policies is categorised instead as an 'exploratory' scenario in the G7 countries. In this case, I selected a scenario that best reflects the existing and planned policies at the time of projection/scenario development to ensure analytical coherence. See Table 6.1 for the national projections used in this analysis and subsection 6.2 for the justification of their selection.

Moreover, analysing the evolution of energy transition projections can shed light on the changing political motivation and capacity for accelerating energy transitions. The U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA), the country's responsible authority for energy transition projections, explains the purpose of the projection development as "it gives decision-makers an opportunity to peer into a future without new policy. **If the projected outcomes are undesirable from their viewpoint, they can effect change**" (EIA, 2023, p. 1, bolded by the author). By comparing the changes in subsequent projections, therefore, one can discern whether policymakers acted in changing policies to alter the direction and speed of energy transitions.

To compare the evolving stringency of national policies to climate target requirements, I follow a similar method used for Chapter 5, which is described in subsection 3.3.3. However, the required energy mix data in 2035 specified by the IEA (IEA, 2021a) is only available for the G7 countries and the EU as a whole. I, therefore, calculated the required energy mix for the individual G7 countries based on the assumption that the same level of demand growth and the same share of energy mix (i.e. 'predominantly low-carbon') would be achieved by 2035 across these countries. Consequently, the nations with a lower share of low-carbon electricity (or higher share of fossil-based electricity) today would need to achieve a faster rate of change towards 2035.

The limitation of using national transition projections as proxies for political acceleration in energy transitions stems from the fact that it involves not only policies evolving over time affecting projections, but also various changing assumptions on macro-economic and technological trends (Nascimento et al., 2022a). These include economic growth, energy demand, resource prices, expected technological innovation without policies, behavioural changes, etc. While policies are introduced to manipulate these factors, robust causal analysis

is required to extract the exact extent of manipulation and identify its material impacts. However, such analysis is beyond the scope of this chapter.

3.4 Summary

This chapter described the rationale behind selecting ontological and epistemological assumptions rooted in critical realism, forming the foundation for investigating the political acceleration of energy transitions in this dissertation. Energy transitions are accordingly conceptualised as the cumulative outcome of evolving structures and mechanisms. The primary aim of this dissertation is to elucidate whether and to which extent energy transitions are politically accelerated, with a specific focus on examining if such acceleration is more pronounced in recent decades with climate policies. Additionally, this dissertation aims to compare these historical observations with future requirements for mitigating climate change.

To fulfil these research aims, I developed a 'middle-range' methodology as summarised in Table 3.4, distinguishing it from the existing approaches in the literature, which are either too broad or too narrow to analyse political acceleration in energy transitions at the national level (subsection 2.4.1). To enable comparing energy transitions across countries and time-periods, which are significantly lacking in the literature (Grubler et al., 2016; Sorrell, 2018), I also formulated a typology of energy transitions based on the changes and their interplays in fossil fuels and low-carbon technologies (subsection 3.2.2). Further, by extending the existing methods, I also developed an approach to assess the necessary level of acceleration in decarbonising the energy system in the future in comparison to relevant historical observations (subsection 3.2.3).

This chapter also outlined the detailed methods applied across the three empirical chapters (subsection 3.3.1), along with supplementary methods tailored to each chapter's distinct research focus and objectives (subsections 3.3.2, 3.3.3, 3.3.4).

Using the conceptual frameworks and methods outlined in this chapter, the next chapters (Chapters 4, 5, 6) present the results responding to the three research questions of this dissertation: (1) What is the empirical role of the state and the impact of national policies in accelerating long-term energy transitions?; (2) Have climate policies altered energy transitions beyond historical trends, and if so, how in light of climate target requirements?; and (3) How has the stringency of national policies changed over the last decades, and how does this evolution compare to historical and required transitions?

Object of analysis		Global energy transitions	National energy transitions (this dissertation)	Specific socio-technical changes		
Scope		Broad	Middle-range	Narrow		
	Geography	Global or aggregated groups (e.g. OECD)	National (large economies)	National or sub-national (incl. small economies)		
Focus of analysis	Sectoral coverage	Economy-wide	Individual sector	Individual technologies		
	Time horizon	Long-term (multi-decades to centuries)	Medium-term (more than six decades)	Short-term (typically since 1990 or after)		
Perspectives		Techno-economic (outcomes in energy demand, technology diffusion rates)	Techno-economic, socio- technical, and political	Socio-technical and political (changes in actors, technology choices, and policies)		
Methods		Largely quantitative	Mixed methods	Largely qualitative		

Table 3.4: This dissertation's approach, in contrast to the two major methodologies
4. Historical and planned transitions in Germany and the UK

4.1 Introduction

This chapter investigates historical and planned state interventions and their outcomes in electricity transitions in Germany and the UK from 1960 to 2030, with additional consideration of further plans towards 2050 where appropriate. The analysis begins by examining each country separately; Section 4.2 focuses on Germany, and Section 4.3 on the UK. This approach aims to systematically identify notable technological changes over time and examines the sequence of state interventions contributing to these changes. Section 4.4 comparatively analyses the similarities and differences between the two countries, followed by Section 4.5 further examining how diverse state approaches resulted in the speed of energy transitions. Finally, Section 4.6 provides a summary of the chapter.

4.2 Electricity transitions in Germany

The electricity supply in Germany had increased by six-fold from ca. 100 TWh in 1960 to ca. 600 TWh in the mid-2000s and has since stagnated at the same level (Figure 4.1). Until the early 1970s, the rapidly growing demand for electricity was predominantly met by domestic coal. Subsequently, there was an increasing contribution of nuclear power, which sustained the growing demand until the late 2000s when modern renewables began to experience substantial growth. While the growth of renewables has primarily replaced nuclear power to date, it is anticipated that its continuous expansion will replace the majority, if not all, of coal by 2030.

It is also noteworthy that the share of imported coal has progressively increased since the early 1990s, supplying around 50% of coal power in the 2010s. Additionally, Germany became a net electricity exporter around the mid-2000s.



Figure 4.1: Historical and planned electricity supply in Germany in 1960-2030.

Notes: Historical data for 1960-2021 are from IEA (2022). There are two recent transition projections for 2030: "BMWi-2020" is an analysis commissioned by the federal government to Kemmler et al. (2020) to assess the impact of the country's Climate Protection Programme 2030. Subsequently, Germany's climate targets have been strengthened, particularly after the formation of the new coalition government in 2021 and its responses to the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022 (Sprenger and Schäfer, 2022). This latest projection analysis, however, signals a lack of political instruments to achieve the targets, particularly in regard to targeted acceleration in developing renewables. In the legend, "imp." stands for "imported", while "dom." refers to "domestic".

There are several notable episodes of technological growth and decline in Germany from 1960

to 2030 (Table 4.1), particularly in regard to coal, nuclear power, and modern renewables,

which are analysed more closely in the following subsections. Since the use of oil power and

hydropower have been negligible in Germany, they are excluded from further analysis.

	Annual change rate (%)								
Source	Historical 1960-1970 1970-1980 1980-1990 1990-2000 2000-2010 2010-2020								
Coal	5.0	2.1	0.6	-0.3	-0.5	-1.7	-1.9		
Gas	0.7	1.3	-0.5	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.4		
Nuclear	0.3	1.4	1.9	0.3	-0.7	-1.0	-1.1		
Mod.RES	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.2	1.3	2.2	3.9		

Table 4.1:	Technological	change rates in	Germany in	1960-2030,	divided into	decadal episodes
			OUI I I I I I I I I I	,		area and a second

Notes: Data under "Planned 2020-2030" show the average of the two projections displayed in Figure 4.1, considering the feasibility concerns raised in the new projection.

4.2.1 Coal

In the 1960s to 1980s, coal power continuously grew to supply, at its peak in 1984, ca. 330 TWh (65% of the total electricity supply). The state strongly supported this rapid expansion of coal power to support the domestic coal industry, which became increasingly uncompetitive against international coal after the European coal crisis in 1958 (Oei et al., 2019). The main measures were to forcefully consolidate the particularly uncompetitive domestic hard coal mining companies into Ruhrkohle AG (current RAG AG) in 1969 and provided subsidies—most notably through the Kohlepfennig ('coal penny') scheme—to secure the consumption of domestic coal (Storchmann, 2005).

In the 1990s, coal power became increasingly import-dependent as the 'coal penny' was abolished in 1995 following a ruling by the German Federal Court declaring it unconstitutional. Consequently, domestic hard coal production sharply declined (Storchmann, 2005). In contrast, lignite remained competitive, although its production underwent a one-time sharp decline in the early 1990s due to the closure of many inefficient mines and power plants in East Germany after the German reunification in 1990 (Herpich et al., 2018).

In the 2000s, the state continued its intervention in multiple ways to sustain the use of coal power. Foremost, the nuclear phase-out policy in 2002 made coal power the only viable base-load electricity source in the country. Additionally, the state ensured the competitiveness of coal power through tax exemptions on coal and the introduction of taxes on other fossil fuels (Cherp et al., 2017). Furthermore, the grandfathering scheme of the emission trading system (ETS) generated windfall profits for coal generators, with which one of the country's largest investments in new coal power was made in the late 2000s (Pahle, 2010). It is estimated that by the end of the 2000s, the total subsidies provided to the coal industry amounted to more than 350 billion Euro (in 2008 euro price) (Meyer et al., 2010).

In the 2010s, state policy in Germany faced turbulence, notably influenced by the aftermath of the Fukushima nuclear accident in 2011. The Energy Concept, adopted a year prior to the accident, initially signalled a clear transition towards predominantly renewable-based electricity in the long term, with nuclear power serving as a bridging source (Bundesregierung, 2010). However, the state's decision to accelerate the phase-out of nuclear power post-Fukushima resulted in a resurgence of coal power, witnessing the construction of 10 GW of new capacity in the mid-2010s (Cherp et al., 2017). Further investment in coal power became more favourable than natural gas, as the growing output of renewables reduced electricity prices, diminishing the profitability of natural gas as a source for peak-load electricity (Lauber and Jacobsson, 2015). Nonetheless, the state reiterated in its Climate Protection Plan that coal power would gradually phase out (BMUB, 2016). Under the policy, the multi-stakeholder coal exit commission was established to discuss the timeline as well as the corresponding compensation scheme and proposed in 2019 the year 2038 as the latest deadline (BMWi, 2019).

In 2020, the state officially approved and legislated the proposed coal phase-out deadline of 2038, accompanied by a compensation plan allocating 40 billion euros to support 'just transitions' in affected communities and companies (German Federal Government, 2020). This timeline may be revised to 2035 or even as early as 2030, as the current coalition government formed in 2021 aims to ideally phase out coal by 2030 to accelerate emission reduction efforts (BMWK, 2022a).

4.2.2 Natural gas

In the 1970s, Germany made significant investments in international gas pipelines to transport natural gas from Western Siberian fields in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR) with the main aim of generating electricity and using the resource for industrial as well as heating purposes (Jonathan, 2005).

In the 1980s, however, the use of gas in electricity generation declined in Germany as nuclear power began to develop rapidly. Additionally, the European Commission passed a regulation to restrict gas consumption in electricity generation, which was in force from 1975 until 1991(European Commission, 1975).

In the 1990s and 2000s, following the lifting of EU regulations, the introduction of a series of liberalisation policies as well as advancements in Combined Cycle Gas Turbine (CCGT) technologies made gas power a popular investment throughout Europe, including Germany (Pahle, 2010). However, this growth did not continue in the 2010s, and gas power remained under 15% of the share of electricity due to a more favourable economic environment for coal power during the decade (Lauber and Jacobsson, 2015) (see also Figure 4.1).

In the 2020s, according to the most recent transition projections in Germany, gas power is anticipated to serve as a 'bridge source', replacing coal and supplying electricity until modern renewables become the predominant source for electricity generation (Kemmler et al., 2020; Sprenger and Schäfer, 2022) (Figure 4.1). Following the energy crisis triggered by the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022, the perception of natural gas as a bridging source was further intensified. As a consequence, the state made significant investments in securing gas supply, including the development of liquefied natural gas terminals with a number of supply contracts spanning multiple decades (Brower et al., 2023).

4.2.3 Nuclear power

Between the mid-1950s and the 1970s, nuclear power, as expected to become the second pillar of energy supply, gained increasing political support in Germany (Renn and Marshall, 2016). By the end of the 1960s, the German nuclear industry had already grown competency in the international market, and Siemens—which constructed almost all nuclear reactors in

Germany—also received two international orders from the Netherlands and Argentina (IAEA, 2022). After the oil crisis in 1973, the deployment of nuclear power was further accelerated (Jacobsson and Lauber, 2006a), which rapidly grew to supply ca. 160 TWh (30% share) in 1989.

Already in the early 1980s, however, the appetite for the further expansion of nuclear power significantly declined primarily due to the anticipated stagnation of electricity demand in the 1990s (Hake et al., 2015). At the same time, the future role of nuclear power became increasingly contested as the political representation of the Greens increased in the federal parliament. Additionally, the Social Democratic Party (SPD) turned against nuclear power following the Chernobyl Disaster in 1986 (Cherp et al., 2017). Furthermore, by the end of the 1980s, the state abandoned the pursuit of establishing a closed nuclear fuel cycle and subsequently divested from associated activities including fuel reprocessing, thereby diminishing the role of nuclear power as a domestic source of energy in Germany (IAEA, 2022).

In the 2000s, with the two anti-nuclear parties assuming political leadership, a nuclear phaseout law was enacted in 2002. This law prohibited the construction of new nuclear power plants and mandated the premature retirement of existing ones at an average age of 32 years (Renn and Marshall, 2016).

In the 2010s, the conservative government took back the political power and extended the phase-out timeline to 2036, allowing the prolonged use of existing nuclear power plants with multiple objectives to: (1) let utilities exploit the assets; (2) raise public revenues through nuclear fuel tax; and (3) secure enough time for developing modern renewables to replace both coal and nuclear power (Renn and Marshall, 2016). However, within a year after the Fukushima nuclear accident, the timeline was reversed back to 2022.

60

In 2022, after the Russo-Ukrainian War, followed by the subsequent shortage of natural gas to generate electricity, the timeline was moderately adjusted to allow three remaining plants to operate until April 2023 (BASE, 2022).

4.2.4 Modern renewables

The development of modern renewables in Germany has two important aspects: (1) these new technologies were originally developed as part of the country's industrial policy, and (2) their deployment led to a shift in the market structure, with an increasing number of citizens participating as prosumers.

The state's investment in modern renewables as a form of research and development (R&D) funding dates back to the 1970s as a response to the oil crisis in 1973 and the increasing social opposition against nuclear power (Jacobsson and Lauber, 2006a). Initially intended to develop these technologies for export to the international market (Schulz, 2000), however, these they were not deployed within Germany in the 1970s-1980s.

Since the end of the 1980s, on the other hand, modern renewables have increasingly been considered a viable substitute for nuclear power in Germany, particularly in the aftermath of the Chernobyl disaster in 1986 (Jacobsson and Lauber, 2006a). National deployment targets were established for wind (initially set at 100MW, later expanded to 250MW) and solar power (1,000 roofs) in 1989. Alongside the introduction of the Feed-in Law with a fixed feed-in tariff (FiT) in 1991, wind power became an attractive investment (solar power was not as yet), leading to its expansion in the 1990s (Bergek et al., 2008; Jacobsson and Lauber, 2006a). As the 100MW/250MW program was designed to protect domestic wind turbine manufacturers from foreign competitors, a significant portion of this early growth of wind power was supplied by domestic companies such as Siemens and Enercon. These companies soon became global

market leaders by the end of the 1990s, forming a strong alliance to promote further development of modern renewables in the country (Cherp et al., 2017).

In the 2000s, the previously relatively limited support for solar power was strengthened by the red-green coalition government through the introduction of the 100,000 Roofs Program and the reinforcement of the FiT scheme and rates. The revised FiT rate was so generous that it led to the explosive growth of solar power which was even more dramatic than wind (Jacobsson and Lauber, 2006b).

The rapid deployment of modern renewables in Germany since the 1990s led to a significant shift in the market structure, with more than 40% of modern renewable projects being developed and owned by citizens, farmers, and collective communities (Baker et al., 2021). These decentralised initiatives accounted for around half of the electricity produced from renewables, constituting ca. 20% of the total electricity supply in the early 2010s (Sutton, 2021). However, as the FiT scheme transitioned into an auctioning system, mega-developers, including conventional utility companies, began increasing their share of renewable energy generation in the late 2010s (Baker et al., 2021; Geels et al., 2016b).

The coalition government formed in 2021 put forward the new renewable energy target to produce 80% of electricity from renewable sources by 2030 as a measure to address the Russo-Ukrainian war and the subsequent energy crisis in Europe in 2022 (BMWK, 2022a). Among various sources, wind and solar power are expected to continue dominating the future growth of modern renewables, with targets set at 245 GW of wind power (including 30 GW offshore wind) and 215 GW of solar power by 2030 (Sprenger and Schäfer, 2022). This marks a significant increase from the current capacities of ca. 69 GW and ca. 82 GW at the end of 2023, respectively (The Federal Network Agency of Germany, 2024).

62

4.3 Electricity transitions in the UK

The electricity supply in the UK increased from ca. 140 TWh in 1960 to ca. 400 TWh in the mid-2000s, then experienced a decline to ca. 330 TWh in 2021. Initially, coal predominantly supplied electricity until it was largely replaced by natural gas in the 1990s and further substituted by renewables in the 2010s. Nuclear power, at its peak in the 1990s, supplied one-third of electricity but gradually declined afterwards. The UK became a net electricity importer in the late 1980s and expects to maintain this dependence towards 2030, with plans to reduce reliance on gas power and further expand renewables (BEIS, 2022).



Figure 4.2: Historical and planned electricity supply in the UK in 1960-2030.

Note: Historical data for 1960-2021 are sourced from IEA (2022). The electricity mix in 2030 displays the official projection of the government published in 2022 based on existing and planned policies (BEIS, 2022). In the legend, "imp." stands for "imported", while "dom." refers to "domestic".

There are several notable episodes of technological growth and decline in the UK in 1960-2030 (Table 4.2), particularly in regard to oil, coal, gas, nuclear power, and modern renewables, which are analysed more closely in the following subsections. Same with Germany, since hydropower has been negligible in the UK, it is excluded from further analysis.

Annual change rate (%)								
Source	Historical							
	1960-1970	1970-1980	1980-1990	1990-2000	2000-2010	2010-2020	2020-2030	
Oil	1.3	-0.4	-0.2	-0.7	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	
Coal	2.7	1.4	0.0	-2.5	-0.4	-2.9	-0.2	
Gas	0.1	0.0	0.1	4.0	0.5	-1.2	-2.3	
Nuclear	1.3	0.4	1.0	0.6	-0.6	-0.5	-0.4	
Mod.RES	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.5	2.8	4.2	

Table 4.2: Technological change rates in the UK in 1960-2030, divided into decadal episodes

4.3.1 Oil

Unlike in Germany where oil power remained negligible, in the UK it grew to supply ca. 80 TWh (28% share) at its peak in 1974. This growth was led by the state, which pursued a 'four-fuel economy' in the 1960s, removing protective measures for coal with the aim of diversifying the energy mix (Turnheim and Geels, 2012). Despite the oil crises in the 1970s, the use of oil for electricity generation did not decrease, mainly due to the increasing availability of domestic oil following the discovery in the North Sea. However, oil power gradually declined to negligible levels towards the end of the 1990s as it was replaced by gas, which also became increasingly available.

4.3.2 Coal

In the 1960s and 1970s, similar to Germany, coal power in the UK experienced continuous growth, supplying ca. 210 TWh at its peak in 1981, accounting for 75% of the total electricity supply. Additionally, like Germany, the state supported the domestic coal industry by mandating utilities to purchase domestic coal for electricity generation. This support aimed to minimise the socio-economic impacts of the 'controlled rundown' of the domestic mining industry, initiated after the European coal crisis in 1958 (Turnheim and Geels, 2012).

In the 1980s, state support for coal power sharply declined, particularly after the Thatcher government came into power in 1979. The UK exclusively mined hard coal, which faced

increasing international competition, especially after the oil crises in the 1970s. The government viewed the powerful labour union representing the domestic coal sector as a hindrance to progress, labelling the regime a 'sick' industry (Turnheim, 2012). The Central Electricity Generating Board (CEGB), the public institution responsible for electricity generation and transmission, began to strongly oppose the mandatory use of uncompetitive domestic coal. These tensions led to a major strike by coal miners in 1984 and 1985, which was heavily politicised and ultimately crushed by the government. Subsequently, the government closed several mines, removed subsidies, and deregulated the industry, further diminishing its support for the domestic coal sector (Turnheim and Geels, 2012).

In the 1990s, the state implemented a series of privatisation and liberalisation policies to 'modernise' the energy sector by increasingly relying on market forces to decide the fate of energy technologies including coal (Bolton, 2022). As a result, the 'dash for gas' and the 'rush from coal' (Bocse and Gegenbauer, 2017; Parker, 1994; Spooner, 1995) took place where more than 100 gas reactors with a cumulative capacity of 13 GW were built, in contrast to the two small additional coal reactors with a 40 MW capacity built in the 1990s (Platts, 2022). Consequently, as old coal power plants retired, coal power production rapidly declined by half, dropping from ca. 200 TWh in 1990 to ca. 100 TWh in 1999.

In the 2000s, the UK government grew increasingly concerned about the looming energy security challenges stemming from declining domestic oil and gas production (Pearson and Watson, 2012). Simultaneously, worries about the lack of progress towards meeting climate targets intensified. Although coal power was no longer a domestic energy source, it was once again recognised as an affordable and abundant—and thus important—energy source for ensuring energy security. However, its sustained use was contingent upon the availability of

Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) technologies, prompting the state to support their development progressively (Turnheim, 2012).

Despite investing a total of £168 million, the UK failed to develop CCS technologies and largely abandoned their use for fossil fuel generation in 2015—the same year the government decided to phase out coal power by 2025 (The House of Commons of the United Kingdom, 2017). Throughout the 2000s, coal power production stagnated at around 100 TWh. However, with the introduction of a carbon tax in 2013, coal power rapidly declined once again to less than 10 TWh by the late 2010s. In 2017, the UK, in collaboration with Canada, launched the Powering Past Coal Alliance (PPCA), an international initiative comprising countries, states, cities, and corporations committed to ending the use of unabated coal power (PPCA, 2023).

4.3.3 Natural gas

Similarly to Germany, gas was not widely used for power generation in the UK until the end of the 1980s. However, in the 1990s, gas power underwent considerable growth, resulting in a substantial substitution of coal power. This significant shift in power generation was commonly referred to as the 'dash for gas' and was driven by a combination of factors (Bocse and Gegenbauer, 2017; Parker, 1994; Spooner, 1995), as partially discussed in subsection 4.3.2.

First, domestic oil and natural gas became increasingly available, particularly after the discovery of fossil reserves in the North Sea (Bocse and Gegenbauer, 2017). The privatisation and liberalisation of the electricity sector in the 1990s facilitated new market entry and promoted the diversification of the electricity supply. Although deregulation broke down the CEGB monopoly, the generation market was still largely dominated by its successors, National Power and PowerGen, which inherited the large assets of coal power (Spooner, 1995). In an effort to be independent of this duopoly and encouraged by the regulator whose primary task

was to promote competition, new market players sought to develop alternative sources of power (Spooner, 1995). Combined cycle gas turbines (CCGTs) were a particularly attractive option as their capital costs were low, and they could be built relatively quickly. Additionally, the timing was ideal for the growth of gas power, as the EU lifted its ban on the use of gas in electricity generation in 1991, and gas prices were low. National Power and PowerGen, afraid of losing market share, also invested in CCGTs (Parker, 1994). Notably, the 'dash for gas' only occurred in England and Wales but not in Scotland, where the vertically integrated structure of the electricity supply was retained (Spooner, 1995).

Already in the early 2000s, however, gas power started to stagnate as domestic production of natural gas began to decline. The government further constrained the use of gas for electricity generation in the 2010s through the introduction of a carbon tax in 2013 and plans to further reduce its role in electricity supply towards 2030 by substituting gas power mainly with renewables (BEIS, 2022).

4.3.4 Nuclear power

In the 1950s, the UK began investing in nuclear power which grew to supply ca. 100 TWh (27% share) at its peak in 1998. This long-term investment was often criticised as "the greatest commercial failure in British history" due to a range of significant technical and financial issues (Collingridge, 1984; Hannah, 1982, p. 285). Nevertheless, the government consistently provided robust support for nuclear power, with the exception of the late 1990s and early 2000s, when the state was temporarily indecisive on the role of nuclear power in the future energy supply (Hannah, 1982; Pearson and Watson, 2012; Taylor, 2007).

In the 2000s and 2010s, the UK's nuclear power sector experienced a decline, primarily due to the retirement of old reactors and the lack of construction of new plants. However, during this

period, the government became increasingly supportive of nuclear power, recognising that "the energy markets alone cannot achieve broader social and environmental objectives" (DTI, 2007, p. 8). Subsequently, a series of supporting measures were implemented over time, including subsidies for new nuclear plant construction, R&D initiatives, particularly for small modular reactors, and the establishment of a governmental institution to facilitate the redevelopment of nuclear power within and beyond the country (Johnstone and Stirling, 2020; The Government of the United Kingdom, 2022)

The UK currently aims to construct 24GW of nuclear power, three times more than the current level, to produce 25% of electricity in 2050 (The Government of the United Kingdom, 2022). According to the official projection published in 2022, nuclear power is expected to supply 11% of electricity in 2030 and 14% of electricity in 2040 (BEIS, 2022).

4.3.5 Modern renewables

Against the backdrop of prevailing market liberalisation policies in the 1980s and the 1990s, state support for modern renewables long remained limited in the UK, favouring the deployment of near-to-market technologies, which only included nuclear power and waste-to-gas generation in the 1990s (Geels et al., 2016b; Mitchell, 1995). As a result, there was almost no expansion of modern renewables such as solar and wind power in the UK in the 1990s.

In the 2000s, as the cost of wind power rapidly declined, the technology increasingly diffused from neighbouring countries such as Denmark, Spain, and Germany into the British market. This was facilitated through the introduction of the Renewable Obligation (RO) policy in 2002. Due to its market-oriented nature favouring large-scale projects and consequently requiring high financial capabilities, conventional utilities, rather than new market actors, predominantly benefited from this policy (Geels et al., 2016b; Wood and Dow, 2011). As local opposition to

onshore wind power grew, these actors advocated for more state support towards the development of offshore wind power. Matched also with multiple interests of the government and the Crown Estate, the RO was subsequently revised in 2009 to provide favourable support for offshore wind power development (Kern et al., 2014).

In the 2010s, the UK government continued to provide state support for large-scale renewable projects, such as through the introduction of Contracts for Difference (CfD) in 2014, aimed at facilitating further expansion of wind power, particularly offshore wind. This policy quickly made the UK a global leader in deploying offshore wind technology (Geels et al., 2016b; IEA, 2019). Additionally, with the decreasing cost of solar power during the 2000s, the UK introduced Feed-in Tariffs (FiT) in 2010 to incentivise its deployment. Despite this policy, however, the growth of solar power remained modest compared to wind power throughout the 2010s. To illustrate, wind power experienced rapid growth from 10 TWh to 75 TWh (23% share) in 2020, whereas solar power supplied up to 10 TWh throughout the decade.

In 2022, following the Russo-Ukrainian War and the subsequent energy crisis in Europe, the UK government unveiled the British Energy Security Strategy. This strategy aims to achieve the goal of supplying up to 95% of electricity from low-carbon sources by 2030, with the majority expected to come from modern renewable sources (BEIS, 2022; The Government of the United Kingdom, 2022).

4.4 Comparing Germany and the UK

Table 4.3 summarises the key features of historical and planned technological changes and state interventions in Germany and the UK from 1960 to 2030. It shows that the electricity transitions in these countries were generally similar until the 1980s, with no technological decline, and the state supported various sources to meet the rapidly growing demand for

electricity. However, after the 1980s, state actions diverged, with Germany starting to phase out nuclear power and then coal, while the UK started to phase out coal and subsequently natural gas. Moreover, modern renewables started to develop slightly earlier in Germany, involving more actors in their development compared to the UK. The different trajectories of natural gas power largely reflect varying developments in coal, nuclear power and modern renewables, which I will further explain in the following subsections. This section, therefore, primarily focuses on comparing the technological evolutions of coal, nuclear power, and modern renewables with reference to natural gas while examining the similarities and differences in state interventions in the transitions.

Table 4.3: Historical and planned electricity transitions and state interventions in Germany and the UK in 1960-2030.

Notes: The colours indicate the speed of technical changes, with dark blue representing rapid growth (more than 2% growth/year), light blue growth (1-2% growth/year), grey stagnation (less than 1% growth or decline/year), light red decline (1-2% decline/year), and dark red rapid decline (more than 2% decline/year).

		1960-1970	1970-1980	1980-1990	1990-2000	2000-2010	2010-2020	2020-2030
Oil	DE	negligible						
	GB	Supportive 'four-fuel economy' policy to promote its use	negligible					
D Coal G	DE	Supportive 'coal penny' to protect the industry		Supportive removal of the 'coal penny' in 1995 while introducing a series of including nuclear phase-out, tax exemptions, 'windfall of profit		Supporting policies gradual phase-out policies with schemes		vith generous compensation
	GB	Supportive 'controlled rundown' policy to while promoting its use for ele	p phase-down the industry ectricity generation	Destabilising framing it as a 'sick industry' and reducing support	Neutral/destabilising liberalisation policies to trigger 'rush from coal'	Supportive investing in CCS to prolong coal power	Destabilising phase-out policies incl. carbon tax and PPCA	negligible
Gas	DE	negligible	Supportive investing in gas pipelines to support its use	Supportive Increasingly supporting gas as a	"bridge source"			
	GB	negligible			Neutral/supportive liberalisation policies to trigger 'dash to gas'	Destabilising reducing support as domestic reserves depleted	Destabilising phase-out policies incl. carbon tax and PPCA	Destabilising fossil phase-out
DE Nuclear GB	DE	negligible	Supportive negligible promoting the development as the 'second pillar' of energy			Destabilising introducing nuclear phase-out to initiate the decline towards 2022 Destabilising re-committing to phase out by 2022 after Fukush		
	GB	Supportive	espite a number of technical and	financial issues	Supportive implementing a number of support schemes to prevent the decline			
D Mod.RES G	DE	negligible Supportive industrial policy to develop strong manufacturing capacity for so			ar and wind Supportive promoting distributed deployments Supportive increasing commitment and policy support a 100% renewable energy system		policy support for /stem	
	GB	negligible				Supportive promoting centralised deployments	Supportive increasing commitment and continuing to favour centrali	policy support while ised deployments

4.4.1 State actions and coal

The evolution of coal power in Germany and the UK can be divided into multiple distinct periods, exhibiting remarkable overall similarities but also notable differences between the two countries. Before delving into their divergences, it is important to emphasise the similarities: both nations experienced a peak in coal electricity generation in 1990, followed by periods of relative stagnation and a steady decline that persisted for 20 years (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Coal power in Germany and the UK as % of the peak value, 1960-2040

The main difference lies in the sequencing of these periods of stagnation. In the UK, a period of stagnation followed the initial steep decline and lasted for about 14 years (1998-2012). In Germany, a longer period of stagnation occurred after the peak, lasting around 24 years (1990-2014). Consequently, Germany will phase out coal electricity 10 years later than the UK due to this longer period of stagnation.

The important question is whether and how the state contributed to these patterns in each country. There are two similar state actions. The first was the liberalisation of electricity markets in the 1990s (including the removal of the 'coal penny' in Germany in 1995), after which coal electricity started to decline, though much more profoundly in the UK. The second similarity has been actively supporting modern renewables over the last decades and politically committing to coal phase-out in the late 2010s.

In two instances, however, it is shown that Germany takes a more active stance on coal by resisting market forces, while the UK leverages these forces to destabilise the industry. The first case relates to the period following the liberalisation of the electricity market in the 1990s. During the eight years following the liberalisation in 1990, coal power in the UK fell by almost half, replaced by domestic gas from the North Sea fields, due to the removal of long-standing policies that had protected the coal industry. In contrast, the use of coal power in Germany remained stable for 19 years, even after the removal of the 'coal penny' in 1995.

If so, one could argue that the stability of coal production in Germany can simply be explained by the lack of an alternative source similar to North Sea gas. This argument is, however, only partially true. There were alternatives to coal in Germany that were at least as viable as in the UK. The production of modern renewable electricity in Germany grew by ca. 140 TWh between 1995 and 2014, while the demand grew by ca. 60 TWh. This almost exactly matches the shifts in the UK, where gas electricity increased by ca. 120 TWh and the demand increased by ca. 40 TWh between 1990 and 1998. However, in the UK, during this period, coal rapidly declined by ca. 85 TWh (almost equal to the difference between gas increase and demand growth). In contrast, in Germany, it declined only marginally, less than 10 TWh, between 1995 and 2014. This lack of coal decline in Germany between 1995 and 2014 was enabled by the state to politically steer the growth of modern renewables to solely destabilise nuclear power. If modern renewables in Germany were substituting coal rather than nuclear, coal power in Germany in 2014 would be at ca. 50% of the peak value, which is exactly the same as the UK in the same year (Figure 4.3). Instead, the nuclear phase-out policy in Germany, first implemented in 2002 and re-affirmed in 2011 after Fukushima, ensured that the growth of modern renewables would not harm the coal industry (Cherp et al., 2017). In parallel, the state supported the coal industry in preventing its decline through a number of additional policies, including taxing natural gas, another competitor to coal generation. As a result, there was a significant investment in new coal power plants in Germany throughout the 2000s and even the 2010s, something that would complicate its final phase-out in Germany, as I discuss below.

The second case, demonstrating Germany's more active stance on coal, pertains to the coal phase-out policies of both countries. While the UK is primarily retiring old power plants that have exceeded their average lifetime and rely exclusively on imported coal, Germany, in the final phase of its coal exit plan, will need to retire many younger power plants constructed in the 2010s and close domestic lignite coal mines. This endeavour proved to be significantly costly, with the German government allocating over 40 billion Euros to support affected industries and regions (German Federal Government, 2020). Interestingly, while Germany's initial action aimed to slow down the demise of coal, its subsequent action involved accelerating it through substantial state financing. Consequently, the overall trajectories of the decline of coal power in Germany and the UK have been and are planned to remain remarkably similar.

In summary, in the UK, the state removed protective measures over coal generation and let it be ravaged by market forces in the 1990s, relatively sparing it in the 2000s, but decided to phase out the technology in the 2010s. In contrast, Germany, while also removing some protection by abolishing the 'coal penny', notably shielded the coal industry between 1990 and 2014 by eliminating one of its main competitors, nuclear power, and taxing the other, natural gas. Both states are currently aiming to phase out coal, but they face different costs and timelines. The UK can achieve this with minimal costs and on an earlier timeline, while Germany would require a more protracted and expensive process. All in all, ca. 35-45 years after reaching peak production, coal generation in both countries will be gone.

4.4.2 State actions and nuclear power

Nuclear power in both countries steadily increased to provide a peak supply of ca. 30% of their electricity around 2000. It subsequently experienced a similar decline throughout the 2000s, but in the following decades, the trajectories of the two countries diverged: Germany continued the decline and completely phased out nuclear power in 2023, while the UK has been politically supporting its preservation and redevelopment, aiming for nuclear power to provide ca. 25% of electricity by 2050 (Figure 4.4).

The reason for the phase-out of nuclear power in Germany, but not in the UK, can be explained by the presence of competitors and varying levels of political support for nuclear power. In Germany, nuclear power faced increasing competition from rapidly growing modern renewables, as well as increasingly hostile political actions against the technology since the 1990s. On the other hand, nuclear power in the UK did not have such competitors because coal power was competing with gas (increasingly imported versus domestic) in the 1990s. Furthermore, there was no political incentive to destabilise nuclear power in the 2000s because it became the only reliable source of (quasi-)domestic energy when domestic gas reserves started to deplete, and modern renewables were not yet available on a large scale.



Figure 4.4: Nuclear power generation in Germany and the UK as % of peak value

Notes: Historical data (1960-2021) is sourced from IEA (2022). Germany phased out nuclear power in April 2023. The UK's target data is from BEIS (2022), supplemented by the current governmental target to develop up to 24GW of nuclear power capacity to supply 25% of electricity by 2050. The weighted average load factor in the UK in 1960-2022 was used to calculate the amount of electricity (TWh) produced in 2050.

As a result, nuclear power was entirely phased out in Germany in 2023, prompting the country to expedite investments in natural gas, particularly after the energy crisis following the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022. In contrast, as modern renewables became more readily available and political motivations to mitigate climate change grew stronger, the UK positioned nuclear power as a pivotal element in decarbonising its energy system by gradually phasing out all fossil fuels, including natural gas, from the electricity supply.

4.4.3 State actions and modern renewables

Germany and the UK have taken different approaches to developing renewable technologies over the last few decades, driven by their distinct national objectives. Germany's initial focus was on developing a robust manufacturing sector with exporting capabilities, and investing in renewables played a crucial role in achieving this goal. On the other hand, the UK's energy policy did not prioritise industrial expansion. Instead, it initially adhered to the mainstream 'free-market paradigm' in the country during the 1990s. Consequently, the UK concentrated on deploying renewable technologies through market-oriented schemes, adopting these technologies as they became commercially viable through the efforts of other countries.

As a result of these varying strategies, Germany took an early lead in the development of solar and wind power compared to the UK (Figure 4.5). However, both countries experienced synchronous growth in low-carbon electricity based on biofuels, particularly waste-togeneration, as it was already cost-competitive in the 1990s.



Figure 4.5: Low-carbon electricity growth in Germany, and the UK

Figure 4.5 also demonstrates that the UK caught up with Germany in deploying wind power in the 2010s, contributing to over 20% of its electricity supply in 2020, facilitated by additional support for large-scale offshore wind development. However, the expansion of solar power in the UK still lagged behind Germany. This difference may be attributed to the UK's inclination towards the development of large-scale renewable projects, driven by existing industry actors, as opposed to the more distributed approach involving numerous actors in Germany.

Overall, while both Germany and the UK gradually accelerated the development of renewable energy technologies, their divergent approaches and varying priorities influenced the timing, extent, and type (distributed or concentrated energy systems) of their advancements in specific renewable technologies.

4.5 Comparing the speed of technological growth and decline

In the previous section (4.4), I identified a number of differences in national circumstances and state interventions regarding electricity transitions in Germany and the UK from 1960 to 2030, particularly after 1980. The biggest differences have been:

- Germany's proactive approach to coal power, shielding it from decline for several decades and subsequently destabilising it with substantial state financing towards the 2030s.
- 2. The contrasting approach between the two countries for nuclear power, where Germany politically phased it out by 2023, while the UK has increasingly protected and aimed to revitalise the use of the technology in the future.
- Different national objectives for developing modern renewables, resulting in variations in the timing, extent, and type (distributed or concentrated energy systems) of development of these technologies across the countries.
- 4. The contrasting policies in the future role of natural gas as a consequence of these diverging interventions on coal, nuclear power, and modern renewables.

Given these differences in national circumstances and policies, one might anticipate a substantial divergence in the pace of energy transitions between the two countries. However, the following subsections will demonstrate that, when aggregated, the speed of technological growth and decline has been and is planned to remain remarkably similar between Germany and the UK.

4.5.1 Comparing the growth of modern renewables

Despite the differences in the objectives, timings, extents, as well as types of state interventions and market developments, the growth speed of modern renewables in Germany and the UK, when all sources are considered together, has been and is planned to remain remarkably similar over the last few decades and in the future (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6: Aggregated growth of modern renewables in Germany and the UK

After reaching a 1% share of the market in 1997 in Germany and 1999 in the UK, respectively, the growth was initially slightly faster in Germany than in the UK. This difference can be explained by variations in the initial objectives of developing renewable technologies in the two countries (see subsection 4.4.3 for more details). However, after 2011, with the increasing political and financial support provided to offshore wind, the UK started to outpace Germany's growth speed. This may indicate that more centralised development of renewables such as offshore wind farms, can develop faster than distributed deployments such as solar rooftops. Nevertheless, both countries supplied about 40% of electricity from modern renewables in

Notes: The Y-axis shows the number of years after the source reached a 1% share of electricity. The 2030 target of Germany is the average of the two recent national projections (Kemmler et al., 2020; Sprenger and Schäfer, 2022), which would best reflect the most recent development in the country to accelerate developing modern renewables, thereby phasing out coal in the early 2030s. The 2030 target of the UK is obtained from the official projection published in 2022 (BEIS, 2022).

2021, after 40 to 50 years since the initial investments in the technologies or after 22 to 24 years after reaching a 1% share of electricity supply (slightly less than a 2% share growth per year).

The recent national projections towards 2030 show linear growth in both countries, with the UK slightly outpacing Germany, supplying 70-73% of electricity from modern renewables in 2030.

4.5.2 Comparing the decline of incumbent technologies

Similar to the nearly identical growth speed of modern renewables in recent decades and projected for the future, the decline rate of incumbent technologies in Germany (nuclear power and coal) and the UK (natural gas and coal) also exhibits great similarities, particularly after the late 2000s. On the one hand, the targeted incumbent technologies for decline in Germany had a larger share of electricity generation in 1990, but their decline has progressed more steadily compared to the UK up to today. On the other hand, this also means that the rate of decline has been slightly faster in the UK after the late 2000s (36% drop in the UK vs 29% in Germany) than in Germany, where no technology declined more than 20% per decade throughout the scope of analysis (Figure 4.7).

This later but faster decline of incumbent technologies in the UK compared to Germany may be explained by the fact that it was only after the late 2000s that the UK started to re-intensify its intervention in the energy market, including accelerating the deployment of modern renewables. Another explanation is that electricity demand also began to decline around the same time in the UK, which may have necessitated accelerating the decline of incumbent technologies to make room for the increasingly growing renewables in the shrinking market.



Figure 4.7: Aggregated decline of incumbent technologies in Germany and the UK

Notes: The 2030 target of Germany is the average of the two recent national projections (Kemmler et al., 2020; Sprenger and Schäfer, 2022), which would best reflect the most recent developments in the country to accelerate the development of modern renewables, and thereby phasing out coal in the early 2030s. The 2030 target of the UK is obtained from the most recent projection of the government (BEIS, 2022)

Looking at recent projections, Germany forecasts a continuously steady decline towards 2030, while the UK projects a slightly slower decline.

All in all, the decline speed of incumbent technologies has been and is planned to be remarkably similar between Germany and the UK since the late 2000s. This may indicate that while state policies can influence the choice of energy technologies to be used in the market (renewables and natural gas in Germany, and renewables and nuclear power in the UK), the speed of technological decline cannot be significantly altered. Alternatively, it may be the case that while pursuing different technological transitions through a variety of policies, Germany and the UK could be both operating at the forefront of technological decline speed.

4.6 Summary

This chapter conducted a longitudinal comparative analysis of historical and planned electricity transitions in Germany and the UK with a focus on comparing state interventions and their outcomes including plans between 1960 and 2030. By systematically identifying notable

decadal episodes of technological growth and decline and tracing the influence of state policies, I revealed both similarities and differences in their state interventions. The most prominent disparities were found in the extensive state-led developments of coal, natural gas, nuclear power, and modern renewables since the 1980s.

Interestingly, despite these differences in state actions, the speeds of technological growth and decline have been and are planned to remain remarkably similar between Germany and the UK. This raises the question of whether there exists a regularity or limit to the speeds of technological change, or if these countries are at the forefront of politically accelerating these speeds. Moreover, it is important to clarify how these speeds compare to what is necessary to mitigate climate change.

The following chapter will address these inquiries by expanding the analysis to include the other G7 countries and the EU. It will focus on comparing the speeds of historical and required electricity transitions to limit the global temperature increase below 1.5°C, shedding light on the broader implications for climate change mitigation in the future.

5. Historical and required transitions in the G7 and the EU5.1 Introduction

The previous chapter (4) finds that while the UK and Germany have pursued different state policies, particularly for coal, natural gas, nuclear power, and modern renewables in recent decades, the speeds of technological growth and decline have shown remarkable similarities. In addition to the comparative analysis across countries, this chapter conducts a comparative analysis across time-periods. By doing so, this chapter investigates whether and how climate policies in recent decades have altered energy transitions beyond historical trends. Furthermore, it examines the implication of this historical analysis for achieving climate targets in the future.

The cases chosen for this chapter are the G7 countries and the EU in the electricity sector, where the majority of climate policies have been implemented in the last decades. As among the largest economies with significant economic, financial, and technological capabilities, these countries have consistently made commitments to mitigating climate change and have faced increasing pressure to lead these efforts over the last decades (Kirton and Kokotsis, 2015). The G7 and the EU also committed to decarbonising electricity "fully or predominantly" in 2022 by 2035 (G7, 2022), which is outlined as a major milestone by the IEA to keep the global temperature increase below 1.5°C. In other words, if this target is not met by the G7 and the EU as well as the rest of the developed countries, achieving the global 1.5°C temperature goal would be extremely challenging, if not impossible.

The following main research question will guide the rest of the chapter:

• Have climate policies altered energy transitions beyond historical trends, if so, how in light of climate target requirements?

To operationalise the analysis, this question is further divided into the following subset of questions.

- How has the energy sector evolved in the G7 and the EU over the last six decades?
- Is there any evidence that climate policies have significantly altered the nature and speed of energy transitions beyond historically observed trends?
- What are the implications of the observed trends and the effects of climate policies for achieving climate targets?

5.2 Historical and required evolution of the electricity sector

5.2.1 Electricity generation in 1960-2035

Electricity generation in the G7 countries and the EU steadily increased over five times from 1960 to 2005, after which the growth stagnated (Figure 5.1). Fossil fuels had been the main source of electricity; however, their share decreased from its peak of 76% in 1970 to 52% in 2020. In absolute terms, fossil fuel-based electricity increased from ca. 1100 TWh in 1960 to its peak in 2005 at ca. 5700 TWh and declined thereafter to ca. 4800 TWh in 2020. Among low-carbon sources, hydropower stagnated after 1995 at ca. 1100 TWh, nuclear power peaked in 2005 at ca. 2200 TWh and gradually declined thereafter, and modern renewables (all renewable sources excluding hydro) grew progressively faster after 1990 from 100 TWh to ca. 1500 TWh in 2020. Combined, low-carbon electricity grew from ca. 500 TWh (30%) in 1960 to ca. 4400 TWh (48%) in 2020.

In the future, according to the IEA 1.5°C pathway, electricity generation in the G7 and the EU needs to grow by 40% from 2020 to 2035 to reach ca. 13000 TWh in order to decarbonise other sectors through electrification (IEA, 2021a). Historically, such level of demand growth in the G7 and the EU always entailed the growth of all supply technologies. In contrast, following the IEA 1.5°C pathway requires only low-carbon sources to grow and fossil fuels to decline.

In particular, modern renewables are expected to produce most of the electricity (ca. 8300



TWh) in 2035, almost equivalent to the total electricity generation in 2020.

Figure 5.1: Historical and required electricity generation to limit the temperature increase below 1.5°C in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035.

Note: Mod.RES refers to modern renewables which include all renewable sources excluding hydro (See Table 3.1 for source categories). Other LC includes ammonia, hydrogen, and fossil fuel with carbon capture, utilisation, and storage (CCUS). The data of some EU member states are only available and were included later than 1960 (see Table A2 for the first year of available data for the EU member states).

5.2.2 Speed of technological changes and climate policies

Between 1960 and 2020, electricity sources generally grew progressively slower over time in

the G7 and the EU on average: fossil fuels achieved the highest growth rate among all sources

at 6.6% per year in 1965–1970, followed by nuclear power at 2% in 1980–1985, and modern

renewables at 1.1% in 2015-2020 (Figure 5.2A).



Figure 5.2: Speed of historical and required electricity transitions (A), and the number of climate policies introduced in 1960-2035 in the G7 and the EU (B).

Notes: Years are expressed in two digits (60-65 refers to 1960-1965). Mod.RES refers to modern renewables which include all renewable sources excluding hydro. Other LC includes low-carbon electricity produced from ammonia, hydrogen, and fossil fuels with CCUS. Despite the increase in the number of climate policies particularly after 1990, the growth rate of low-carbon technologies has remained lower than the pre-1990 rates (e.g. 1.1% in 15-20 in comparison to 2.3% in 80-85), and significantly lower than the required rate (i.e. 5.1% in 20-35) to achieve climate targets.

In contrast, the number of climate policies introduced increased particularly after 1990, reaching its peak in 2005–2010 and starting to decrease thereafter (Figure 5.2B). It is important to note that while the number of climate policies introduced serves as an indicator of political activity aimed at mitigating climate change, it does not necessarily reflect the strength of climate governance, as policies introduced earlier may still be in effect. Additionally, a higher number of policies introduced does not necessarily indicate stronger climate governance, as the stringency of each policy is not extensively analysed in the Climate Policy Database (NewClimate Institute et al., 2023). Recent research, however, does argue that the cumulative number of policies in force, often referred to as "policy density" and understood as the level of political ambition, has increased over time globally (Schaub et al., 2022). I also see this phenomenon in the G7 and the EU as a whole as well as individually (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3: Number of climate policies in force in the G7 and the EU as a whole and individually in 1960-2020

Note: To calculate the number of climate policies in force each year, I aggregate the count of policies introduced in that year or earlier, excluding those that were terminated by that year. However, it should be noted that the end year of policies registered in the Climate Policy Database is rarely recorded, presumably due to the difficulty of tracking policy terminations compared to their introductions. Consequently, the total number of policies in force may be overestimated.

Most of these policies have been targeted at the electricity sector, except in 2015-2020 (Figure 5.2B). It is also notable that fossil fuels experienced a progressive decline, accelerating after 2005 when the demand started to stagnate and decline. In the period of 2015-2020, fossil fuels recorded an annual decline rate of -1.3%.

The negative correlation between the increasing number of climate policies introduced and the slower growth of new energy technologies, as well as the phenomenon that fossil fuels decline only under the stagnating demand, can also be generally observed in the G7 member states individually (Figure 5.4).





Figure 5.4: Speed of historical electricity transitions in 1960-2020 in the G7 main member states

Note: To account for the limited availability of data regarding the targeted share of each low-carbon source in individual countries in 2035, a new category called "All.LC" is introduced in the figure which includes all low-carbon sources (i.e. other than fossil fuels). The required rates of "All.LC" growth and "Fossil fuels" decline for individual countries in 2020-2035 are calculated based on the assumption that the level of decarbonisation targeted by the IEA for the G7+EU countries as a whole (i.e. 98% low-carbon) would also be achieved individually. Consequently, countries with a lower share of low-carbon electricity today would need to achieve a higher growth rate in 2020-2035. All change rates are calculated based on the same method described in Section 3.3.1.

It is important to point out that while modern renewables started to develop particularly after

1990 (Figure 5.2A), its previously steady acceleration in the growth rate began to stagnate in

the 2010s: the rate during 2015-2020 was only 0.1% higher compared to the rate observed in

2010-2015. This occurred despite the continuous decrease in costs for solar, onshore and offshore wind technologies, as shown in Figure 5.5.



Figure 5.5: Costs of solar, onshore, and offshore wind in comparison to yearly addition of modern renewables in the G7 and the EU in 2000-2020 and the required addition in 2020-2035

Note: The costs represent the global weighted average costs of these technologies obtained from IRENA (IRENA, 2022).

Achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway in the G7 and the EU requires significant acceleration to develop low-carbon sources at an annual rate of 5.1% in 2020-2035, with modern renewables growing at 4.1%, which is more than twice as fast as the rate of nuclear power deployment in 1980-1985. In contrast, fossil fuels need to decline at an annual rate of -2.7% during the same period, and the overall electricity supply needs to grow at 2.4%, which is higher than all periods after 1990 (Figure 5.2A).

5.2.3 Evolution of the type and speed of electricity transitions

Figure 5.6 synthesises the findings from Sections 5.2.1 and 5.2.2, illustrating the evolution of the type and speed of electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035 based on the typology of energy transitions developed in this dissertation (see Figure 3.2).


Figure 5.6: Historical and required electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035.

Notes: The pies show the electricity mix at the end of the five-year episodes in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2020 and the required mix in 2035 to keep the global temperature increase below 1.5°C. The size of pies indicates total generation, while colours represent sources. Texts next to pies refer to years (e.g. 15-20 is the episode in 2015-2020).

Between 1960 and 1980, the electricity sector in the G7 and the EU experienced significant growth through energy additions. This period was characterised by a rapid increase in electricity demand, which was supplied by various technologies, with fossil fuels playing a predominant role. However, a notable shift towards low-carbon substitutions occurred in the subsequent period of 1980–1985. This shift was made possible by the rapid expansion of

nuclear power following the oil crises in the 1970s, resulting in the historically highest annual growth of low-carbon electricity up to today, reaching 2.3% (also see Figure 5.2). On the other hand, this progress towards decarbonisation was not sustained, as the growth of nuclear power soon stagnated, resulting in a re-emergence of reliance on fossil fuels. Consequently, the G7 and the EU reverted to undergoing energy additions in 1985–1990.

While the number of climate policies introduced increased particularly after 1990 (Figure 5.2B and Figure 5.3), the G7 and the EU continued to undergo energy additions between 1990 and 2005. During this period, the resurgence of energy additions was once again predominantly fuelled by fossil fuels, although the growth rate was modest compared to the preceding decades. This slower growth can be attributed to the limited increase in electricity demand.

However, starting in 2005, the G7 and the EU entered a new period of low-carbon substitutions, characterised by the increasing adoption of modern renewables (Figure 5.1). Unlike the first period of low-carbon substitutions in 1980–1985, this second period was facilitated by a decline in electricity demand, which made it possible for the moderately growing low-carbon electricity at 1% (i.e. half of the speed achieved in 1980–1985, despite the increasing number of climate policies introduced) to replace fossil fuels (see Figure 5.2).

The individual historical trajectories of the G7 main member states generally show a similar trend observed in the G7 and the EU as a whole (Figure 5.7).



Figure 5.7: Historical developments of the electricity sector in the G7 main member states in 1960-2035.

Notes: The pies show the electricity mix at the end of the five-year episodes in the G7 in 1960-2020 and the required mix in 2035 to achieve 1.5°C. The size of pies indicates total generation, while colours represent sources. Texts next to pies refer to years (e.g. 15-20 is the episode in 2015-2020).



Figure 5.7 (continued).

In contrast to the incremental progress of low-carbon substitutions observed from 2005 to 2020, following the IEA 1.5°C pathway requires immediate and significant acceleration to develop low-carbon electricity five times faster and reduce fossil fuels two times faster than what was observed in 2015–2020 in the G7 and the EU.

5.2.4 Frontier speed of national low-carbon substitutions in 2020

Figure 5.8 illustrates the fastest five-year low-carbon substitution episodes in 1960–2020 in the G7 and the EU as well as comparable countries, and the empirically grounded speed zones delineated by their density, as outlined in Figure 3.3 (see also subsection 3.3.3 for detailed methods). The required low-carbon substitutions under the IEA 1.5°C pathway for the G7 and the EU fall within the fastest 5% speed zone. This means that all the G7 countries and the EU would need to replicate the historical top 5% fastest low-carbon substitutions achieved at the individual country level⁵, and sustain such speed for 15 years in 2020–2035.



Figure 5.8: Speed zones, and historical, required and frontiers of low-carbon energy transitions

Notes: Speed zones are defined by the density of historical episodes, which are divided into bands based on the frequency of observation (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.3 for detailed framework and methods). Pies are the fastest five-year episodes of low-carbon substitutions in countries with more than 100 TWh at the time of the episodes in 1960–2020. The pie size indicates the total generation, while the colours represent the electricity mix at the end of the episodes. The number of observations in each speed zone does not necessarily perfectly match the indicated proportion due to the smoothing effect of the density estimation function. See Table A1 for country codes and Table 3.3 for the details of the episodes.

⁵ Note that this "top 5% fastest" is the proportion out of the total number of low-carbon substitution episodes, which represents around one-fourth of all episodes including the other energy transition types. In other words, this top 5% of low-carbon substitution episodes is equal to 1.25% of all historical episodes analysed.

Three out of 56 low-carbon substitution episodes achieved this top 5% speed in 1960–2020: FR79-84, ES82-87 and UA91-96. Table 5.1 shows that these three episodes, along with the 10 episodes that achieved above the top 25% speed, generally exhibit similar characteristics to those observed in the transitions of the G7 and the EU as a whole (Figure 5.6). During the previous low-carbon substitution episodes primarily driven by nuclear power before 1990, lowcarbon electricity experienced faster growth, but fossil fuels did not decline significantly. Contrastingly in the more recent low-carbon substitution episodes instead primarily driven by modern renewables, fossil fuels exhibited a faster decline under the declining demand for electricity, but low-carbon electricity did not show substantial growth.

Table 5.1: Fastest 25% episodes of low-carbon substitutions in the G7 and the EU and comparable countries in 1960-2020 in comparison to the required transition of the G7 and the EU in 2020-2035.

Episode	Country	Year		Annual change rate						
		Start	End	Demand	Demand Transition speed		Low-carbon	on major source		
FR79-84	France	1979 1984		5.6%	14.4%	-4.4%	10.0%	Nuclear	10.2%	
SE79-84	Sweden	1979	1984	5.2%	8.0%	-1.4%	6.6%	Nuclear	4.9%	
BR79-84	Brazil	1979	1984	6.9%	6.9%	0.0%	6.9%	Hydro	6.5%	
ES82-87	Spain	1982	1987	3.3%	9.1%	-2.9%	6.2%	Nuclear	5.4%	
FR84-89	France	1984	1989	4.6%	7.0%	-1.2%	5.8%	Nuclear	6.2%	
UA91-96	Ukraine	1991	1996	-7.9%	8.1%	-8.0%	0.1%	Nuclear	0.1%	
VE02-07	Venezuela	2002	2007	4.5%	4.7%	-0.1%	4.6%	Hydro	4.6%	
IT08-13	Italy	2008	2013	-1.1%	7.8%	-4.4%	3.4%	Mod.RES	2.7%	
ES08-13	Spain	2008	2013	-1.2%	6.8%	-4.0%	2.8%	Mod.RES	2.2%	
GB11-16	United Kingdom	2011	2016	-1.9%	8.4%	-5.1%	3.3%	Mod.RES	3.0%	
JP15-20	Japan	2015	2020	-1.0%	5.0%	-3.0%	2.0%	Mod.RES	1.1%	
DE15-20	Germany	2015	2020	-1.6%	4.2%	-2.9%	1.3%	Mod.RES	2.0%	
UA15-20	Ukraine	2015	2020	-2.3%	3.0%	-2.6%	0.3%	Mod.RES	0.7%	
G7_20-35	G7+EU	2020	2035	2.4%	7.8%	-2.7%	5.1%	Mod.RES	4.1%	

Note: The required transition for the G7 and the EU and the historical episodes with compatible speeds are bolded.

These distinct characteristics observed in the previous and more recent low-carbon substitution episodes produce two distinct speed frontiers (Figure 5.8). As a result, there are a few precedents that can be directly compared to the transition necessary for the G7 and the EU in the future, where both the growth of low-carbon electricity and the decline of fossil fuels must

occur rapidly at the same time. Only France in 1979–1984 and Spain in 1982–1987 exceeded the required rates, although these high speeds were sustained only for five years.

No country has sustained the required transition speeds for a continuous period of 15 years, although there have been some notable episodes that have come close (Figure 5.9). Four episodes achieved the fastest 25 to 5% speed: France in 1972–1987, Sweden in 1971–1986, the UK in 2005–2020, and Ukraine in 1990–2005. These episodes once again demonstrate the same distinct characteristics of the previous and more recent low-carbon substitution episodes, leaving no precedent directly comparable to the required transition in the G7 and the EU in 2020–2035.



Figure 5.9: Required speed of low-carbon substitutions in 2020-2035, compared to the historically top 10 fastest episodes of low-carbon substitutions for 15 years in all case countries.

Notes: Bars depict the growth of low-carbon electricity (above 0) and the decline of fossil fuels (below 0), while colours represent the shares of energy sources within. Texts at the top of the bars indicate transition speeds, which are the aggregated rates of fossil decline and low-carbon growth (this is calculated using the same approach described in 3.3.1, but for 15 years instead of five years). See Table A1 for country codes.

5.2.5 Latest developments

In 2020-2022, none of the G7 countries and the EU achieved or made significant progress towards the required rate of low-carbon substitutions, as shown in Figure 5.10. Apart from Japan, all member states increased their reliance on fossil fuels for electricity generation. Specifically, the UK, Germany, and Italy experienced a stagnation or significant decline in low-carbon electricity, with Germany and Italy undergoing a notable shift towards high-carbon substitutions. Although Japan underwent low-carbon substitutions in 2020-2022, its rate remained at the slowest 50% speed, far from the required fastest 5% speed to follow the IEA 1.5°C pathway.



Figure 5.10: Latest developments in the G7 countries and the EU.

Notes: EU24 countries are EU member states excluding France, Germany, and Italy. Canada and France are excluded as their electricity generation is almost fully decarbonised. However, they would still need to accelerate the development of low-carbon sources to be compatible with the IEA 1.5°C pathway.

5.3 Comparing the historical and required electricity transitions

This section comes back to the three questions asked in this paper: (1) How has the energy sector evolved in the G7 and the EU over the last six decades?; (2) Is there any evidence that climate policies have significantly altered the nature and speed of energy transitions beyond historically observed trends?; and (3) What are the implications of the observed trends and the impacts of climate policies for achieving climate targets in the future?

5.3.1 Evolution of the electricity sector in the G7 and the EU

Table 5.2 summarises the key features of electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035. The overarching historical trend is that technological changes in the electricity sector in the G7 and the EU have strongly correlated with changes in electricity demand. As the demand for electricity grew, all energy technologies tended to grow, but as demand declined, some of the technologies declined (Table 5.2 and Figure 5.2A).

		Number of		Supply: technological	Types of energy transitions		
Period		climate policies introduced	Demand	Fossil fuels	Low-carbon (main growing source)	and speed	
Historical	1960-1975	14 (8)	Rapid growth (>4%)	Rapid growth: max 6.6%	Growth: max 1.9% (Nuclear power)	Rapid energy additions (marginal low-carbon substitutions in 1980-1985)	
	1975-1990	44 (28)	Growth (>2%)	Growth: max 2% (marginally declined in 1980-1985)	Growth: max 2.3% (Nuclear power)		
	1990-2005	718 (427)	Stagnation (< 2%)	Growth: max 1.4%	Growth: max 1.1% (Modern renewables)	Slow energy additions	
	2005-2020	1435 (728)	Decline (<0%)	Decline: max -1.3%	Growth: max 1.0% (Modern renewables)	Slow low-carbon substitutions	
Required	2020-2035	NA	Growth (2.5%)	Decline: - 2.7%	Rapid growth: 5.1%	Rapid low-carbon substitutions	

Table 5.2: Historical and required electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU in 1960-2035.

Notes: In the column "# of climate policies introduced", the top number represents the total count of policies introduced, while the number in brackets indicates the subset of policies introduced specifically targeting the electricity sector. In the column "Supply: technological changes and speed", the term "max (speed)" refers to the highest rate of technological changes observed within each timeframe. For example, the entry "Growth: max 2.3%" in 1975-1990 was achieved during 1980-1985, mainly through the adoption of nuclear power.

It is thus more common to observe rapidly growing technologies under increasing demand or declining technologies under stagnating demand, though such demand conditions are often neglected in the literature (see, for example, Cherp et al. (2017) on the impacts of different demand conditions for the development of modern renewables and nuclear power in Germany and Japan).

5.3.2 Effects of climate policies

In parallel with these changes in electricity demand and the use of various technologies, the number of climate policies introduced progressively increased in the G7 and the EU particularly after 1990 (Table 5.2). Have these policies significantly altered the historically demand-led technological changes, and if so, how? One clear influence is the recent growth of modern renewables particularly after 2005 (Table 5.2 and Figure 5.2A) which took place under the stagnating and declining demand for electricity. Since there are no past analogies to demand decline, it is difficult to say whether the growth of a new technology under such conditions is historically unique. Still, it is very likely that climate policies have contributed to this phenomenon and thereby facilitated low-carbon substitutions between 2005 and 2020.

However, climate policies have not accelerated the growth of modern renewables beyond the historical rates of other technologies (Figure 5.2A). Here, nuclear power serves as a particularly relevant benchmark, as it was also accelerated by policies following the oil crises in the 1970s (Brutschin et al., 2021; Cherp et al., 2017; Ikenberry, 1986), leading to the first but limited period of low-carbon substitutions in 1980–1985 in the G7 and the EU (Figure 5.6). Interestingly, the growth of nuclear power in the 1970s–80s outpaced the recent growth of all modern renewables combined (Figure 5.11) (also see Fig. A1 for comparison in terms of generation). This contradicts the commonly held view that distributed renewable technologies

grow faster than conventional technologies because of their faster learning effects and acceleration due to climate policies (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Wilson et al., 2020).



Figure 5.11: Growth of nuclear power and modern renewables in the share of electricity generation after reaching a 1% market share in the G7 and the EU.

Notes: The x-axis represents the number of years after each source supplying 1% of electricity.

Nuclear power has so far also grown faster in individual G7 countries and the EU except for Germany (where it grew at the same speed) and the UK and Italy (where it grew slower) (Figure 5.12). Nevertheless, even the fastest growth of modern renewables in the UK still falls short of the rate required by the IEA 1.5°C pathway. The growth of modern renewables, therefore, needs to be significantly accelerated in all the G7 countries and the EU to keep the global temperature increase to 1.5°C. However, the acceleration in their growth stagnated in the 2010s despite their continuously decreasing costs (Figure 5.5), indicating that re-accelerating the growth would need much stronger policies than historically observed.



Figure 5.12: Growth speed of nuclear power and modern renewables in the share of electricity generation after reaching a 1% market share in the G7 main member states.

Notes: The x-axis represents the number of years after each source supplying 1% of electricity.

The progress towards decarbonisation in the G7 and the EU has been, therefore, derailed after the first period of low-carbon substitutions in 1980–1985 and slowed down by the limited availability of low-carbon electricity due to the stagnation and decline of nuclear power and the relatively slow growth of modern renewables to compensate for the shortfall (Figure 5.6). As a result, the historical annual maximum growth rate of low-carbon electricity in the G7 and the EU on average remains the record achieved predominantly by nuclear power in 1980–1985 at 2.3%, compared to the most recent rate at 1.0% led by modern renewables in 2015–2020 (Table 5.2).

Since the changes in the use of energy technologies have correlated with the changes in electricity demand, it is logical to ask whether climate policies have impacted the electricity

demand dynamics. The increase in climate policies did take place when the electricity demand stagnated and declined, particularly after 1990 (Figure 5.3). However, climate policies did not accelerate demand reduction compared to the past, as a more pronounced reduction occurred between 1970 and 1985 when climate policies were largely absent (Figure 5.3). Looking at individual countries, however, at least a similar speed of demand reduction to the past was recently observed in the UK, Germany and Italy, where a rapid decline of fossil fuels was accompanied (Figure 5.2A). Climate policies in these countries may have played a role in restricting the use of fossil fuels under declining demand, although not accelerating the process compared to the past. Among these countries, only the UK so far maintained a decline in fossil fuels at a pace and duration sufficient to achieve the IEA 1.5°C pathway (Figure 5.9).

In summary, the impacts of climate policies on energy transitions have been limited: while they may have influenced the choice of deployed technologies and thereby affected the type of transitions in the G7 and the EU, they have not accelerated transitions either by expediting the growth of low-carbon technologies or hastening the decline of fossil fuels compared to historically observed trends or rates.

5.3.3 Implications for achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway in the G7 and the EU

The IEA 1.5°C pathway in the G7 and the EU requires immediate and dramatic acceleration to develop low-carbon electricity five times faster and reduce fossil fuels two times faster on average than the rates observed in 2015–2020. This transition must occur alongside growing electricity demand, a context where fossil fuels historically rarely declined in the G7 and the EU (Figure 5.6). Such high speeds of low-carbon substitutions were historically achieved only for five years in France and Spain in the 1980s (Figure 5.8). Furthermore, there is no historical precedent of sustaining such speeds for a continuous period of 15 years (Figure 5.9). While the sufficiency of the recent growth of low-carbon technologies or the decline of fossil fuels to

meet climate targets is debated in the literature (Cherp et al., 2017; Grubb et al., 2020; Muttitt et al., 2023; Odenweller et al., 2022; Smil, 2010; Vinichenko et al., 2023a, 2021; Wilson et al., 2013), this chapter reveals that there has been no instance in the last six decades where the sufficient rates of both technological growth and decline were achieved simultaneously, even in countries with the highest economic, financial, and technological capabilities.

On the other hand, this chapter shows that there are some precedents that achieved either the necessary level of low-carbon technology growth or fossil fuel decline for five years (Figure 5.8) and 15 years (Figure 5.9), producing two distinct speed frontiers in low-carbon substitutions.⁶ For example, France in 1972–1987 and Sweden in 1971–1986 achieved an exceptionally high growth (>5%) of low-carbon electricity primarily by nuclear power. Existing literature identifies factors behind such acceleration as the extreme orchestration of resources into a single technology, led by a limited number of actors (Finon and Staropoli, 2001; Grubler, 2010; Hecht, 2000; Kaijser, 1992). Such experiences may not be directly applicable to the challenges we face today not only because such concentrated power "may not be replicable...even in France in the new Millennium" (Grubler, 2010, p. 5174), but also because future transitions are likely to require a combination of multiple technologies and supporting infrastructures (i.e. various renewable technologies, energy storage systems, larger and smarter grid connections, etc.) involving a multitude of actors. Re-accelerating the deployment of nuclear power may be another option. However, this would also face numerous challenges including increasing cost and construction time overruns, rising opposition against the technology for perceived risks, as well as the eroding industry base which has already taken place for decades (Markard et al., 2020). Additionally, deploying such a capital-intensive and

⁶ Interestingly, despite being the most well-studied country for energy transitions, Germany has never so far achieved the required technological growth or decline over 15 years (Figure 5.9).

controversial technology may be more difficult in today's increasingly liberalised market (Brutschin et al., 2021).

In terms of the precedents for the necessary decline of fossil fuels, the UK in 2005–2020 and Ukraine⁷ in 1990–2005 achieved a rapid decline (faster than -3%) which was primarily driven by the declining demand for electricity (Vinichenko et al., 2021). However, such demanddriven transitions are not compatible with any climate mitigation pathway published by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) for 1.5 or even 2°C because more electricity is necessary in the future to decarbonise other sectors through electrification (Riahi et al., 2022; Rogelj et al., 2018).

Following the IEA 1.5°C pathway thus requires the G7 and the EU to develop low-carbon sources at a similar speed to the development of nuclear power, historically only observable in France or Sweden before 1990, while at the same time replicating the fastest decline of fossil fuels recently occurred in the UK, but instead under growing demand for electricity. The greatest challenge may be that such an unprecedented supply-centred transition must occur across all the G7 countries and the EU simultaneously, requiring a pace and level of coherence never observed in history. Unfortunately, there was no observable trend in this direction during 2020–2022. On the contrary, more fossil fuels were added, and low-carbon electricity generation stagnated and even declined in most countries (Figure 5.10), necessitating even faster transitions by 2035. On the one hand, multiple intertwined causes are contributing to this deviation including the post-COVID 19 economic recovery, the recent energy crisis induced by the Russo-Ukrainian War, and unfavourable weather for renewables in Europe (IEA, 2023c). On the other hand, achieving the decarbonised electricity target by 2035 requires an

⁷ Although Ukraine also achieved a compatible decline speed of fossil fuels in 1990-2005, this was primarily caused by the post-Soviet crisis and subsequent economic recessions, which is hardly a model for sustainable transitions (Vinichenko et al., 2021).

unprecedented effort to withstand and overcome disruptions including unexpected challenges, which may also arise in the future.

5.4 Summary

This chapter examined whether and how climate policies have so far altered the nature and speed of energy transitions beyond historical trends and analysed the implications for future transitions. I focused on the G7 countries and the EU in the electricity sector as they have spearheaded the implementation of climate policies, particularly in the sector, and have made repeated commitments to lead the global efforts to mitigate climate change including by committing to decarbonise electricity by 2035.

I find that although climate policies may have influenced the choice of deployed technologies and thereby affected the type of transitions, they have not accelerated the speed of transitions beyond historical trends in the G7 and the EU. Instead, electricity transitions have strongly correlated with the changes in electricity demand in the last six decades. The recent growth of low-carbon electricity through the development of modern renewables remains 50% slower than the historically fastest speed achieved in 1980-1985 when climate policies were largely absent. The recent decline of fossil fuels in the G7 and the EU has, therefore, been facilitated by the overall decrease in electricity demand, allowing the substitution by relatively slowly growing renewables.

Meeting the decarbonised electricity target in the G7 and the EU by 2035 is extremely challenging. It requires achieving immediate and unprecedented supply-driven transitions, with rates of technological growth and decline that have rarely, if ever, been observed in history. None of these countries achieved such transitions in 2020-2022; in fact, in most of the G7 countries and the EU, more fossil fuels were added, and the growth of low-carbon electricity stagnated and declined. Counteracting this trend and meeting the target, therefore, requires

drastically different policies rather than incremental changes including finding and enforcing new mechanisms to develop low-carbon electricity and to facilitate a more rapid and continuous decline of fossil fuels.

However, do countries politically target such radically different transitions compared to the past? The next chapter investigates this question by analysing the evolution of energy transition policies in the G7 member states over the last decades.

6. Evolution of energy transition policies in the G7

6.1 Introduction

The previous chapter (5) demonstrates that despite the increasing adoption of climate policies in recent decades, the rate of technological change has remained primarily correlated with changes in energy demand. This observation raises the question of whether the quantity of policies serves as a reliable indicator of political acceleration, though existing studies often call for more policies (Eskander and Fankhauser, 2020; Knill et al., 2012; Schaub et al., 2022).

While the overall stringency of policies is arguably more crucial, the presence of both enabling and hindering factors for political acceleration introduces ambiguity regarding how policy stringency empirically escalates (see the relevant theoretical discussions in the literature in subsection 2.2.2, empirical observations of political acceleration in subsection 2.3.3, and political deceleration in subsection 2.3.4). Therefore, this chapter delves into the evolving stringency of national policies to mitigate climate change in recent decades. Here, I use energy transition projections directly developed or commissioned by national governments as proxies to estimate the changing stringency of policies over time (the limitations of this analysis are described in subsection 3.3.4, and further discussed in subsection 7.5.2).

Applying the same selection criteria as in Chapter 5, I continue to analyse the G7 countries that position themselves as leaders in decarbonisation. However, the focus of this chapter's analysis shifts more towards the national level, given that energy transition policies are formulated and implemented by national governments. This investigation focuses on the developments since 2000, as my findings in Chapter 5 reveal that transitions towards decarbonising the energy sector, as I coin as 'low-carbon substitutions', started to take place after this period in the G7.

The following question will guide the analysis of this chapter:

• How has the stringency of national energy transition policies changed over the last decades, and how does this evolution align with achieving climate targets?

The rest of this chapter is organised as follows. I first present the national transition projections developed in the G7 countries since 2000 in Section 6.2. The evolutions of these projections are then analysed by country in comparison to the required transition to mitigate climate change in Section 6.3. Section 6.4 shows the result of the comparative analyses among the G7 countries. Additionally, the correlation between these projections and actual transitions is analysed in Section 6.5. Lastly, Section 6.6 provides the summary of this chapter.

6.2 Overview of national transition projections analysed

Following the method described in subsection 3.3.4, I identified and analysed 42 national transition projections (75 data points in total as some projections contain multiple end years) in the G7 countries, which were developed between 2000 and 2023 reflecting the existing and planned national policies at the time of projection development. I explain how these projections were developed and justify their use for analysing the evolving stringency of transition policies in the following subsections. The summary of these projections and the major relevant policies is provided at the end of this section in Table 6.1.

6.2.1 Germany

In Germany, the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) and its previous predecessors, such as BMWT and BMWA, periodically commission external research organisations to develop transition projections, evaluating existing and planned policies to inform further policymaking. Notably, BMWi has regularly commissioned Prognos, an economic research institute headquartered in Switzerland, to develop projections between 2000 and 2023. Prognos often collaborated with other organisations, most notably the Institute of

Energy Economics at the University of Cologne, Germany (EWi), and the Economic Research Institute in Osnabrück, Germany (gws).

The major projections I identified as best reflecting the changing national policies in Germany towards decarbonisation between 2000 and 2023 are as follows:

- DE1 (2000) (see "ID" in Table 6.1) reflects perhaps one of the most significant events in Germany's energy policy, where the 'red-green' coalition government of the Greens and SPD made a political decision to phase out nuclear power by 2022. This projection development was commissioned by the Greens to align with this policy (Matthes and Cames, 2000).
- DE2 (2005) corresponds to the formalised nuclear phase-out policy (Vorwerk, 2002) as well as Germany's commitment to reduce emissions under the Kyoto Protocol and the EU Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) in 2005 (Schulz et al., 2005).
- DE3 (2010) informed the decision in 2010 to extend the nuclear phase-out timeline to 2036 as part of the Energy Concept to achieve Germany's newly set long-term climate targets to reduce emissions by 40% by 2020, 55% by 2030, 80-95% by 2050 relative to 1990 levels and to generate electricity from renewable sources by 35% by 2020, 50% by 2030, 80% by 2050 (BMWi, 2010).
- DE4 (2014) reflects the re-commitment to the original nuclear phase-out deadline of 2022 in 2011, following the Fukushima nuclear accident, while keeping the other long-term emission reductions as well as renewable deployment targets (BMWi, 2010).
- DE5 (2020) reflects Germany's strengthened policies after the adoption of the Paris Agreement, encapsulated as the Climate Protection Programme 2030 introduced in 2019, which echoes the amended Federal Climate Change Act (Klimaschutzgesetz) to reduce emissions by 65%, from the previous 55%, by 2030 relative to 1990 levels

(BMU, 2019). Furthermore, the renewable target was increased to supply 65% of electricity, from the previous 50%, by 2030. Additionally, Germany committed to phasing out coal power by 2038, the latest (Kohleausstiegsgesetz) in 2020 (The Federal Parliament of Germany, 2020).

DE6 (2022) mirrors the coalition agreement of the SPD, the Free Democratic Party (FDP) and the Greens in 2021, which was further strengthened and introduced as the 'Easter Package' after the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022 to accelerate the phasing-out of coal ("ideally" by 2030) and the development of renewable electricity (85% by 2030, from the previous 65% target) (BMWK, 2022b).

6.2.2 United Kingdom

In the UK, energy transition policies have been outlined in the Energy (White) Paper and similar documents. Additionally, after introducing the Climate Change Act in 2008, the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) and its predecessors, such as BEIS, DTI and DECC, have been publishing annual Energy and Emissions Projections to monitor the progress towards the decarbonisation target set by the act. These updates are founded on the country's evolving energy and climate policies, which, in turn, are informed by scenarios and recommendations from various research organisations. For example, the University College London developed and maintains the UK's integrated assessment model (UK TIMES) to inform national energy and climate policies. Furthermore, the Climate Change Committee (CCC) plays a significant role in advising the government on climate and energy policies in the UK.

The major projections I identified as best reflecting the changing national policies in the UK towards decarbonisation between 2000 and 2023 are as follows:

- GB1 (2000) reflects the country's target in 2000 to supply 10% of electricity from renewable sources by 2010, which was set in line with the UK's commitment to reduce emissions by 20% by 2010 relative to 1990 levels (DTI, 2000).
- GB2 (2007) reflects the UK's policy in the late-2000s to re-intervene in the energy market to address climate change through developing a "trinity" of energy sources, namely nuclear power, CCS, and modern renewables, in response to the depletion of domestic gas reserves (DTI, 2007). In particular, the government started to actively promote the re-development of nuclear power, as written in White Paper 2007: "The Government's role is therefore to provide a policy framework that encourages the development of a wide range of low carbon technologies... it is in the public interest to give the private sector the option of investing in new nuclear power stations" (DTI, 2007, pp. 16–17).
- GB3 (2011) corresponds to the Climate Change Act in 2008 (The Parliament of the United Kingdom, 2008) and the subsequent Low-carbon Transition Plan in 2009 (The Government of the United Kingdom, 2009), wherein the UK committed to achieving 80% emissions reductions relative to 1990 levels by 2050. The government projected that to achieve this long-term target, the UK needs to largely decarbonise electricity within the 2030s. To achieve this, a number of policies including FiT and Contracts for Difference were introduced to accelerate long-term investments into low-carbon generation technologies (DECC, 2011a).
- GB4 (2014) reflects the further interventions of the government to accelerate the phasing out of fossil fuels and developing low-carbon technologies, particularly by the introduction of the Carbon Price Floor in 2013 to tax fossil generation as well as the introduction of the Electricity Market Reform Delivery Plan in the same year (David, 2018; DECC, 2013). The Capacity Market policy was additionally introduced to ensure

the security of supply through the transition into the new system, which was increasingly supplied by renewable sources (DECC, 2013).

- GB5 (2017) corresponds to the UK Clean Growth Strategy, the country's first longterm strategy aligned with the Paris Agreement, developed in 2017 (BEIS, 2017a). Prior to developing the strategy, the UK became the first country to politically commit to phasing out the unabated use of coal power by 2025 (BEIS, 2017a). Furthermore, together with Canada, the UK initiated the international coalition, Powering Past Coal Alliance (PPCA), to spearhead the global phase-out of coal power in 2017 (PPCA, 2023).
- GB6 (2020) and GB7 (2022) reflect the increased target of the UK set in 2019, following the recommendation of the CCC, to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050 compared to the previous 80% reductions by 2050 below 1990 levels, initially set by Climate Change Act in 2008 (BEIS, 2020a). Additionally, the government established the Nuclear Sector Deal as well as the Offshore Wind Sector Deal with the relevant industries to jointly commit to ensure the accelerated development of the technologies to meet the country's climate targets (BEIS, 2020b, 2018). More detailed strategies on how to achieve the targets were developed as the UK Net-zero Strategy in 2021.
- GB8 (2023) reflects the package of policies in the UK, titled Powering up Britain in 2023 (The Government of the United Kingdom, 2023). This comprehensive set of strengthened policies aims to enhance the country's energy security through various measures. These include increased investment in nuclear power, renewables, hydrogen, and improvements in energy efficiency. Formulated in response to the Russian-Ukrainian War in 2022, the UK has notably raised its offshore wind target to 50GW (compared to the previous 40GW set in 2021). Additionally, there is a fivefold increase targeted for solar power, aiming to reach 70GW by 2030.

```
113
```

It is important to note that, following the establishment of the CCC in 2008, the UK's transition targets have progressively become more normative, as the government is obligated to adopt the CCC's recommendations on 'carbon budgets' set for five-year periods. Nonetheless, a growing gap has emerged between these transition targets and the annual emission and energy projections reported by BEIS in the last decade. This indicates that existing and planned policies have increasingly lagged in their efforts to achieve the targets.

6.2.3 France

In France, Electricity Transmission Network (le Réseau de Transport d'Électricité - RTE), a 100% subsidiary of Electricity of France (Électricité de France - EDF)—the French stateowned electricity monopoly—has been mandated by law since 2000 to periodically provide national energy transition projections based on the country's existing and planned policies.

It is important to point out that the electricity system in France has already been largely decarbonised after the rapid development of nuclear power in the 1970s and 1980s. However, the country still needs to develop more low-carbon sources and phase out fossil fuels to be in line with 1.5°C compatible pathways.

Compared to Germany and the UK, France tends to develop transition policies by following rather than spearheading European directives.

The major projections I identified as best reflecting the changing national policies in France towards decarbonisation between 2000 and 2023 are as follows:

 FR1 (2005) reflects France's response to European Directive 2001/77/EC to promote the use of renewable sources in electricity generation, supplying 22.1% on average in 2010 across the EU member states. France accordingly introduced the POPE (loi Programme fixant les Orientations de Politique Energétique: Law on Energy Policy Guidelines) in 2005 to supply 21% of electricity from renewable sources including hydro (The Government of France, 2005)

- FR2 (2009) corresponds to France's response to the 2009 EU Energy Directive to mandate EU member states to supply at least 20% of primary energy from renewable sources by 2020. France accordingly targeted to supply min. 23% of primary energy from renewable sources by 2020 by accelerating the development of renewable technologies, particularly hydro, solar, and wind, through the Grenelle Environment Plan in 2009 and its relevant laws (The Government of France, 2010).
- FR3 (2015) mirrors a turning point in France's energy policy where the government, following the Fukushima nuclear accident in 2011, planned to reduce reliance on nuclear power from the then 75% share of electricity in 2012 to 50% in 2025 while filling the gap with renewable sources supplying 40% of electricity in 2025 (The Government of France, 2015)
- FR5 (2021) echoes France's efforts to comply with the EU mandate of developing National Energy and Climate Plans (NECPs) to reduce emissions by 80-95% by 2050 relative to 1990 levels in the EU. France accordingly committed to reduce emissions by 40% by 2030 and 85% by 2050 in its Climate and Energy Law in 2019 (The Government of France, 2019). Additionally, France delayed the timeline of reducing reliance on nuclear power to the year 2035 from the previously set year 2025. This reduction target, however, was abandoned in 2023.

6.2.4 Italy

In Italy, various governmental organisations develop projections as well as other scenarios including the National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development (ENEA), the Ministry of Enterprises and Made in Italy (MIMIT, and its previous predecessors such as MISE) which is the supervisory authority of ENEA, the Ministry for

Environment, Land and Sea Protection (MATTM), and the Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and Environment (ARERA).

Similar to France, compared to Germany and the UK, Italy tends to develop transition targets and policies by following rather than spearheading European directives.

The major projections I identified as best reflecting the changing national policies in Italy towards decarbonisation between 2000 and 2023 are as follows:

- IT1 (2010) corresponds to the country's target to supply 17% of final energy consumption from renewable sources in 2020 as mandated by the 2009 EU Renewable Energy Directive. The projection refers to the Position Paper on renewables developed by the government, which estimated the maximum potential of renewable-based electricity for Italy in 2020 (The Ministerial Committee for European Affairs of Italy, 2007).
- IT2 (2012) reflects Italy's compliance with the EU 2050 Roadmap Scenario to reduce emissions by 80-95% by 2050 relative to 1990 levels in the EU. ENEA accordingly developed projections based on the existing policies and additional policies necessary to achieve an interim target of 40% emissions reductions by 2030 relative to 1990 levels in Italy (ENEA, 2012).
- IT3 (2017) reflects Italy's compliance with the EU-wide target to supply 27% of final energy consumption from renewable sources in 2030. National Energy Strategy was subsequently developed in 2017, and Italy planned to supply 30% of primary energy and 55% of electricity from renewable sources by 2030 (MISE and MATTM, 2017).
- IT4 (2021) corresponds to Italy's efforts to further detail its long-term transition plans in line with the EU mandate of developing/updating NECPs in the member states to

achieve the EU target to reduce emissions by 80-95% by 2050 relative to 1990 levels (MISE et al., 2019).

• IT5 (2023) reflects Italy's strengthened plan to accelerate the development of renewable technologies to supply 65% of electricity by 2030 from the previous target of 55% set in 2017 (MISE, 2023).

6.2.5 Japan

In Japan, two central policy documents outline the country's energy transition policies: the Strategic Energy Plan and the Long-term Energy Demand and Supply Outlook. The Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade, and Industry (METI) have taken the lead in drafting both documents, which typically takes around three years and involves inputs from research organisations such as the Research Institute of Innovative Technology for the Earth (RITE) and expert meetings. Subsequently, these drafts have been approved by the cabinet as governmental decisions. While the Strategic Energy Plan provides an overview of Japan's energy policy objectives, the Long-term Energy Demand and Supply Outlook defines specific energy mix targets to achieve those objectives, making these documents de-facto energy transition policies.

The major projections I identified as best reflecting the changing national policies in Japan towards decarbonisation between 2000 and 2023 are as follows:

- JP1 (2001) reflects Japan's efforts to comply with the emission reduction target set by the Kyoto Protocol and the country's plan to accelerate the development of nuclear power in addition to supplying 1% of electricity from renewable sources by 2010 (METI, 2001).
- JP2 (2005) corresponds to the introduction of the Basic Act on Energy Policy in 2002 (The National Diet of Japan, 2002), and the subsequently developed Strategic Energy Plan, aiming to achieve three primary objectives in Japan's energy policy coined as

"3Es": Energy security; Environment; and Economic efficiency. In this plan, nuclear power was emphasised as the most important technology for Japan's energy future to achieve these overarching objectives (METI, 2005).

- JP3 (2008) and JP4 (2010) echo progressively increased low-carbon electricity generation targets and corresponding policies, primarily through the accelerated development of nuclear power as stipulated in the 2nd Strategic Energy Plan in 2007 and the 3rd Strategic Energy Plan in 2010. In JP4, nuclear power and renewables were expected to supply 50% and 20% of electricity respectively in 2030 in Japan.
- JP5 (2015) marks a significant turning point in Japan's energy policy, formulated as the 4th Strategic Energy Plan in 2015 (METI, 2015), in response to the Fukushima nuclear accident in 2011. This plan places increasing emphasis on the promotion of modern renewables, aiming to supply 22-24% of electricity in 2030. Simultaneously, the projected reliance on nuclear power was subsequently reduced to 22-24% in the envisaged electricity mix in 2030.
- JP6 (2018) aligns with Japan's long-term objectives, as outlined in the 5th Strategic Energy Plan in 2018 (METI, 2018), aimed at reducing emissions by 80% relative to 2013 levels by 2050. The electricity mix target set in 2015 for the year 2030, however, remained unchanged.
- JP7 (2021) reflects Japan's strengthened policy to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050, along with an increased interim target to reduce emissions by 46% relative to 2013 levels by 2030, compared to the previous target to reduce emissions by 26% by 2030. Consequently, the electricity mix target was revised to supply 36-38% from renewables and 20-22% from nuclear power in 2030, marking the first time that Japan targeted a higher share of electricity from renewable sources compared to nuclear power (METI, 2021).

6.2.6 Canada

In Canada, the Canada Energy Regulator (CER) and its predecessor, the National Energy Board (NEB), have annually published projections called Canada's Energy Future, reflecting the existing and planned transition policies in the country since 2007. This centralised annual projection practice has also been observed in the UK (since 2008) and in the US (since 1979).

Similar to France, it is important to point out that the electricity system in Canada has already been largely decarbonised, primarily due to the abundant hydropower resources. Nevertheless, the country still needs to develop more low-carbon sources and phase out fossil fuels to be in line with 1.5°C compatible pathways.

The major projections I identified as best reflecting the changing national policies in Canada towards decarbonisation between 2000 and 2023 are as follows:

- CA1 (2007) reflects Canada's first international commitment in 2007 to reduce emissions by 20% relative to 2006 levels by 2020, coined as the "Turning the Corner" policy (The Government of Canada, 2007). Additionally, the government also committed to reducing emissions by 60-70% relative to 2006 levels by 2050.
- CA2 (2011) corresponds to the country's weakened commitment in 2009, compared to the one in 2007, to reduce emissions by 17% relative to 2005 levels by 2020 under the Copenhagen Accord (Office of the Auditor General of Canada, 2021). Furthermore, in 2011, Canada withdrew from the Kyoto Protocol, where the country previously committed to reducing emissions by 6% below the 1990 levels on average between 2008 and 2012.
- CA3 (2016) is based on Canada's commitment in 2015 under the Paris Agreement to reduce emissions by 30% relative to 2005 levels by 2030. Canada also published the

Pan-Canadian Framework on Clean Growth and Climate Change in 2016, which is the country's first comprehensive transition plan to mitigate climate change (ECCC, 2016).

- CA4 (2021) echoes the series of policies implemented since 2016, most particularly the coal phase-out policy by 2030 in 2018. Additionally, Canada updated the 2016 Pan-Canadian Framework with A Healthy Environment and a Healthy Economy Plan, which introduced a number of new measures to accelerate transitions (ECCC, 2020).
- CA5 (2023) reflect the country's strengthened commitment to reduce emissions by 40-45% relative to 2005 levels by 2030. Canada accordingly introduced the 2030 Emissions Reduction Plan: Clean Air, Strong Economy to outline measures to achieve the reduction target (The Government of Canada, 2023).

6.2.7 United States

In the US, the Energy Information Administration (EIA) of the US Department of Energy has annually published energy transition projections since 1979, the longest history of such centralised analyses among the G7 countries. These projections are based on the use of the National Energy Modeling System (NEMS), an integrated energy-economy-environment model, first developed in 1993 by the EIA (EIA, 2019).

The major projections I identified as best reflecting the changing national policies in the US towards decarbonisation between 2000 and 2023 are as follows:

- US1 (2000) reflects the Climate Change Action Plan of the Clinton Administration in 1994, which aimed to reduce emissions to the 1990 levels by 2000 with a number of voluntary measures.
- US2 (2006) reflects the Federal Energy Policy Act of 2005 which introduced, among other things, energy efficiency standards for various appliances used in the residential and commercial sectors, renewable fuel standards and tax benefits for various low-

carbon energy sources including nuclear power and renewables (The Federal Government of the United States, 2005). Renewable Portfolio Standards were also introduced in multiple states, most notably in California.

- US3 (2010) reflects the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (The Federal Government of the United States, 2009), which was introduced following the financial crisis in 2008, as "the largest single investment in clean energy in history" under the Obama Administration providing more than 90 billion USD and further mobilising 150 billion USD for clean energy investments (The White House, 2016).
- US4 (2016) reflects the Clean Power Plan under the Obama Administration, marking the inaugural federal-level initiative mandating emission reductions in the country. Specifically targeting the electricity sector, the policy aimed to reduce emissions by 32% relative to 2005 levels by 2030, accomplished through carbon emission limits imposed on both existing and new power plants. This plan was designed particularly to reduce the use of coal and accelerate the development of renewable sources (EPA, 2015).
- US5 (2018) reflects President Trump's executive order in 2017 to repeal the Clean Power Plan. The Trump Administration additionally decided to withdraw from the Paris Agreement in 2017 and suspended other climate change policies developed by the Obama Administration.
- US6 (2021) incorporates the Affordable Clean Energy rule in 2019 (EPA, 2019), which replaced the Clean Power Plan and aimed to increase the energy efficiency of existing and new power plans without mandating emissions reductions.
- US7 (2023) reflects the turn-around of the US to re-join the Paris Agreement and address climate change under the leadership of President Biden, where the US committed to decarbonise electricity by 2035 and achieve net zero emissions by 2050

(The White House, 2021). The Biden Administration has also introduced a series of 'grand-breaking' policies, including the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act in 2021 and the Inflation Reduction Act in 2022, together accounting for more than 1.5 trillion USD to accelerate climate change mitigation and adaptation actions in the country.

Table 6.1: Major energy transition projections of the G7 countries between 2000 and 2023

Notes: One projection may encompass several forecasted years, particularly when presenting detailed projections for the distant future, as seen in the UK, Canada, and the US. In such cases, forecasted years in bold are selected for the comparative analyses of this chapter, where * indicates that data is extrapolated from the last available data point and ** shows that data is interpolated between available data points. Furthermore, in cases where multiple projections are available for the same year, including those with specific assumptions alongside reference scenarios, the ones that best reflect the policies during projection development are selected. The "case chosen" column shows the outcomes of these selections, and the rationale for each choice is explained in Section 6.2. The "authority" column indicates governmental institutions responsible for either developing or commissioning the development of each projection.

Country	ID	Year		- Projection name	Case	Major relevant policies	Authority	Reference
		Published	Forecasted	-	chosen		-	
Germany	DE1	2000	2010/ 2020/ 2035*	Energiewende 2020: The path to a sustainable energy industry	Reference	1998 Red-green coalition to phase out nuclear by 2022	Greens	(Matthes and Cames, 2000)
	DE2	2005	2010/ 2020/ 2030/ 2035 *	The development of the Energy markets up to the year 2030	Reference	2002 Atomgesetz, 2005 Kyoto Protocol, 2005 EU ETS	BMWA	(Schulz et al., 2005)
	DE3	2010	2020/ 2030/ 2035**/ 2040	Energy scenarios for an energy concept of the federal government	SIIA	2010 Energy Concept to extend the nuclear phase-out to 2036	BMWT	(Schlesinger et al., 2010)
	DE4	2014	2020/ 2030/ 2035**/ 2040	Development of the energy markets - Energy reference forecast	Reference	2011 Recommitment to the original nuclear phase-out by 2022	BMWT	(Schlesinger et al., 2014)
	DE5	2020	2030/ 2035 *	Energy Industry Projections and Impact Assessments 2030/2050	Climate	2019 Climate Action Programme (65% RES electricity by 2030)	BMWi	(Kemmler et al., 2020)
	DE6	2022	2030/ 2035*	Implications of the planned expansion of renewable energies according to the Easter package and EEG 2023	OP	2021 Coalition Agreement (80% RES electricity by 2030), 2022 Easter Package (i.e. Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz - EEG 2023)	N/A	(Sprenger and Schäfer, 2022)
	GB1	2000	2010/ 2035*	Energy paper 68 Energy Projections for the UK	Central	2000 RES 10% electricity target by 2010	DTI	(DTI, 2000)
United Kingdom	GB2	2007	2010/ 2020/ 2035*	Meeting the Energy Challenge: A White Paper on Energy	High (new nuclear)	2007 Support for "Trinity": RES, nuclear, and CCS, 2009: Renewable Obligation	DTI	(DTI, 2007)
	GB3	2011	2020/ 2030/ 2035 *	Updated energy and emissions projections 2011	Central	2008 Climate Change Act (80% emission reductions relative to 1990 levels), 2009 Low-carbon Transition Plan, 4 th Carbon Budget	DECC	(DECC, 2011b)
	GB4	2014	2020/ 2035	Updated energy and emissions projections 2014	Reference	2013 Carbon tax, Electricity Market Reform Delivery Plan	DECC	(DECC, 2014)
	GB5	2017	2020/ 2035	Updated energy and emissions projections 2016	Reference	2015 Coal phase out by 2025, 2017 UK Clean Growth Strategy, 5th Carbon Budget	BEIS	(BEIS, 2017b)

Constant	Б	Year		Decisation name	Case	Main mlannt articia	A	Deference
Country	ID	Published	Forecasted	- Projection name	chosen	Major relevant poncies	Authority	Reference
	GB6	2020 2035		Updated energy and emissions projections 2019	Reference	2019 Commitment to carbon neutrality (100% emission reductions relative to 1990 levels) by 2050	BEIS	(BEIS, 2020c)
	GB7	2022	2035	Updated energy and emissions projections 2021 to 2040	Reference	2021 Revised Climate Change Act, 2021 Net-zero Strategy by 2050, 6^{th} Carbon Budget	BEIS	(BEIS, 2022)
	GB8	2023	2035	Updated energy and emissions projections 2022 to 2040	Reference	2023 Powering Up Britain	DESNZ	(DESNZ, 2023)
	FR1	2005	2010/ 2016/ 2035*	Generation Adequacy Report on the electricity supply- demand balance in France 2005	High-RES	2005 RES 21% electricity target by 2010	CRE	(RTE, 2005)
Energy	FR2	2009	2020/ 2025/ 2035 *	Generation Adequacy Report on the electricity supply- demand balance in France 2009	High-RES	2008 Grenelle Environnement Plan to further accelerate the development of modern renewables while increasing energy efficiency	CRE	(RTE, 2009)
France	FR3	2015	2020/ 2030/ 2035 *	Generation Adequacy Report on the electricity supply- demand balance in France 2015	New-mix	2012 Plan to reduce nuclear dependence to 50% by 2025, which was legalised as 2015 The Energy Transition for Green Growth Act	CRE	(RTE, 2015)
	FR4	2021	2030/ 2035 *	Generation Adequacy Report on the electricity supply- demand balance in France 2020	PPE	2019 Energy and Climate Law (carbon neutrality by 2050), 2020 Revised National Low-carbon Strategy, which delayed the reliance reduction target of nuclear power to 2035	CRE	(RTE, 2020)
Italy	IT1	2010	2020/ 2035 *	Renewable Sources 2010: Research and innovation for a low-carbon future	Act+	2005 Position Paper on Renewables, 2009 EU Renewable Energy Directive, setting 17% RES PE target for Italy in 2020	ENEA	(ENEA, 2010)
	IT2	2012	2020/ 2030/ 2035 *	Energy and Environment Report 2009-2010	Pol-Corr	2011 EU target to reduce 80-95% GHG below 1990 levels by 2050	ENEA	(ENEA, 2012)
	IT3	2017	2020** / 2025/ 2030/ 2035 *	National Energy Strategy 2017	SEN	2016 EU Clean Energy Package (27% RES PE within EU by 2030), 2017 National Energy Strategy (accordingly supply 55% of renewable based-electricity by 2030)	MISE- MATTM	(MISE and MATTM, 2017)
	IT4	2021	2030/ 2035**/ 2040	Scenario National Trend Italy	New-Trebd	2018 EU Mandate the member states to develop National Energy and Climate Plan, which was developed and published in 2019	ARERA	(Snam and Terna, 2021)
	IT5	2023	2030/ 2035**/ 2040	Revised Integrated National Energy and Climate Plan (PNIEC)	PNIEC	2023 RES electricity 65% target by 2030	MISE	(MISE, 2023)
Japan	JP1	2001	2010/ 2035*	$\int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ Long-term energy demand and supply outlook 2001	Additional measure	1997 Kyoto Protocol, 2001 RES electricity 1% target by 2010	METI	(METI, 2001)
	JP2	2005	2010/ 2030/ 2035 *	Long-term energy demand and supply outlook 2005	Max- Nuclear	2003 1st Strategic Energy Plan	METI	(METI, 2005)
	JP3	2008	2020/ 2030/ 2035 *	Long-term energy demand and supply outlook 2008	Best-effort	2007 2nd Strategic Energy Plan	METI	(METI, 2008)

G (ID	Year			Case		A .1 %	D.C
Country		Published	Forecasted	Projection name	chosen	Major relevant policies	Authority	Reference
	JP4	2010 2030/ 2035*		3rd Strategic Energy Plan	3rd SEP	2010 3rd Strategic Energy Plan (nuclear power and renewables to supply 50% and 20% of electricity respectively by 2030)	METI	(METI, 2010)
	JP5	2015	2030/ 2035*	Long-term energy demand and supply outlook 2015	4th SEP	2014 4th Strategic Energy Plan after the Fukushima nuclear accident in 2011	METI	(METI, 2015)
	JP6	2018	2030/ 2035*	5th Strategic Energy Plan	5th SEP	2018 5th Strategic Energy Plan	METI	(METI, 2018)
	JP7	2021	2030/ 2035*	6th Strategic Energy Plan	6th SEP	2021 6th Strategic Energy Plan	METI	(METI, 2021)
Canada	CA1	2007	2020/ 2030/ 2035 *	Canada's Energy Future: Reference Case and Scenarios to 2030	Reference	2005 Kyoto Protocol, 2007 "Turning the corner plan": 20% GHG below 2006 levels by 2020	NEB	(The Government of Canada, 2007)
	CA2	2011	2020/ 2035	Canada's Energy Future: Energy supply and demand projections to 2035	Reference	2009 Copenhagen Accord: 17% GHG below 2005 levels by 2020, 2011 Withdrawal from Kyoto Protocol	NEB	(The Government of Canada, 2011)
	CA3	2016	2020/ 2035	Canada's Energy Future 2016: Energy supply and demand projections to 2040	Reference	2016 30% GHG below 2005 levels by 2030 under the Paris Agreement, 2016 Pan-Canadian Framework on Clean Growth and Climate Change	NEB	(The Government of Canada, 2016)
	CA4	2021	2020/ 2035	Canada's Energy Future 2021	Current Policies	2018 Phasing out coal by 2030, 2020 A Healthy Environment and a Healthy Economy plan, 2021 Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act	CER	(The Government of Canada, 2021)
	CA5	2023	2020/ 2035	Canada's Energy Future 2023	Current Policies	2022 Canada's 2030 Emissions Reduction Plan to reduce emissions by 40-45% below 2005 levels by 2030	CER	(The Government of Canada, 2023)
	US1	2000	2010/ 2020/ 2035*	Annual Energy Outlook 2000 with projections to 2020	Reference	1993 Climate Change Action Plan to reduce emissions to the 1990 levels by 2000	DOE/EIA	(EIA, 2000)
United States	US2	2006	2010/ 2020/ 2030/ 2035 *	Annual Energy Outlook 2006 with projections to 2030	Reference	2002 State renewable portfolio standard (RPS) programs, 2005 Energy Policy Act of 2005,	DOE/EIA	(EIA, 2006)
	US3	2010	2020/ 2035	Annual Energy Outlook 2010 with projections to 2035	Reference	2009 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, "largest single investment in clean energy in history"	DOE/EIA	(EIA, 2010)
	US4	2016	2020/ 2035	Annual Energy Outlook 2016 with projections to 2040	Reference	2015 Clean Power Plan to target 32% emissions reduction in electricity generation below 2005 levels	DOE/EIA	(EIA, 2016)
	US5	2018	2020/ 2035	Annual Energy Outlook 2018 with projections to 2050	Reference	2017 Trump Administration to withdraw from Paris agreement and repeal Clean Power Plan	DOE/EIA	(EIA, 2018)
	US6	2021	2035	Annual Energy Outlook 2021 with projections to 2050	Reference	2020 Affordable Clean Energy, replacing Clean Power Plan	DOE/EIA	(EIA, 2021)
	US7	2023	2035	Annual Energy Outlook 2022 with projections to 2050	Reference	2021 Netzero target by 2050, 2021 Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, 2022 Inflation Reduction Act	DOE/EIA	(EIA, 2023)

6.3 Ratcheting up of policies reflected in projections towards 2035

This section provides analyses of the evolving stringency of transition policies in the G7 countries separately. Comparative analyses across the countries are provided in the following section (6.4).

6.3.1 Germany

Overall, energy transition projections in Germany developed between 2000 and 2023 towards 2035 indicate a ratcheting-up in transition policies to accelerate the growth of low-carbon technologies and the decline of fossil fuels for electricity supply (Figure 6.1). A notable shift can be observed around 2010: Germany initially projected to decrease total electricity generation until 2010 (see the 2035 projections developed in 2000 and 2005 in Figure 6.1) but subsequently shifted to increase thereafter (see the 2035 projections developed in and after 2010), aligning better with the IEA 1.5°C pathway. As a result, the most recent projection in 2022 comes closest to what is required for Germany to achieve the 1.5°C target under the IEA net-zero pathway by 2035.

Taking a closer look, it is interesting to see that Germany did not project significant development of renewables until 2010 (see the 2035 projections developed in 2000 and 2005 in Figure 6.1B. This implies that Germany started to aim for substantial restructuring of its energy system only after 2010, while the existing literature portrays the country as actively pursuing the state-led transition ('Energiewende') from conventional fossil and nuclear technologies to renewables since the 1980s (Hirschhausen, 2014; Jacobs, 2012). On the contrary, while it is true that Germany began introducing support for developing renewables well before 2010 (see subsection 6.2.1, also subsection 4.2.4), the intent and stringency of these policies remained relatively low to almost negligible until 2010 in comparison to the magnitude of transitions necessary for climate change mitigation.


Figure 6.1: Germany - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)

Notes: In Panel A, "All LC" refers to all low-carbon sources including RES, Nuclear, and "Other LC". Other LC in Panel B refers to fossil fuels with CCS in Germany. Detailed information on the projections used for this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, in particular Table 6.1.

The later aim for low-carbon substitutions in Germany than commonly assumed is likely due to the fact that Germany prioritised phasing out nuclear power, a low-carbon energy source, rather than utilising the technology to mitigate climate change. Even in 2014, Germany's primary focus remained on renewables replacing nuclear power, not fossil fuels, resulting in a projected consistent supply of low-carbon electricity of around 250 TWh between 2014 and 2035 (see the actual supply in 2014 and the 2035 projection developed in the same year in Figure 6.1A). It was only in the late 2010s that Germany began to accelerate the substitution of fossil fuels with renewables, as shown in the projections developed in 2020 and further in 2022.

This recently planned acceleration in low-carbon substitutions in Germany, following the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022, sets the latest projection apart from both other projections and historical transition rates in the country (Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.2: Germany - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions

Notes: The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 where the total generation was more than 100 TWh (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for the detailed framework and methods).

In contrast to the marginal increase of low-carbon electricity in the 2010s, following the IEA 1.5°C pathway would require Germany to accelerate its expansion by five times compared to its historical rate in 2015-2020 (Figure 6.2). While the latest projection developed in 2022 reflecting the 'Easter Package' comes very close to this rate, the authors of this projection signal a feasibility concern (Sprenger and Schäfer, 2022) indicating that this projection includes the political commitments and targets made after the Russian-Ukrainian War in 2022, which have not materialised in policy instruments yet.

On the one hand, both historical and projected rates have generally evolved towards swifter lowcarbon substitutions in Germany. On the other hand, both the most recent historical rate (DE_2015-2020) and projected rate (DE_2022) still fall within the top 25-5% speed zones, remaining distant from the fastest 5% speed necessary to meet the 1.5°C pathway. Should Germany further expedite its reduction of fossil fuels, such as committing to a coal phase-out by 2030 or earlier, the country would for the first time enter the fastest 5% speed zone and could then be acknowledged as a leading country in low-carbon substitutions.

6.3.2 United Kingdom

In contrast to Germany, transition projections in the UK developed between 2000 and 2023 towards 2035 do not indicate a continuous ratcheting-up in the stringency of policies to accelerate the growth of low-carbon electricity or the decline of fossil fuels (Figure 6.3). The highest supply of low-carbon electricity was projected in 2014, with subsequent years showing lower supplies. However, the latest projection in 2023, developed after the Russo-Ukrainian War, indicates generating a comparable amount of low-carbon electricity with an accelerated speed of development. This updated projection also reflects the intention to almost completely phase out fossil fuels in the electricity supply by 2035.

Similar to Germany, the UK did not project rapid low-carbon substitutions in the 2000s (Figure 6.3). Differing from Germany, however, the UK subsequently aimed for considerably faster low-carbon substitutions, incorporating renewables, nuclear power, and other low-carbon technologies (specifically, CCS in the UK) in the early 2010s. Conversely, these projected rates towards 2035 decelerated in the late 2010s and the early 2020s, due to the progressively reduced supply projected from nuclear power. This is interesting because the UK has been increasingly supportive of nuclear

power in its future energy supply since the mid-2000s (see subsection 4.3.4). Therefore, this shift could be interpreted as a downward revision of previously ambitious nuclear power targets due to mounting challenges despite the growing political backing.



United Kingdom

Figure 6.3: UK - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B).

Notes: In Panel A, "All LC" refers to all low-carbon sources including RES, Nuclear, and "Other LC". Other LC in Panel B refers to fossil fuels with CCS in the UK. Detailed information on the projections used for this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, in particular Table 6.1.

It is also interesting that the UK projected a similar level of electricity generation required under the 1.5°C pathway in 2000 but not in the subsequent years, including the latest projection in 2023. This may be due to the fact that electricity generation decreased consistently in the UK between 2005 and 2022. Additionally, it may be the case that the increasing attention to the need for more electricity to meet climate targets through electrifying other energy sectors is a relatively recent development, emerging in the late 2010s.



Figure 6.4: UK - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions Notes: The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 where the total generation was more than 100 TWh (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for the detailed framework and methods).

In contrast to the historical decline in electricity generation in the UK between 2005 and 2023, achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway requires the country to accelerate the development of low-carbon electricity by 1.5 times the rate observed in 2010 and 2015 (or twice the rate in 2015-2020) to achieve a 2.4% yearly increase in electricity generation from 2020 to 2035 (i.e. ca. 35% overall increase during the period) (Figure 6.4). The nearest rate was projected in 2023, which, while falling short of low-carbon electricity supply, would meet the required rate of fossil fuel decline. The pivotal determinant for achieving this necessary pace thus hinges on whether nuclear power can be revitalised as initially envisioned in the early 2010s or if renewables and other technologies like CCS can be developed several times faster than historical rates in the country.

6.3.3 France

France's electricity system underwent significant decarbonisation during the 1970s and 1980s, driven by the rapid expansion of nuclear power (see Figure 5.9). However, in recent decades, the role of nuclear power has gradually decreased due to the increasing contribution of modern renewables (Figure 6.5). While France projected a substantial decrease in nuclear power in 2015 towards the future, following the political decision to reduce the reliance on the technology after Fukushima, this trend was quickly reversed by 2020.



Figure 6.5: France - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)

Notes: In Panel A, "All LC" refers to all low-carbon sources including RES, Nuclear, and "Other LC". There was no energy source considered as "Other LC" in the projections analysed for France. Detailed information on the projections used for this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, in particular Table 6.1.

Compared to the other G7 countries, achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway in France would be relatively more attainable as it only requires the country to develop low-carbon electricity at a rate

historically achieved by many countries (Figure 6.6). However, none of the historical or projected transitions in France between 2000 and 2023 is compatible with this pathway.



Figure 6.6: France - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions

Notes: The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 where the total generation was more than 100 TWh (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for the detailed framework and methods).

6.3.4 Italy

The evolution of energy transition projections in Italy indicates a distinct shift in transition policies in the mid-2010s (compare the 2035 projections developed in 2012 and 2017 in Figure 6.7), leading to the faster decline of fossil fuels and the growth of low-carbon electricity (100% renewables as Italy phased out nuclear power in the 1990s) projected towards 2035. Notably, the projections for total generation have been progressively adjusted downward, in line with the historical trend between 2010 and 2023 in the country.



Figure 6.7: Italy - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)

Notes: In Panel A, "All LC" refers to all low-carbon sources including RES, Nuclear, and "Other LC". There was no energy source considered as "Other LC" in the projections analysed for Italy. Detailed information on the projections used for this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, in particular Table 6.1.

To align with the IEA 1.5°C pathway, Italy would need to more than double the speed of lowcarbon substitutions towards 2035 compared to the rates projected in 2023. This involves significantly strengthening the country's efforts to supply ca. 400 TWh of electricity from lowcarbon sources in 2035, marking a fourfold increase compared to ca. 100 TWh supplied in 2023.

Interestingly, Italy projected a further expansion of fossil fuels in electricity supply in the early 2010s, a trajectory that contradicts the EU target established during that period to reduce emissions by 80-95% below 1990 levels by 2050. A similar growth of fossil fuels was observed only in the G7 countries endowed with substantial fossil resources, namely Canada and the US, but not in other G7 countries.

Additionally, it is worth noting that Italy's recent projections show the stagnation of modern renewables' growth towards 2035 since 2017 (Figure 6.7B), significantly diverging from the other G7 countries. While there is an indication that Italy may re-develop nuclear power in the future (Pascale, 2023), its contribution to the energy mix by 2035 would likely be limited, considering the lengthy construction time required for new nuclear power plants.



Figure 6.8: Italy - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions

Notes: The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 where the total generation was more than 100 TWh (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for the detailed framework and methods).

In contrast to the accelerated growth of low-carbon electricity projected during the 2010s, Italy actually witnessed a marked deceleration in the expansion of low-carbon electricity, entering a state of near-stagnation throughout the same decade (Figure 6.8). Achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway would thus be extremely challenging, requiring Italy to reverse the trend completely to immediately develop low-carbon electricity by ca. 24 times faster in 2020-2035 than the historical rate between 2015 and 2020 (or ca. two times faster than the rate in 2010-2015). Such a dramatic

shift has not taken place; on the contrary, the electricity supply from renewables decreased in recent years in Italy (see Figure 5.10).

6.3.5 Japan

The evolution of Japan's energy transition projections from 2000 to 2023 towards 2035 exhibits similarities with those of the UK, indicating that transition policies regarding future low-carbon electricity supply were most ambitious in the early 2010s. In order to meet the IEA 1.5°C pathway, Japan would need to supply ca. 1400 TWh of low-carbon electricity by 2035, representing a five-fold increase compared to the actual generation in 2021 (ca. 250 TWh) or a two-fold increase compared to the latest projection developed in the same year for 2035 (ca. 700 TWh) (Figure 6.9).

On the one hand, the substantial gap among the present, projected, and required supply of lowcarbon electricity in 2035 can partly be attributed to the decline of nuclear power in the country, both in actual electricity supply and in the projections towards 2035 following the Fukushima nuclear accident in 2011. Before Fukushima, nuclear power was expected to dominate Japan's future electricity supply, but this ambition was scaled down by over 50% after Fukushima. On the other hand, the rapid growth of renewables, which outpaced the decline of nuclear power in Germany and the UK in the 2010s, did not occur in Japan. Proportionally, this translates to renewables constituting only 20% of the electricity supply in Japan in 2021, compared to ca. 40% in Germany and the UK in the same year. ⁸

⁸ However, in absolute terms, Japan supplied more electricity from renewable sources at around 200 TWh than the UK (ca. 130 TWh), but less than Germany (ca. 240 TWh) in 2021.



Figure 6.9: Japan - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)

Notes: In Panel A, "All LC" refers to all low-carbon sources including RES, Nuclear, and "Other LC". "Other LC" in Panel B refers to hydrogen and ammonia in Japan, which appeared only in the most recent projection developed in 2021. Detailed information on the projections used for this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, in particular Table 6.1.

While projecting progressively accelerated low-carbon substitutions in the future between 2000 and 2023, Japan did not historically experience such transitions until 2015-2020 (Figure 6.10). On the contrary, Japan underwent more than 10 years of high-carbon substitutions due to the continuous decline of nuclear power even before Fukushima. Similar to the situation in the UK where an increasing political push has not led to the revival of nuclear power, reversing the declining trajectory of nuclear power seems to be extremely challenging, particularly after Fukushima.



Figure 6.10: Japan - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions

Notes: The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 where the total generation was more than 100 TWh (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for the detailed framework and methods).

Considering the modest growth of renewables in Japan during the 2000s and 2010s, achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway may therefore demand a substantial reorientation of energy transition policy in the country, shifting focus away from nuclear power to instead prioritise the development of other low-carbon technologies including modern renewables or providing unprecedented measures to revitalise nuclear power.

6.3.6 Canada

Similar to France, Canada's electricity system has already been largely decarbonised, thanks to the country's abundant hydropower resources. However, the use of fossil fuels in electricity supply has decreased only marginally over the past few decades (Figure 6.11). In fact, Canada even projected to expand the use of fossil fuels in 2016 towards 2035, while the country's focus shifted to maintaining their use rather than reducing them in the subsequent years. As for developing low-

carbon electricity, the projections show that Canada does not seem to be interested in accelerating its growth, except in the latest target set in 2023 exceeding the linear trend.



Canada

Figure 6.11: Canada - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the source of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)

Notes: In Panel A, "All LC" refers to all low-carbon sources including RES, Nuclear, and "Other LC". There was no energy source considered as "Other LC" in the projections analysed for Canada. Detailed information on the projections used for this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, in particular Table 6.1.

Just like France, achieving the IEA 1.5°C pathway in Canada would be relatively more attainable compared to the other G7 countries as it only requires the country to achieve the speed of low-carbon substitutions historically observed in many countries (Figure 6.12). It does require, on the other hand, Canada to reverse the recent trend of stagnant growth in low-carbon electricity and accelerate its growth by two times faster than the rate historically observed in 2010-2015. This accelerated growth would then need to result in an expedited decline of fossil fuels by 2035. This also signifies that Canada would need to discontinue the pursuit of maintaining or expanding fossil

fuel growth in the future, as consistently projected based on the existing and planned policies between 2000 and 2023.



Figure 6.12: Canada - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions

Notes: The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 where the total generation was more than 100 TWh (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for detailed framework and methods).

6.3.7 United States

The evolution of energy transition projections in the US developed between 2000 and 2023 towards 2035 indicates a clear ratcheting-up in transition policies to progressively accelerate the growth of low-carbon electricity and the decline of fossil fuels over time. However, even the most recent projected rates still fall significantly short of meeting the requirements of the IEA 1.5°C pathway (Figure 6.13).



Figure 6.13: US - historical evolution of transition projections towards 2035 (A) and the sources of projected low-carbon electricity in 2035 (B)

Notes: In Panel A, "All LC" refers to all low-carbon sources including RES, Nuclear, and "Other LC". There was no energy source considered as "Other LC" in the projections analysed for the US. Detailed information on the projections used for this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, in particular Table 6.1.

It is interesting that the climate policies under the Obama Administration, as reflected in the 2010 and 2016 projections—commonly perceived as impactful—did not alter the gradual ratcheting up observed in the overall evolution of transition projections in the US. Similarly, what is often considered as 'anti-climate' policies under the Trump Administration, reflected in the 2018 and 2021 projections, also did not shift this overarching trajectory. Nonetheless, it could be argued that the transition projected in 2023, reflecting the Inflation Reduction Act introduced in 2022, indicates a more substantial ratchet-up in transition policies to achieve faster low-carbon substitutions (Figure 6.14).

Similar to several other G7 countries, the US progressively projected a diminishing growth in total electricity supply in the future. In the projections developed after 2016, the US consistently forecasted that the country would generate ca. 4600 TWh of electricity in 2035, slightly surpassing the current supply level of ca. 4300 TWh (Figure 6.13A).

Following the IEA 1.5°C pathway would be extremely challenging for the US. This requires the US to achieve levels of technological growth and decline that have never been observed in the country before, starting immediately and sustaining such rates until 2035 (Figure 6.14). This translates to a two-fold increase in the acceleration of low-carbon substitutions projected in 2023.



Figure 6.14: US - speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions

Notes: The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 where the total generation was more than 100 TWh (see subsections 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for the detailed framework and methods).

6.4 Cross-country comparison of energy transition projections

No single projection, developed between 2000 and 2023 across the G7 countries, indicates the stringency of transition policies compatible with the IEA 1.5°C pathway (Figure 6.15). This means that none of the G7 countries has yet demonstrated the level of 'ambition' in their policies necessary to keep the global temperature increase below 1.5°C.



Figure 6.15: The required rates of low-carbon substitutions compared to up to three of the highest projected rates by the G7 countries developed after 2000 towards 2035.

Notes: The panel under "1.5°C" shows the required rates of low-carbon substitutions in the G7 countries (see subsection 3.3.4 for methods) while the panel under "Policies" show the projected transition rates. Here, the x-axis labels comprise the country code and the last two digits of the year when the respective projection was developed (for example, a projection developed in Germany in 2022 would be labelled as "DE-22"). Further details regarding the projections used in this analysis can be found in Section 6.2, particularly in Table 6.1. Dots at the top of the bars indicate total change rates. The source "Other LC" includes fossil fuels with CCS, hydrogen, and ammonia.

The fastest transition to date has been projected by Japan at 6.6% total change rate per year (Figure

6.15), which is surprising since the country is often considered a 'laggard' in climate actions by adhering to the use of fossil fuels (Burck et al., 2022). However, this does not necessarily imply that Japan is a leading country in decarbonising electricity for two distinct reasons. First, the rapid decline in fossil fuels and the simultaneous growth in low-carbon electricity currently projected in

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

Japan can largely be attributed to the planned restart of nuclear power plants. These plants had been deactivated for safety inspections following the Fukushima nuclear disaster in 2011. Restarting these plants should be relatively easy compared to accelerating the development of new installations of low-carbon technologies. Secondly, Japan's electricity system still predominantly relies on fossil fuels, signifying a considerable journey ahead compared to other G7 countries on the path towards decarbonisation.

Another noteworthy point is that the UK's two projections in 2014 and 2023 stand out as exceptions among all projections developed by the G7 and analysed in this dissertation, where the required speed of fossil fuel decline was expected to be achieved (Figure 6.15). While the UK planned to decelerate this decline in the years following 2014, the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022 motivated the country to re-accelerate the phase-out of fossil fuels to enhance energy security. A similar trend is observed in Germany, showing a significant political acceleration in the development of renewables following the war. However, this has not expedited the decline of fossil fuels in Germany, most likely due to the already established coal phase-out timeline in the mid to late 2030s.

The speed zones delineated by historical observations of low-carbon substitutions generally well capture the projected transition rates of the G7 countries (Figure 6.16): only two (GB-14 and GB23) projections out of a total of 27 (7%) are located in the fastest 5% zone; three (11%) are located in the 25-5% zone, nine (33%) are located in the 50-25% zone; and the rest 12 projections (44%) are located in the slowest 50% zones. Having more projections in the 50-25% zone compared to the 25-5% zone indicates that transition policies in the G7 countries have been slightly

more conservative (i.e. less 'ambitious') than the historical speed of low-carbon substitutions observed in the G7 as well as comparable countries.



Figure 6.16: Speed zones and historical, projected, and required rates of low-carbon substitutions in comparison to the IEA 1.5°C pathway for the G7.

Notes: The IEA 1.5°C pathway depicts the required rates of low-carbon substitutions for the G7 countries on average. For individual rates, see the country-specific analyses in 6.3. The speed zones in this figure are identical to those in Figure 5.8, which are constructed by the density of relevant national historical episodes observed over five years between 1960 and 2020 (see 3.2.3 and 3.3.4 for the detailed framework and methods). Historical rates that are located faster than the slowest 50% zone are shown in the figure (i.e. the rates located in the slowest 50% are removed to avoid overlapping with the projected rates).

6.5 Transition projections vs actual transitions

Projecting a faster speed of transitions does not necessarily guarantee their realisation in the real

world. On the other hand, actual transitions may also outpace projected rates. In other words, to what

extent are national projections reliable in forecasting the future development of the energy sector?

Figure 6.17 illustrates the correlation between projected annual change rates and actual change rates in the same geographical scope during the same timeframe. For instance, if Germany

projected a 2% growth of renewables in 2014 between 2012 and 2020, and the actual growth turned out to be 3% during that period, the data point would be positioned above the dotted line, indicating an overachievement in reality. In other words, future growth was underestimated. Notably, three panels exhibit statistically significant correlation, with *p*-values < 0.001: All projections for total generation and all projections as well as short-term projections for renewables (RES).



Figure 6.17: Correlation between projected change rates and actual change rates in the G7 in their electricity transitions towards 2020

Notes: The dotted lines indicate the perfect accuracy of projections, where projected change rates (x-axis) and annual change rates (y-axis) perfectly match. Datapoints below the line mean actual change rates are slower than projected change rates (i.e. changes are overestimated in projections). On the other hand, data points above the line mean actual change rates are faster than projected change rates (i.e. changes are underestimated in projections).

In the majority of transition projections developed by the G7 countries, the total generation in the future was overestimated, with predominant data points falling below the dotted line which represents a perfect prediction. A similar trend is observed for fossil fuels, with data points mainly situated below the dotted line, signifying that the projected rates of fossil fuels were often overestimated. As most data points fall beneath the y=0 line, it depicts that the actual speed of fossil fuel decline often outpaced the projected rates. This implies that the G7 countries tend to overestimate future electricity demand, leading to a slower decline of fossil fuels in projections. However, in reality, the demand stagnated in the 2000s and 2010s in all the G7 countries except Canada, resulting in a faster decline of fossil fuels (see Section 6.3).

In contrast, the correlation for RES presents a different pattern where the projected and actual growths are closely aligned. This strong correlation is particularly evident in short-term projections (forecasts spanning up to 10 years) where the *p*-value is < 0.01 (i.e. projections being a statistically significant predictor for actual transitions). In the long-term projections, the actual growth of RES often outpaces the projected rates, suggesting that the long-term potential of RES expansion tends to be underestimated. Nonetheless, all projections for RES show a p-value < 0.01.

Conversely, Figure 6.17 reveals a significantly different picture for nuclear power, illustrating a weak to negligible correlation between projections and actual transitions, accompanied by high *p*-values and modest *R*-values. This denotes a substantial challenge in planning and realising the future role of nuclear power. The slight downward trend of correlation lines even suggests that when faster growth (or slower decline) was projected, it actually declined faster. Interestingly, this phenomenon is even more prominent in the projections developed after Fukushima. This indicates that the G7 countries continued *unsuccessfully* aiming to maintain or increase the use of nuclear

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

power towards the future in their policies even after Fukushima, despite the presumably improved consideration of the risks and uncertainties associated with the technology in formulating these policies. This failure to realise projected output from nuclear power resulted in lowering the reliability of projections for low-carbon electricity generation in total (All.LC) despite the near-perfect realisation of projected renewable growth (Figure 6.17).

The varying reliabilities of projections for different energy sources suggest the potential for further strengthening countries' policies in the pursuit of decarbonisation. At the same time, this variation highlights the challenges faced by national policymakers as they navigate the balance between motivations and the associated complexities of transitions.

For example, the frequent underestimation in projecting the future decline of fossil fuels may suggest that countries should anticipate the continuation of this declining trend in the future. This approach could, in turn, incentivise the accelerated growth of low-carbon technologies to substitute fossil fuels. However, pursuing such faster substitution may not align with the interests of fossil fuel industries, which have exerted considerable influence on national energy policymaking. This is exemplified in Germany, where accelerating the phase-out of coal became only possible by compensating for the potential loss of the relevant industries and communities, amounting to 40 billion EUR (see subsection 4.2.1 for details).

Furthermore, the significantly unreliable projections for the future role of nuclear power may suggest that these countries should consider abandoning the technology and, instead, focus on developing more easily achievable options such as RES. On the other hand, this goes against "the many eggs in the basket" approach, which may be the safest strategy to prepare for the uncertainties regarding technological innovation in the future (Grubler, 2012, p. 15; Wilson and

Grubler, 2011). At the same time, nuclear power is expected to make a significant contribution to decarbonising the energy sector in the world by doubling the electricity supply from the source to account for 10% of electricity in 2050 (IEA, 2021b; Rogelj et al., 2018). In this context, the G7 countries, which historically led the development and diffusion of nuclear power, shifting away from the technology to focus on developing renewables may run counter to what is required to accelerate low-carbon substitutions at the global level.

6.6 Summary

While the existing literature identifies both enabling and constraining factors for national governments to accelerate energy transitions, this chapter provides empirical insights into how the overall stringency of national transition policies has evolved in the G7 countries between 2000 and 2023.

This chapter shows that, as of December 2023, none of the G7 countries has yet shown a stringency of policies to achieve the speed of low-carbon substitutions compatible with the IEA net-zero pathway to keep the global temperature increase below 1.5°C (Figure 6.15 and Figure 6.16). However, it is noteworthy that Germany and the UK substantially strengthened their policies to accelerate low-carbon substitutions after the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022 to improve energy security, reflected in their latest projections compared to their previous ones. While these projected rates are still not 1.5°C compatible, it is remarkable how energy security concerns can accelerate the country's efforts within a few years. While Japan's latest projection in 2021—displaying the highest speed of low-carbon substitutions across the G7 countries so far—exhibits a comparable rate of fossil fuel decline, it still significantly falls short of the acceleration required to develop

low-carbon technologies. Whether the Russo-Ukrainian War exhibits the same acceleration effects in Japan as well as other G7 countries remains unclear.

This chapter also demonstrated that the ratchet-up in the state efforts to accelerate low-carbon substitutions can be seen in the G7 countries but not in all countries nor constantly. Among these countries, the constant or near-constant ratchet-up has been observed in the US and Japan, though even their most recent and thus ambitious rates of transitions remain significantly far away from the net-zero pathway. In contrast, though widely considered as leading countries in mitigating climate change, this chapter reveals that Germany and the UK projected rapid low-carbon substitutions only after 2010. Italy started to project accelerating low-carbon substitutions even later than Germany and the UK in the late 2010s, with its low-carbon electricity target slightly declining recently. Despite having largely decarbonised electricity sectors, Canada and France seem to struggle with completing the decarbonisation process, where Canada currently even aims to slightly expand the use of fossil fuels in electricity supply in the coming decade.

Moreover, comparing the projected transitions towards 2020 with the actual transitions reveals that the G7 countries almost always projected a slower decline in fossil fuels than the rate that actually took place. Additionally, these countries often fell short of realising the maintenance and expansion of nuclear power as expected, even in the projections developed after the Fukushima nuclear accident in 2011. This consequently resulted in the frequent underachievement of developing low-carbon electricity by 2020, despite the near-perfect realisation of renewable growth as projected. This indicates that there may be several ways to strengthen transition policies further to accelerate low-carbon substitutions. First, these countries should take into account the fact that their projections on fossil fuel decline have almost always been underestimated.

Projecting rates based on the empirical declining trend and speed of fossil fuels can provide a clearer signal, potentially expediting the development of alternative technologies. Secondly, among the alternative technologies, these countries could focus on more easily attainable options, such as modern renewable technologies, rather than nuclear power, considering the frequent failures to realise the maintenance and revitalisation of the technology as projected in recent decades.

Furthermore, targeting a higher speed of transitions does not guarantee its full realisation. As the pressure to accelerate transitions will arguably persist and intensify, the G7 countries may set increasingly ambitious, albeit potentially 'hollow', targets without the actual policy instruments implemented to realise them. This is evident in the substantial disparity that remains between the national pledges of the G7 countries to decarbonise electricity by 2035 and their latest transition projections reflecting actual and planned policies implemented, as examined in this chapter. Exploring the extent and speed at which this gap could be narrowed, along with the feasibility of achieving the increased ambition, is an important area for future research.

7. Discussion

This chapter explores the contributions of my dissertation in the context of the existing literature on political acceleration in energy transitions to mitigate climate change. I begin by briefly revisiting the state of the art while highlighting the gaps in the literature that my dissertation aimed to address in Section 7.1. Against this backdrop, I summarise the methodological, empirical, and theoretical contributions of this dissertation in Sections 7.2, 7.3, and 7.4, respectively. Additionally, I discuss the limitations of my research and outline the need for further research in Section 7.4.

7.1 State of the art and the gap in the literature

There are two major approaches in the literature analysing energy transitions to mitigate climate change.

The one group, comprising energy historians, technology diffusion scholars, and energy economists, examines the long-term trend in the economy-wide use of energy resources and technologies at the global level and compares this historical development with required transitions. By adopting this highly aggregated approach, they demonstrate that the speed of energy transitions has consistently been very slow, spanning multiple decades to even centuries (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; Grubler et al., 2016; Kramer and Haigh, 2009; Smil, 2010). Furthermore, they argue that the historical development of the energy sector should be categorised as 'energy additions' because new technologies have consistently been added on top of existing ones rather than replacing them (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; York and Bell, 2019).

Given the consistent speed and nature of these transitions, they do not discern significant political interventions to shift the trend and, thus, often contend that energy transitions have been primarily driven by technology innovation and market forces (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; Smil, 2010).

From this perspective, these scholars perceive the required transitions to mitigate climate change, which necessitate significant political acceleration, as extremely unlikely because they deviate significantly from the historical trend in the development of the energy sector (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; Smil, 2024, 2016b, 2010; Stoddard et al., 2021).

The other group, comprising sustainable transition scholars and climate policy researchers, contrastingly pursues highly granular analyses of changes in individual technologies and policies over a short period of time, often at the national level and typically within recent decades. Their primary aim is to identify rapid socio-technical transition cases and examine the role of actors and (often climate) policies in these 'best practices' (Chapman and Itaoka, 2018; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Köhler et al., 2019; Sovacool, 2016; Sovacool and Geels, 2016). These contributions primarily focus on the growth of new technologies such as renewables (Chapman and Itaoka, 2018; Jänicke, 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Rogge and Johnstone, 2017), but increasing attention has recently been given to studying the decline of incumbent technologies such as coal (Brauers et al., 2020; Rosenbloom, 2018; Sovacool, 2016).

With the field witnessing rapid growth, scholars are making explosive contributions identifying numerous relevant cases, often involving political interventions. Coupled with the surge in political interest to mitigate climate change and the escalating adoption of climate policies in recent decades, these scholars claim that recent energy transitions have been increasingly governed by policies and taking place faster than in the past (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Sovacool and Geels, 2016). From this perspective, the required rapid transitions are deemed possible, particularly if the identified 'successful' examples, such as renewable growth in Germany and the UK, are replicated globally (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Roberts et al., 2018; Sovacool and Geels, 2016).

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

These contrasting arguments on the historical and expected rates of political acceleration in energy transitions thus arise from the fact that their scopes of analyses and corresponding methodologies are mismatched and are either too broad or too narrow. The main issue with the broad analysis, focusing on long-term changes in global energy use, is that it inevitably overlooks potentially accelerated cases including those driven by policies in specific sectors and countries over a particular period. This is problematic because revolutionary technological transformations often originate from such initially insignificant niches that later expand and disuse exponentially (Sovacool and Geels, 2016).

On the other hand, the primary issue with the highly focused analysis, such as short-term individual technological changes and the impacts of policies within specific socio-technical systems, is the lack of examination regarding the significance of such narrowly scoped cases compared to the systemic long-term transitions in the energy sector required for climate change mitigation. For instance, the rapid growth of renewables, whether accelerated by policies or not, would not automatically accelerate the decarbonisation of the entire energy system if it merely expands on top of existing technologies. These technological interactions are beyond the scope of highly granular studies and are consequently neglected in the literature (Rinscheid et al., 2021).

Moreover, the fact that these transition studies are primarily single case studies without comparative analysis (Grubler et al., 2016; Sorrell, 2018) raises questions about whether this focused case is genuinely an accelerated example compared to other countries and technologies in recent as well as more historical transitions. Perhaps more importantly, this lack of comparative analysis leaves it unclear whether, even if the identified case is accelerated, it is rapid enough to achieve the necessary transitions for climate change mitigation. Advocating for the replication of

154

such cases without verifying the extent of acceleration could potentially hinder, rather than expedite, global decarbonisation processes.

Furthermore, the short-term analysis fails to elucidate the long-term effects of policies, which may diminish over time due to potential weakening, dismantling, or even reversal of policies. These effects could also be overshadowed by other confounding factors. Additionally, the apparent increase in the number of politically 'accelerated' cases identified in recent decades may be influenced by a measurement bias, as studying past policies with the same rigour is challenging. Simultaneously, there is a risk of publication or innovation bias, where only successful cases tend to be reported in the literature, overlooking potentially many more cases of failure (Rogers, 2003).

In summary, the existing approaches to analysing energy transitions are either too broad or too narrow, preventing a systematic comparison to understand whether and, if so, how recent energy transitions differ from historical ones. In particular, resolving the contrasting arguments on the rates of political acceleration in energy transitions requires a middle-range methodology and comparative analysis, which allow for a nuanced exploration of the existence and rates of political acceleration in the energy sector across countries and time-periods.

My dissertation aimed to overcome this stalemate in the literature through methodological innovations, enabling me to make new empirical observations and formulate new theoretical insights.

7.2 Methodological contributions

My dissertation makes three overarching methodological contributions to the existing literature in order to resolve the existing debate on the rates of political acceleration in energy transitions: (1)

developing a middle-range approach to analyse energy transitions; (2) advancing this approach while conducting various comparative analyses; and (3) utilising national energy transition projections as proxy to examine the evolution of policies over time.

7.2.1 Developing a middle-range methodology to analyse energy transitions

My dissertation developed a 'middle-range' methodology to analyse energy transitions. In contrast to the two major approaches in the literature, this 'middle-range' approach stands out as a more balanced way to analyse energy transitions in terms of geography, sectoral coverage, time horizon, and methods (Table 3.4).

First, I focused on analysing national energy transitions since energy transitions are primarily driven by national policies (Falkner, 2016; Helm, 2002; Ikenberry, 1986). Moreover, I focused on large economies, which tend to possess complex energy systems encompassing multiple accelerating and decelerating mechanisms, thereby providing a foundation to examine how policies have affected transitions The speed of energy transitions in these countries, such as the G7 and the EU, also carries significant implications for achieving global climate targets.

Secondly, I examined the changes in the electricity sector, considering all relevant technologies and analysing their interactions. This approach can be applied to other energy sectors, such as transport, buildings, and industry, but I specifically chose the electricity sector for this dissertation because much of the decarbonisation efforts have so far focused on the sector, hence political acceleration is most expected (Nascimento et al., 2022b).

Thirdly, I analysed medium-term transitions in the electricity sector over more than six decades, which is important to distil differences between past and more recent transitions.

156

Lastly, by focusing on national energy transitions, this middle-range approach employs mixed methods in contrast to the existing approaches, which are either largely based on quantitative or qualitative analysis. As I explain further below, with this approach, I conducted a series of longitudinal comparative case studies combined with statistical analyses to delve into the dynamic relationships among the changes in technological and market trends, energy systems, and policies.

7.2.2 Advancing the approach while conducting comparative analyses

I pursued a step-by-step approach to test and progressively advance this middle-range approach by conducting a series of longitudinal comparative analyses lacking in the existing literature in order to elucidate the rates of political acceleration in energy transitions (Table 7.1).

Lack of comparative analysis in the literature	Comparat	ive analysis conducted in my dissertation
 Comparison across countries: Individual country cases lack a comparison to others, causing uncertainty about their relative transition speed and extent. 	Chapter 4	Electricity transitions in Germany and the UK to test the mid-range approach (addressing (1) and (2))
 Comparison within historical periods: Recent changes lack a comparison to historical transitions, causing uncertainty about their relative transition speed and extent. 	Chapter 5	Electricity transitions in G7 and EU to advance and verify the approach (addressing $(1), (2), $ and (3))
③ Comparison with future climate targets: Recent changes lack a comparison to necessary climate targets, creating uncertainty about their adequacy in terms of transition speed and ratcheting up of policies.	Chapter 6	Evolution of electricity transition policies in G7 (addressing $(1), (2)$ and (3))

|--|

In Chapter 4, I tested the middle-range approach to comparatively analyse electricity transitions in Germany and the UK. These countries were selected because they are often considered "climate leaders", providing a promising opportunity to identify and assess the rates of political acceleration in energy transitions (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Tobin, 2017). I analysed the historical and planned changes in the electricity sector and policies in these countries between 1960 and 2030 by

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

segmenting the period into a sequential set of decadal episodes. This segmentation was introduced to examine the evolving interactions between the changes in policies and the electricity system over time. Such systematic and granular analysis is crucial to understanding the sequence of policy change and its outcomes, but it is rarely conducted in the existing literature, with a few exceptions, such as Cherp et al. (2017).

In Chapter 5, I further advanced and validated the approach by expanding the scope to focus on the G7 and the EU while also comparing their transitions with other comparable economies (see subsection 3.3.3 for more detailed methods). Here, the focus of analysis shifted towards comparing the nature and speed of electricity transitions within historical periods since 1960, as well as with the required transitions outlined by the IEA 1.5°C/net-zero pathway towards 2035 (IEA, 2021a).

In order to trace the changes in the nature of energy transitions, I categorised energy transitions into four types based on the changes and their interplays in fossil fuels and low-carbon technologies (see Figure 3.2. The significance of this conceptualisation is further discussed in subsection 7.4.1): (1) **energy additions** where low-carbon technologies are built on top of, not replacing, fossil fuels; (2) **low-carbon substitutions** where low-carbon technologies replace fossil fuels; (3) **high-carbon substitutions** where low-carbon technologies are replaced by fossil fuels; and (4) **energy reductions** where both low-carbon technologies and fossil fuels decline in the shrinking energy system.

With these categorisations, I specifically aimed to examine whether and how the growing climate policies have altered the changes in the nature and speed of energy transitions beyond historical trends. In this chapter, the segmentation of time periods was reduced to five years instead of ten years. This change was made based on the analysis of Chapter 4, which revealed that technologies,

particularly modern renewables, can experience rapid growth within a shorter timeframe than ten years. In this chapter, I also developed empirically grounded speed zones of energy transitions (Figure 5.8, also see Figure 3.3 for more detailed methods), constructed by the density of relevant historical observations to examine the rates of acceleration necessary in the future.

Lastly, in Chapter 6, I employed the middle-range approach to analyse the progression of transition policies in the G7 countries in recent decades, addressing the gap in the literature where the evolution of overall policy stringency to mitigate climate change is rarely studied (more details on the methodological innovation related to this chapter follows in subsection 7.2.3).

These comparisons required a method to normalise changes in the energy system as it varies across countries and over time. To achieve this, my dissertation adapted a metric originally developed by Vinichenko et al. (2021) to comparatively analyse the rate of energy transitions. The results of my empirical chapters confirm the validity of this metric and its usefulness for the variety of comparative analyses conducted in this dissertation.

7.2.3 National transition projections as proxy to examine the stringency of policies

To the best of my knowledge, Chapter 6 of my dissertation is the first attempt to empirically analyse the evolving stringency of national energy transition policies over time. The existing literature on the ratchet-up of policies remains largely theoretical, while some studies analysed the changes in political 'targets' to mitigate climate change in terms of renewable growth (Leipprand et al., 2020; Pahle et al., 2018) or emission reductions (Leipprand et al., 2020; Nascimento and Höhne, 2023).

However, there is often a gap between political targets and the policies actually implemented (Elzen et al., 2019; Kuramochi et al., 2021; Nascimento et al., 2023; Rogelj et al., 2023), indicating that the ratcheting up of policy targets does not necessarily translate to an intensification of actual actions, which are what truly matter, rather than merely raising the targets. For example, while Leipprand et al. (2020) observe the progressive increase in the emission reduction targets of the EU ETS over time, its actual performance has been deemed unsatisfactory due to a lack of harmonisation between the EU-wide cap and national actions in the member states, resulting in the overflow of emission allowances (Bausch et al., 2017).

I thus aimed to analyse the evolving stringency of policies over time by examining the evolution of national energy transition projections. These projections are developed based on the presumed impacts of existing and planned policies at the time of projection development and can therefore be used as a proxy of policy stringency (see subsection 7.5.2 for the limitations of this method and the suggested avenue for future research).

7.3 Empirical contributions

By employing mixed methods to comparatively analyse national energy transitions across the G7, the EU, and other comparable countries over the last six decades, my dissertation demonstrates that climate policies have not accelerated energy transitions in the G7 and the EU beyond historical trends. Moreover, I reveal that none of these countries has ever achieved or planned to achieve a compatible speed of transitions required to meet their political commitment to decarbonising electricity by 2035, resulting in a significant gap between actual and planned transitions and the required transitions for the 1.5°C target. This gap has frequently widened because of the

continuous failure of these countries to maintain and re-vitalise nuclear power as planned in recent decades, necessitating increased reliance on fossil fuels in actual transitions.

7.3.1 Changing nature of energy transition but the speed has not been faster in recent decades

While most transition studies and climate policy research focus on energy transitions since 1990 as the starting point for sustainable transitions (Geels et al., 2016b; Hoppe et al., 2023; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Nascimento et al., 2022b), my dissertation analyses show that the majority of the G7 countries and the EU, including Germany and the UK, began decarbonising the electricity sector only after the mid-2000s (Figure 5.6, Figure 5.7, Table 5.2). Until this period, low-carbon technologies were added on top of fossil fuels instead of replacing them to meet the growing demand for electricity, thereby pursuing 'energy additions'. These countries were about to start decarbonising electricity with rapidly growing nuclear power outpacing their energy demand increase in the 1980s. However, this did not materialise because nuclear power immediately began to stagnate after the Chernobyl disaster in 1986, re-necessitating the G7 and the EU to increase reliance on fossil fuels instead to supply the demand (Figure 5.6).

What changed after the mid-2000s? It may be tempting to assume that it was due to climate policies accelerating the growth of renewables and the decline of fossil fuels. The number of climate policies indeed rapidly grew, particularly after 1990, with ca. 50 policies in force in 1990 to ca. 400 in 2000, ca. 1400 in 2010 and more than ca. 2100 in 2020 (Figure 5.3). Many existing studies claim that these policies have accelerated the growth of renewables and the decline of fossil fuels (IRENA, 2022; Kern and Rogge, 2016; Loftus et al., 2015).

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

However, my dissertation reveals that the growth of renewables in recent decades has continuously been slower than the historical growth of nuclear power in the 1970s and 1980s, which was also politically driven after the oil crises (Figure 7.1A). After reaching 1% of the market share, which is generally considered the take-off point from which energy technologies start to grow exponentially (Vinichenko, 2018), it took 17 years for nuclear power to supply 15% of electricity in the G7 and the EU. In contrast, it took the same 17 years for modern renewables (all renewable sources except hydropower combined) to supply only 3% of electricity and took an additional 13 years (i.e. 30 years in total) to reach the 15% market share.

The period of political acceleration in energy transitions after the oil crisis also provides a comparative benchmark to assess whether, and if so, to which extent the current decline of fossil fuels has been accelerated compared to the past. This is because the main purpose of the political intervention in the 1970s and 1980s was to remove oil from the energy system to the extent possible to strengthen otherwise looming energy security, including by developing nuclear power. Panel B of Figure 7.1 shows the rapid decline of oil use in electricity supply, achieving a 51% decline in just 10 years between 1973 and 1983 (i.e. 5.1% per year). This decline, however, may not be a suitable benchmark because oil was primarily used in other energy sectors, including transport, industry, and heating.

It is thus more relevant to look at the decline of oil use in the primary energy supply (Figure 7.1B). In addition to efficiency improvement measures, developed countries including the G7 introduced a series of more stringent and 'emergent' measures including restrictions on driving, flying and the use of lights and heating, efficiency programs for industries, as well as directly controlling the
oil prices (Johnstone and Schot, 2023). As a result, oil in the primary energy supply in the G7 declined by 25% in 10 years between 1973 and 1983.



A Growth speed of nuclear power and modern renewables

Figure 7.1: Historical growth of nuclear power compared to the recent growth of modern renewables in G7 and EU (A). Historical decline of oil in electricity supply (B), compared to the historical decline of oil in primary energy supply (C), and to the recent decline of fossil fuels in electricity supply (D) in G7.

Notes: Both electricity and primary energy data are from IEA (IEA, 2022), which are smoothed by using threeyear moving averages. 100% in the y-axis in Panels B, C, and D means the maximum electricity or primary energy supply from oil in these countries since 1960.

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

The recent decline of fossil fuels in electricity supply shows exactly the same speed as this historical decline of oil use in primary energy supply: a 25% decline in 10 years between 2007 and 2017 and a slightly slower decline afterwards (Figure 7.1D). While this is remarkable, it is important to note that the recent decline of fossil fuels may have been relatively easier because the electricity demand has been declining since the mid-2000s (Figure 5.2), making fossil fuels simply unnecessary compared to the oil decline in the 1970s where oil was the only energy source to fuel some sectors such as transport and industrial uses.

The pivotal shift from energy additions to substitutions in the mid-2000s was thus enabled neither by the accelerated growth of low-carbon electricity nor the decline of fossil fuels but by the declining demand for electricity, making it possible for slowly growing renewables to replace fossil fuels (Figure 5.6).

7.3.2 No compatible transition has ever occurred or planned for 1.5°C

My dissertation shows that none of the G7 countries have empirically demonstrated in their historical transitions or even planned the rates of acceleration in the future necessary to meet the IEA 1.5°C pathway up to 2023 (Table 7.2).

Focusing on historical transitions since 1960, while existing studies report an increasing number of 'rapid' transition cases, mostly within the G7 and the EU countries (see subsection 2.3.3), my dissertation reveals that these countries have never actually achieved the compatible speed of transitions required to meet the IEA 1.5°C pathway (Table 7.2 and see also Figure 5.9 which includes comparable economies to the G7 and the EU). The trend in the existing literature to encourage other countries to replicate their historical cases would, therefore, not result in meeting climate target requirements.

	Historical until 1990		Recent si	Recent since 1990		fter 2000
	LC growth	FF decline	LC growth	FF decline	LC growth	FF decline
Canada	\bigotimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes
France	1972-1987	\otimes	\bigotimes	\otimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes
Germany	\otimes	\otimes	\otimes	short: 2015-2020	DE-22 almost comparable	\bigotimes
Italy	\bigotimes	\otimes	\bigotimes	short: 2008-2013	\bigotimes	\otimes
Japan	\bigotimes	\otimes	\bigotimes	short: 2015-2020	\bigotimes	JP-21 largely nuclear restart
US	\bigotimes	\otimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes	\bigotimes
UK	\bigotimes	\otimes	relatively fast RES	2005-2020	GB-23 fastest 5% speed zone	GB-23 2005-2020

Table 7.2: Compatibility of historical and recent transitions as well as policies implemented after 2000 with the IEA 1.5°C pathway for the G7 countries.

Notes: The green sign means compatible (required speed is achieved), and yellow means not compatible but close in some respect (e.g. "short" indicates that a comparable rate was achieved but shorter than the duration required to meet the IEA 1.5°C pathway), and red means not compatible at all.

These starkly different findings from my dissertation research arise from the fact that, unlike existing studies that focus on examining individual technological changes, I analyse the systemic transitions in the electricity sector involving all technologies and their interactions (see subsection 7.2.1 for further discussion on the methodological differences and the merits of my 'middle-range' approach). While Germany is perhaps the most well-studied country in transition literature, often focusing on the recent growth of renewables, the country has actually achieved neither the necessary growth rate of low-carbon electricity nor the decline of fossil fuels (Table 7.2 and Figure 5.9). This is because the growth of renewables has been accompanied by the concurrent decline of nuclear power (Figure 5.7), occasionally necessitating increased reliance on fossil fuels, leading

to intermittent rises in the country's GHG emissions over the past decade (Alkousaa and Wacket, 2023).

There are some cases, however, where either the necessary growth speed of low-carbon electricity or the decline speed of fossil fuels was achieved (Table 7.2 and Figure 5.9). My comparative analysis quantitatively confirms the literature that the historical development of nuclear power in France in the 1970s and 1980s exhibits not only rapid (Grubler, 2010; Sovacool, 2016), but actually the fastest growth of low-carbon electricity in history. I also find that a similar speed was also achieved by Sweden during the same decades (Figure 5.9). Looking at the decline of fossil fuels, while the existing literature tends to emphasise the rapid coal decline in the UK (Brauers et al., 2020; Pollitt, 2012; Rentier et al., 2019), my analysis demonstrates that the UK actually achieved among the fastest decline of fossil fuels across the world, which is compatible with the 1.5°C pathway between 2005 and 2020 (Table 7.2 and Figure 5.9).

Not only do historical transitions in the G7 lack any episodes of transitions compatible with the IEA 1.5°C pathway, but these countries have also never implemented nor planned to implement policies as stringent as realising the required transitions in the future up to 2023 (Figure 6.15). Surprisingly, Japan, often labelled a 'climate laggard', projected the fastest rate of low-carbon substitutions in 2021 at 6.6% per year towards 2035. However, even this rate is not compatible with the IEA 1.5°C pathway, particularly due to a lack of acceleration in developing low-carbon electricity other than restarting currently idled nuclear power plants. Consequently, Japan is the only country among the G7 that currently plans to decrease its electricity supply by 2035 (Figure 6.9). While this may help decarbonise the electricity sector, it may not have the same effect on other energy sectors that require additional electricity to reduce emissions.

The UK most recently projected the second-fastest rate of low-carbon substitutions among the G7, reaching 5.9% per year in 2023, following the Russo-Ukrainian War (Figure 6.15). This reflected a political commitment to accelerate the decline of fossil fuels in line with the IEA 1.5°C pathway. However, while the UK also aims to further expedite the growth of low-carbon electricity, this growth is still not compatible with the pathway. Nonetheless, the recent efforts of the UK to accelerate both the decline of fossil fuels and the growth of low-carbon technologies position its latest projection as the most closely aligned with achieving 1.5°C among all the projections of the G7 countries analysed in this dissertation (Figure 6.16).

The third-fastest rate of low-carbon substitutions was targeted by Germany at 5.8% per year in 2022, also following the Russo-Ukrainian War and the subsequent political commitment to accelerate the growth of renewables, aiming for a 4.2% annual increase between 2022 and 2035 (Figure 6.15). While this represents a significant acceleration compared to the 2020 projection, achieving such rapid rates necessitates a fourfold increase in renewable growth compared to the empirical rates observed in 2015-2020. Furthermore, to align with the IEA 1.5°C pathway, Germany needs to hasten the decline of fossil fuels by more than twice the current projection (Figure 6.2). These required accelerations raise feasibility concerns, particularly due to Germany's low-carbon electricity supply undergoing a substantial decline at -3% per year, while the use of fossil fuels increased at 4% per year, resulting in high-carbon substitutions between 2020 and 2022 (Figure 5.10).

Are the UK and Germany leading decarbonisation efforts?

While no comparable episode has occurred since 1960, where the required growth of low-carbon technologies and the decline of fossil fuels for the IEA 1.5°C pathway were achieved

simultaneously, the UK stands out for accomplishing the fastest transitions in recent decades among the G7: it is the only country which achieved the necessary rate and duration of fossil fuel decline between 2005 and 2020, and plans to replicate this speed in its latest projection (Table 7.2 and Figure 6.4).

In 2015-2020, the UK also achieved the fastest growth of modern renewables among the G7 at 3% per year (Figure 5.4). This, however, did not lead to the necessary growth of low-carbon electricity because nuclear power, despite increasing state support since the mid-2000s, did not grow but instead declined rapidly (Figure 5.4). If nuclear power would have been re-developed as politically envisaged, the UK may have achieved, for the first time in history, a comparable low-carbon substitution in line with the IEA 1.5°C pathway (Table 7.2).

The same story would not apply to Germany. While it may be tempting to assume that Germany could have experienced a comparable low-carbon substitution episode by not phasing out nuclear power and allowing it to continue running to replace fossil fuels, Germany would still not have achieved the necessary growth of low-carbon electricity in the 2000s or 2010s. This is because the growth rates of modern renewables in Germany were lower than in the UK, with the growth rate even decelerating from 2010-2015 to 2015-2020 (Figure 5.4).

Examining policies post-2000, although still not aligning with the IEA 1.5°C pathway, the UK once again distinguishes itself as the only country showcasing the stringency of policies in 2023 to achieve the fastest 5% speed of low-carbon substitutions with the sufficient decline rate of fossil fuels towards 2035 (Figure 6.16). Realising this projection and further accelerating the necessary growth of low-carbon electricity for the 1.5°C target may require the UK to reverse its long-declining trend of nuclear power, despite the increasing political efforts to revitalise the technology

since the mid-2000s—a topic I will further discuss in the next subsection 7.3.3. In contrast, Germany, up to 2023, has not demonstrated the stringency of policies compatible with the decline of fossil fuels required for the 1.5°C target (Table 7.2 and Figure 6.2).

7.3.3 The role of nuclear power in accelerating energy transitions

Nuclear power enabled the first phase of low-carbon substitutions in the G7 in 1980-1985 (Figure 5.6), but it ironically became the reason for a slower transition towards decarbonisation in recent decades.

Figure 7.2 illustrates the continuous decline of nuclear power since the mid-2000s despite the G7's consistent efforts to maintain and re-develop the technology. Particularly, Japan, Canada, and the UK, aimed for a significant upscaling of the technology in the 2000s and 2010s but continuously failed to achieve it (See Panel B in Figure 6.9 for Japan, Figure 6.11 for Canada, and Figure 6.3 for the UK).

My analysis further shows that when these countries aimed for a higher nuclear power supply in their energy transition projections, a more significant decline actually occurred even after Fukushima, despite the presumably improved consideration of the risks and uncertainties associated with the technology (Figure 6.17). The failure to meet the projected growth of nuclear power often led to the underachievement of projected low-carbon electricity growth across the G7 countries, despite the frequent overachievement in the growth of renewables (Figure 6.17).



Figure 7.2: Historical and planned supply of nuclear power in 2000s, 2010s, and since 2020.

Notes: Coloured lines show the supply of nuclear power normalised to the maximum value recorded in each G7 country. The black line represents the median of the trajectories of these countries. Italy is excluded since the country phased out nuclear power immediately after the Chernobyl disaster in 1986 and has neither restarted the plants nor planned to redevelop nuclear power.

This continuous policy failure also necessitated the UK to subsequently lower the projected speed of low-carbon substitutions towards 2035 in the 2010s (Figure 6.3). While the G7 countries still aim to increase the output of nuclear power in their current projections (Figure 7.2), the persistent decline trend raises questions about its achievability, suggesting that significantly stronger policies are necessary to reverse the trend.

7.4 Theoretical contributions

My dissertation also makes multiple theoretical contributions. First, this dissertation developed a typology of energy transitions to systematically categorise them into four distinct types that are most relevant for climate change mitigation (Figure 3.2). This approach facilitates the

identification of trends in transitions, the examination of the overall impacts of climate policies on altering the trends, and the comparison of transitions across countries and time-periods. Through the application of this typology to conduct multiple comparative analyses, I show that recent transitions are not more policy-driven compared to the past. Additionally, I argue for the importance of the role of context, in addition to technology characteristics, in accelerating energy transitions.

7.4.1 Typology of energy transitions

In the existing literature, various types of technological changes in the energy sector have been uniformly termed as energy transitions. This tendency is particularly noticeable in transition studies, where the expansion of renewables or the decline of coal is frequently labelled as cases of 'low-carbon transitions' without specifying whether the growth of renewables substituted fossil fuels or the decline of coal led to an overall reduction in fossil fuels. This lack of attention to the interactions between technologies is problematic because the expansion or reduction of certain technologies may not always result in the decarbonisation of the entire energy system (see subsection 2.4.1 for more details). A similar tendency can be observed in other energy sectors. For example, while the growth in the new sales of electric vehicles tends to be immediately considered as another case of 'low-carbon transition' (Keith et al., 2019), in reality, we may be adding just more new cars on the road, which would not lead to reducing emissions.

Therefore, my dissertation developed a typology of energy transitions based on the changes and the interplays between fossil fuels and low-carbon technologies to systematically categorise the types of energy transitions most relevant to mitigating climate change (Figure 3.2). This typology is a significant contribution to the literature because it enables systematically tracing the

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

developments of energy transitions including direction and speed over time (Figure 5.6), and allows for comparisons across countries and time-periods (Figure 5.9 and Figure 6.16). Through this comparative analysis, it is also possible to examine how policy introductions impact energy transitions beyond historical trends towards decarbonisation (Figure 5.2, Figure 5.6, and Figure 6.16).

No such typology was introduced in the literature before, as evidenced by the fact that this was one of the key contributions of my paper, which was published in one of the top journals in the field in 2023. However, it is worth noting that the term 'energy additions' had already been coined by some scholars (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012; York and Bell, 2019), which inspired the development of this typology by identifying three more types to complete the quadrant classification (Figure 3.2).

7.4.2 Energy transitions have always been policy-driven

Transition scholars and climate policy researchers who focus on analysing recent transitions tend to assume that energy transitions are increasingly governed by (climate) policies compared to historical transitions (see subsection 2.3.3). This is the fundamental assumption on which these scholars base their argument that low-carbon energy transitions are unique and take place faster than historical transitions, particularly in the future following the trend of the growing political attention to mitigate climate change and the increasing number of climate policies introduced in recent decades (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Roberts et al., 2018; Sovacool and Geels, 2016).

However, my dissertation quantitatively validates the arguments of political scientists (see subsection 2.2.1 for my review of their argument), which were predominantly rooted in qualitative analyses, that national governments and policies have consistently played a significant role in

energy transitions, spanning historical events, recent developments, and are likely to continue doing so in the future. Focusing on the outcomes of the increasing adoption of climate policies, my dissertation reveals that the inclusion of climate change mitigation in the political agenda has not yet resulted in altering the pace of energy transitions beyond historical trends (Figure 5.2, Figure 5.3, and Figure 5.6). In other words, climate change mitigation and climate policy are not unique; they are another set of policy objectives and instruments akin to energy security and energy policy, which have predominantly shaped historical energy transitions. While climate objectives and instruments may appear more salient because they have surfaced in recent decades, they have not dictated the course of energy transitions as widely assumed in the literature.

This finding has two significant implications. One piece of bad news is that historical energy transition research which argues that "energy transitions are inherently complex and prolonged affairs" and thus "none of today's promises for a greatly accelerated energy transition from fossil fuels to renewable energies will be realized" (Smil, 2010, p. 28) actually factors in historical political efforts, while not explicitly recognised by the scholars (Fouquet and Pearson, 2012). This also explains why recent energy transitions are rather slower than historical transitions in the G7 and the EU (Figure 7.1): recent transitions may be less politically accelerated compared to the past, which may indicate that national governments are now more constrained in accelerating energy transitions than in the past (see my further discussion on this point in the next subsection 7.4.3).

One piece of good news, however, is that history may offer more examples of accelerated energy transition cases from which we can examine how to replicate and further amplify the effects of policies. My dissertation identifies some of these historical examples, including the development of nuclear power in France and Sweden in the 1970s and 1980s (Figure 5.9 and Figure 5.8). These

instances stand out as the only historical cases to date where the required growth rate of low-carbon electricity, essential for achieving the 1.5°C target, has ever been attained.

7.4.3 Role of the context and technology characteristics in technological growth

Existing studies often assume that modern renewable technologies, such as solar and wind power, would grow rapidly by highlighting the advantages of their technological characteristics, such as being relatively simple (Malhotra and Schmidt, 2020), granular (Sweerts et al., 2020; Wilson et al., 2023, 2020), decentralised (Wilson et al., 2020), and increasingly cheaper (Cooper, 2016; Lovins et al., 2018).

However, my dissertation shows that it was actually nuclear power, which is relatively more complex, lumpy, centralised, and expensive, that developed faster in the G7 and the EU, even compared to the recent growth of all modern renewables combined (Figure 5.11. Also see Figure 7.1). This supports the view of Roberts et al. (2018) and validates the findings of Vinichenko et al. (2023a), demonstrating the importance of contexts in accelerating energy transitions in addition to technological characteristics. Furthermore, my dissertation goes beyond Vinichenko et al. (2023a) by showing the political contexts behind the different levels of acceleration in nuclear power and renewables and demonstrating how these different speeds relate to the resistance from incumbent actors, particularly fossil fuel industries.

Table 7.3 summarises the main technological characteristics and contexts behind the rapid growth of nuclear power and the slower growth of modern renewables in the G7 and the EU.

		Nuclear power	Modern renewables	
Technology characteristics	Complexity	complex	simple	
	Size	lumpy	granular	
	Installations	relatively few and centralised (slow learning rates)	many and distributed (fast learning rates)	
	Costs	more expensive and not declining high investment risks	cheaper and declining lower investment risks	
Assumed growth in the literature		Slow growth	Rapid growth	
	Time	1970s and 1980s	since 2000s	
Historical context when developed in G7 and EU	Energy demand	rapidly growing	stagnating	
	State motivation	energy security (oil crises in the 1970s)	climate mitigation energy security (Russian-Ukrainian War)	
	Market	heavily regulated	liberalised	
	Mode of policymaking	top-down and technocratic (limited actors)	more democratised, value-laden, contested (many actors and negotiations)	
	Incumbent resistance	None to marginal (same political and economic actors)	High (different actors with competing interests)	
Historical outcome		Rapid growth (max. 2%, G7 average in 1980-1985)	Slow growth (max. 1.1%, G7 average in 2015-2020)	

Table 7.3: Technology characteristics and historical context of the growth of nuclear power and modern renewables in the G7 and the EU.

During the 1970s and 1980s, various contextual factors paved the way for significant political motivation and capacity to rapidly develop nuclear power (Table 7.3). First, the demand for electricity rapidly grew at 4% during these decades, necessitating a fast growth of energy technologies to meet the demand (Figure 5.2). Secondly, the oil crises in the 1970s significantly heightened the need for nuclear power to quickly reduce oil dependence. Thirdly, the electricity market was heavily regulated, with national governments directly owning many, if not all, of energy industries or exercising a predominant influence on their developments (see Chapter 4 for the analysis of Germany and the UK, and also see Ikenberry (1986), Kaijser (1992), and Hecht

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

(2000) for other G7 countries). Fourthly, policymaking in these decades was centralised and often conducted in a technocratic, top-down manner, where only a limited number of actors planned and implemented policies. In such a policy environment, the high costs of nuclear power were less problematised, with such information generally hidden from the public (Bolton, 2022; Grubler, 2010). Lastly, the third and the fourth points mean that both incumbent and new technologies were owned and developed by the same actors, thus the development of nuclear power offered nothing but political and economic benefits.

In contrast, these accelerating factors have been largely absent in recent decades in the development of modern renewable technologies (Table 7.3). Unlike in the 1970s and 1980s, the demand for electricity has been stagnating in the G7 and the EU (Figure 5.2), which does not necessitate the growth of alternative technologies faster than the retirement of existing ones, such as coal power plants. In this context, accelerating low-carbon substitutions would be very costly, as the total costs of building and operating new alternative technologies need to be lower than the marginal costs of existing technologies (Kramer and Haigh, 2009), requiring a substantial amount of subsidies depending on how much acceleration is necessary (Lund, 2015).

Another way to accelerate the substitutions is to expedite the phase-out of existing technologies. Such political acceleration, however, remains rare due to strong resistance from the affected industries and communities (Jewell et al., 2019). When it does occur, it typically requires significant compensation, as showcased in Germany's coal phase-out (see subsection 4.2.1) and other coal-dependent countries (Nacke et al., 2023). Such public spending would inevitably be visible in today's liberalised market with more private ownership of energy industries, necessitating transparent accounting compared to the past (Bolton, 2022), which often triggers a

significant backlash against such policies (see the relevant theoretical discussion in subsection 2.2.3 and empirical observations in subsection 2.3.4).

The need for decarbonising energy to mitigate climate change has also transformed today's policymaking to be more democratised because "[t]he question of how to transform energy is one of values....[where] [w]hich expenses and risks to bear, and which to avoid, is far from a technocratically determinable choice" (Welton, 2018, p. 598). Accordingly, many more actors, ranging from industries and non-governmental organisations to affected communities of transitions and the general public, who may possess competing interests in energy transitions, now influence policymaking. This inherently requires more negotiations to address different perspectives and balance diverse priorities. As a result, implementing 'ideal' policies is likely to be unattainable (see subsection 2.2.2 for more theoretical discussions in the literature). In other words, today's policymaking is more contested in nature compared to the past (see subsection 2.3.4 for empirically observed cases), which may have shrunk the capacity of national governments to realise their political motivations.

The fact that these changing contexts have resulted in the overall similar evolution of the electricity sector across the G7 and EU since 1960 (Figure 5.7) indicates that it may be better to focus on these evolving contextual factors surrounding the state (Table 7.3), rather than solely focusing on state-specific features such as centralised or federal government or a variety of capitalism to explain national energy transitions (see subsection 2.2.2 for these focused debates). On this point, it is particularly noteworthy that following the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022, Germany and the UK, one federal and CME and the other centralised and LME, both substantially strengthened their policies to accelerate low-carbon substitutions with an aim to enhance the country's energy

security compared to their previous policies (see subsection 6.3.1 for Germany and 6.3.2 for the UK).

While even these policies are still not compatible with the 1.5°C pathway (Figure 6.15 and Figure 6.16), it is remarkable how energy security concerns have led to significant and uniform changes in policies in just a few years, reminiscent of the political efforts observed across all the G7 countries back in the 1970s after the oil crises (Ikenberry, 1986; LaBelle, 2023). We are yet to see whether these policies can be sustained in the coming years to achieve their intended goals and whether such policies will also be introduced in the other G7 countries, though some of these countries may not face the same degree of urgency compared to Germany and the UK.

On the other hand, these countries may need to better acknowledge the potential deterioration in electricity supply security they all may face in the coming decades. This is due to the accelerating speed of electrification in energy demand sectors such as transport, buildings and industry, a trend already underway globally and expected to continue (IEA, 2023c). While addressing the potential shortage of electricity will necessitate stronger efforts in expanding its supply, currently only Germany aims to provide a sufficient amount of electricity compatible with the IEA 1.5°C pathway (Figure 6.1). Notably, Japan even aims to decrease its electricity supply by 2035 (Figure 6.9). Given the time required for the development of energy technologies, countries need to start conducting a more thorough assessment of future electricity needs and integrate this into their climate and energy policymaking.

7.5 Limitations and the need for further research

There are several limitations to my dissertation research that necessitate further studies. These include the relevance of my analyses on the G7 and the EU beyond these countries, the further

need to scrutinise the impacts and stringency of climate policies in energy transitions, and the necessity to examine alternative transition pathways beyond those commonly outlined by these countries and international institutions such as the IEA.

7.5.1 Relevance of my dissertation beyond G7 and EU, and the electricity sector

First, it is important to note that the G7 countries and the EU are heavily industrialised economies, which may not necessarily represent electricity transitions in other countries.

Instead of following the conventional development path of developed countries, developing nations are often encouraged to pursue a form of development characterised as 'leapfrogging' (Goldemberg, 1998). This entails bypassing the phase of economic development reliant on fossil fuels and transitioning directly to a more sustainable model based on low-carbon technologies such as renewables, often with financial and technological assistance from developed countries. However, the concept of leapfrogging, often explored through scenario exercises, remains largely theoretical: its practicality is questioned in the contexts of developing countries (Murphy, 2001; Zaman, 2020).

Moreover, existing literature debates whether the rest of the countries, particularly those in the global south, can sufficiently develop without industrialisation and the increased use of fossil fuels (Grubler et al., 2018; Lindvall and Karlsson, 2023; Semieniuk et al., 2021). Therefore, further research is necessary to investigate the similarities and differences in development trajectories and potential future paths of developing countries, as well as the role of domestic and international policies in them.

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

Secondly, my dissertation specifically focused on analysing transitions within the electricity sector. The decision to concentrate on this sector stems from the assumption that transitions in other sectors have, on average, been slower than those in electricity. This assumption is grounded in the prevailing emphasis of policies, which have predominantly targeted accelerating transitions in the electricity sector in recent decades (Nascimento et al., 2022b). However, it is important to note that this assumption may introduce a potential bias. It assumes a uniform pace of transitions across various sectors, potentially overlooking the diverse speeds at which each sector might be undergoing changes.

Therefore, further work is necessary to examine whether and how energy transitions in other countries and other sectors have taken place compared to climate target requirements. The middle-arrange comparative approach I developed and applied in this dissertation can be useful for such diverse analyses, for example, to analyse energy transitions in developing countries or to examine the progress of transitions in other sectors such as transport (e.g. e-mobility), buildings (e.g. net-zero buildings), and industry (e.g. low-carbon steel and cement production).

This approach also enables the identification of historically relevant cases for future transitions, as I demonstrated particularly in subsection 5.2.4. Only through systematic identification and thorough examination of these cases, while exploring ways to replicate and potentially expedite their rate of acceleration, can we address the questions that remain underexplored in the literature: "What does it take?" (Grubler et al., 2016, p. 24), and "How much will it cost?" (Sovacool and Geels, 2016, p. 236) to mitigate climate change, including the feasibility and desirability of these actions.

7.5.2 Scrutinising the true impacts and stringency of climate policies

Another limitation of my dissertation is the fact that my research only shows the overall trend of electricity transitions as eventual outcomes of numerous co-evolving factors, including policies.

While I did not find evidence in Chapter 5 that the increased number of climate policies has correlated with faster or radically different transitions in the G7 and the EU, this does not mean climate policies did not have effects. It is possible that the effects of climate policies were overshadowed by confounding factors, including other policies and non-policy elements. To precisely isolate the impact of climate policies, one would need to perform a counterfactual analysis by identifying situations identical in all aspects except the presence of climate policies or by conducting quasi-experimental or other similar methods.

In fact, this field is evolving with respective studies reporting a wide range of impacts varying from 'no' discernible effects to 'significant' impacts even looking at the same policies (see, for example, Hoppe et al. (2023) synthesising these studies), highlighting the substantial need for further advancements in the literature. The lack of consensus in these studies perhaps fuels the ongoing debate on the impacts of climate policies, presenting a dichotomy between 'every policy/effort counts' (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Sovacool and Geels, 2016) or 'all policies/efforts fail' (Smil, 2024, 2010), which is hardly productive.

Therefore, a more nuanced understanding is necessary by scrutinising which policies, in what sequence and combination, and under what conditions (where and when certain policies are effective or not) may maximise the impacts. Additionally, a greater understanding of how these impacts compare to climate target requirements is crucial, as such analysis is significantly lacking in the existing literature.

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

Similarly, using energy projections to analyse the overall stringency of policies in Chapter 6 faces the same limitation. On the one hand, this chapter further reinforces the findings of Chapter 5 by demonstrating that even policy targets do not go beyond historically observed rates of change and thus policies have not yet been able to override the inertia of energy systems and become the primary driving force of transitions, in contrast to some arguments in the literature (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Sovacool and Geels, 2016). I also show that no G7 country has yet shown the level of overall stringency of policies required for achieving 1.5°C. On the other hand, this does not necessarily mean that the stringency of policies has not increased over time. This is because the stringency of policies can be cancelled out by negative macro-economic trends for decarbonisation in transition projections (e.g. lower fossil fuel prices than anticipated in previous projections). At the same time, it can also be the case that the stringency is enhanced by positive trends (e.g. increased speed of technology diffusion not attributable to policies).

A potential approach to delve deeper into the changing stringency of policies involves identifying and scrutinising a multitude of alterations in modelling assumptions related to non-political factors. By reversing these changes, a clearer understanding of the impacts solely attributable to policy changes can be obtained. Although this method would likely require collaboration with the modellers responsible for national projections, it holds significant value for countries. This is because conducting such analyses allows for the identification of assumed policy impacts, which can then be compared with the empirically observed impacts of the same or similar policies. This, in turn, facilitates the improvement of countries' projection exercises and informs what additional changes would be necessary to achieve their state objectives.

7.5.3 Societal transformations rather than technological accelerations

Lastly, my dissertation analysis heavily relied on the IEA 1.5°C pathway to comparatively analyse historical transitions and the required transitions in the G7 and the EU. While this selection can be justified by the fact that the G7 requested the IEA to develop this pathway in 2021, which was later adopted as the G7's target in 2022 (G7, 2022), there could be many other potential development pathways. These pathways might involve more radical socio-economic transformations rather than simply accelerating the growth of low-carbon technologies and the decline of carbon-intensive technologies. While this is beyond the scope of my dissertation research, the findings that there remains a significant gap to follow the IEA 1.5°C pathway may necessitate more discussion about giving up on such pathway and instead pursuing radically different efforts such as significantly constraining energy demand, re-structuring political economies, or fundamentally reshaping societal norms and practices.

8. Summary and conclusion

This dissertation commenced with Chapter 1 and Chapter 2, collectively arguing for the necessity of scrutinising political acceleration in energy transitions. Despite the clear imperative for politically accelerating energy transitions to mitigate climate change, the existing literature lacks clarity on how policies accelerate energy transitions, whether recent transitions under climate policies are faster, or how the overall stringency of policies has evolved to mitigate climate change. The primary reason for this gap in the literature lies in existing analyses being either too broad, emphasising the slowness of the global transition, or too narrow, focusing on the recent piecemeal changes in specific countries without assessing their significance in comparison to other countries, historical transitions, or climate target requirements.

Against this backdrop, this dissertation aimed to achieve the following three objectives:

- Developing an approach with an appropriate granularity to examine political acceleration in energy transitions.
- (2) Applying this approach to analyse historical and planned political interventions in the energy sector and their outcomes in terms of the nature and speed of energy transitions.
- (3) Comparing this historical analysis with climate target requirements to elucidate the challenges in accelerating energy transitions to mitigate climate change.

To fulfil these objectives, I developed the 'middle-range' methodology based on critical realism in Chapter 3. It is termed 'middle-range' because of its more focused scope than the existing global and cross-sectoral analyses, yet broader than the alternative approach, looking solely at individual technological changes (Table 3.4). To facilitate the comparative analyses of this dissertation among actual, planned, and required energy transitions and across countries, I also developed a typology of energy transitions most relevant to mitigating climate change (Figure 3.2). This typology is a theoretical contribution to the existing literature where various forms of technological changes have been uniformly labelled as energy transitions (see subsection 7.4.1 for more details). By systematically categorising them into four distinct types ('energy additions', 'low-carbon substitutions', 'high-carbon substitutions', and 'energy reductions') based on the changes and their interplays between fossil fuels and low-carbon technologies, this typology enables tracing the changes in the nature of energy transitions and their direction and speed towards decarbonisation and facilitates comparisons across countries and time-periods. Furthermore, to clarify the extent of acceleration necessary in the future to mitigate climate change, I expanded on the existing methods to build 'empirically grounded speed zones' of energy transitions constructed from relevant historical cases and their density of observations (Figure 3.3).

I applied this middle-range methodology to analyse electricity transitions in the G7 and the EU, where political acceleration is most expected, given their significant economic, financial and technological capabilities, their political commitment to accelerating decarbonisation efforts, and their leadership in introducing climate policies in the sector in recent decades. To test and advance the methodology, I pursued a step-by-step approach (see subsection 7.2.2 for more details) to gradually broaden the scope of analysis to conduct the following three longitudinal comparative case studies, respectively guided by the research questions of this dissertation:

	Research questions	Comparative cases
Chapter 4	How have the state interventions in the energy sector differed across countries, and how have the differences affected their transition outcomes?	Historical transitions in Germany and the UK
Chapter 5	Have climate policies altered energy transitions beyond historical trends, and if so, how in light of climate target requirements?	Historical and required transitions in the G7 and the EU
Chapter 6	How has the stringency of national energy transition policies changed over the last decades, and how does this evolution compare to historical and required transitions?	Historical, planned, and required transitions in the G7

I now briefly present the summary of these three empirical chapters. Chapter 4 identified a series of rapid transition cases involving diverse state interventions in Germany and the UK (see Table 4.3 for the summary). In the 1960s and 1970s, both states were generally supportive of developing various technologies with a clear preference for domestic sources such as coal and nuclear power to supply their rapidly growing demand for electricity. Since the 1990s, however, their policies started to diverge, where Germany started to phase out nuclear power to protect the otherwise declining coal industry while the UK liberalised and privatised the electricity market to trigger a 'dash to gas' and a 'rush from coal'. Particularly after the 2010s, this divergence intensified as Germany recommitted to phasing out nuclear power and began reducing coal power while endorsing gas as a 'bridge source'. In contrast, the UK accelerated the decline of both coal and gas power, opting instead to increase state support for nuclear power. Both countries have strongly supported the development of renewables since the 2010s.

A particularly important finding from Chapter 4 is the fact that despite these increasing differences in policies between Germany and the UK, the speed of technological growth and decline in these countries have remained remarkably similar. This is particularly the case when technologies targeted by the states to develop (various renewables in these countries) or destabilise (coal and nuclear in Germany and coal and gas in the UK) are considered together (Figure 4.6 and Figure 4.7). This indicates that while countries can choose which technology to develop or destabilise depending on national circumstances, the overall technological speeds of growth and decline may not vary significantly. The question arose, therefore: Are these speeds accelerated in recent decades with climate policies compared to the past?

Chapter 5 was thus designed to examine whether the speed of technological change has been accelerated in recent decades with climate policies by expanding the scope of analysis to the G7 and the EU. This analysis revealed that electricity transitions in these countries have largely correlated with changes in electricity demand throughout the last six decades (Table 5.2). Under the growing demand, which lasted until 2005, various technologies were developed on top of one another, and thereby, these countries pursued energy additions. Since 2005, the decreasing demand for electricity necessitated the decline of fossil fuels as low-carbon electricity started to grow with modern renewable technologies, albeit at a slower rate compared to the historical growth of low-carbon electricity with nuclear power in the 1970s and 1980s.

This analysis demonstrates that while the number of climate policies increased dramatically since 1990, from less than 50 to more than 2000 in 2020 in the G7 and the EU (Figure 5.3), they have not accelerated energy transitions either by expediting the growth of low-carbon electricity or hastening the decline of fossil fuels beyond historical trends. In contrast, achieving the political commitment of these countries to decarbonise electricity by 2035 to be in line with the global 1.5°C target necessitates unprecedentedly radical acceleration in energy transitions: low-carbon technologies need to develop five times faster, and fossil fuels must decline two times faster

compared to the rates observed in 2015-2020 (Figure 5.6). Unfortunately, no country has ever achieved such rapid energy transitions in history (Figure 5.9).

This analysis of the number of climate policies and the historically demand-driven energy transitions spurred another question: Has the overall stringency of energy transition policies increased in recent decades?

Chapter 6 accordingly delved into examining the evolving stringency of energy transition policies in the G7 countries in recent decades. By utilising national energy projections as a proxy, I revealed that none of these countries has yet implemented or planned policies compatible with achieving their decarbonised electricity target by 2035 as of 2023. Contrary to the existing claim in the literature, energy transitions have not been increasingly governed by policies. Instead, the planned speed of transitions has predominantly remained within historically observed rates (Figure 6.16).

Furthermore, it is noteworthy that most of these countries began implementing policies to accelerate the decarbonisation of the electricity sector only after 2010, including Germany (Figure 6.1) and the UK (Figure 6.3). While this acceleration was driven by the progressive growth of modern renewable technologies, the continuous failure of policies to maintain and revitalise nuclear power in recent decades resulted in the frequent underachievement of developing low-carbon electricity (Figure 6.17).

After conducting these three empirical chapters, I discussed the methodological, empirical, and theoretical contributions of this dissertation to the literature in Chapter 7 while outlining its limitations and proposing multiple avenues for future research.

Most importantly, the middle-range methodology developed in this dissertation proved to be useful in comparing energy transitions across countries and time-periods. By conducting multiple longitudinal comparative analyses, this dissertation refutes the existing claim in the literature and demonstrates that energy transitions have always been political, but they have been primarily driven by changes in energy demand throughout the last six decades in the G7 and the EU. Recent transitions have not occurred more rapidly, nor have they been more politically governed in these countries beyond historical trends (Figure 7.1). Consequently, none of these countries have yet empirically demonstrated or even planned the rates of acceleration necessary to achieve 1.5°C (Table 7.2). In other words, in contrast to the claim in the literature, there has been no 'successful' case of transitions comparable with the magnitude of acceleration required to mitigate climate change (Figure 5.9 and Figure 6.16).

However, there is an emerging sign of potentially significant acceleration in the future, notably following the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022, at least in Germany and the UK, to expedite the development of low-carbon electricity in Germany, accompanied by the hastened decline of fossil fuels in the UK. While this emphasises the importance of contexts in accelerating energy transitions (Table 7.3), realising this recently envisaged acceleration may be challenging due to several feasibility concerns. These concerns arise from the fact that such acceleration requires an immediate increase in the growth rates of low-carbon electricity by two to five times compared to the most recent empirical rates in these countries (see Figure 6.2 for Germany and Figure 6.4 for the UK). Increasing the reliance on nuclear power can be another option, but the G7 countries have continuously failed to maintain and revitalise the technology as planned in recent decades (Figure 7.2), resulting in frequently increased reliance on fossil fuels to fill the gap (Figure 5.6 and Figure 5.10). It is thus important to monitor the progress of these countries in the future, particularly

concerning whether the transitions are empirically accelerated to achieve their decarbonised electricity target by 2035, a key milestone not only for the G7 and the EU but globally to keep the temperature increase below 1.5°C.

There are several limitations in this dissertation, calling for further research. First, the scope of this dissertation analysis is limited to the G7 countries in the electricity sector since 1960. It is possible, though not empirically verified (see subsection 7.5.1 for more details), that transitions may differ in other countries and other sectors, potentially showing more political acceleration. The middle-range comparative approach developed in this dissertation can be readily applied to conduct such analysis. For example, it can be used to analyse energy transitions in developing countries or to assess progress in other sectors such as transport (e.g., e-mobility), buildings (e.g., net-zero buildings), and industry (e.g., low-carbon steel and cement production).

Secondly, while this dissertation has demonstrated that the impacts and stringency of climate policies have been more limited than widely assumed in the literature, a thorough examination of the true impacts and stringency requires a more robust causal analysis than the overall trend analysis conducted in this dissertation (see subsection 7.5.2 for more details). This is important because the effects and the stringency of climate policies may have been cancelled out by other confounding factors, including other policies and non-political variables. Despite the growing body of literature on this topic in recent years, further advancements are needed to elucidate which policies, in what sequence and combination, and under what conditions (where and when certain policies are effective or not) may maximise the impacts of climate policies to accelerate energy transitions.

Thirdly, what is essential for mitigating climate change in the future may not merely be the acceleration of developing low-carbon technologies to replace fossil fuels. Instead, pursuing more societal transformations, departing from historical development norms, may prove to be a more fruitful avenue than aiming for a radical acceleration in energy transitions, which has not materialised even after more than 30 years of climate policies. Rather than relying solely on policymakers and policies to induce such changes, it may be up to all of us as citizens, businesspersons, and scholars to initiate such transformations. The cause of climate change is the use of fossil fuels, but addressing climate change may not solely rely on low-carbon technologies to replace it; perhaps more importantly, it should involve accelerating low-carbon behaviours and practices that may not require decades to develop and diffuse.

I would like to conclude this chapter by providing policy recommendations that can be drawn from my dissertation research for the G7, the EU, and beyond.

The first recommendation is to carefully select model cases to learn from to accelerate energy transitions. While my dissertation research shows that there has been no 'perfect' case in history that achieved a comparable nature and speed of transitions to meet the 1.5°C target in the G7, the EU, and other comparable countries (see Figure 5.9 for historically the fastest 10 transition cases towards decarbonisation), I identified some close precedents which achieved either the necessary growth of low-carbon electricity or the decline of fossil fuels. These cases, some of which took place in the 1970s-1980s driven by the exceptionally rapid growth of nuclear power in Spain (Figure 5.8), France and Sweden (Figure 5.9), may thus offer more fruitful lessons for accelerating transitions rather than some individual technological changes such as renewable growth in

Political Acceleration in Energy Transitions

Germany that have taken place more recently thus more salient (i.e. recency bias) but has not yet resulted in accelerated systemic transitions towards decarbonisation.

Identifying such relevant cases requires carefully designed comparative analyses that consider national contexts and the nature and speed of targeted transitions, as demonstrated in this dissertation with a framework and methods applicable to other sectors and countries. Since more acceleration may take place in the future, it is important to continuously assess ongoing transitions against historical benchmarks and required transitions to update the list of model cases to inform policymaking based on evolving evidence.

The second recommendation is to better reflect the emerging ex-post analyses on the empirical impacts of climate policies on the development and updates of energy transition policies and projections. Given the significant variance in reported policy impacts between studies even for the same policy instruments (Hoppe et al., 2023), replicating a policy that is successful in one place and time does not guarantee similar results in different contexts. It is also important to be aware that the same policy may have had no effect or perhaps even negative effect elsewhere, but such cases tend to be neglected in the literature due to innovation and publication biases (Grubler et al., 2016; Rogers, 2003). Moreover, the lack of consensus on impacts suggests that assumed impacts of existing and planned policies in national energy projections are likely incorrect, highlighting the necessity of removing the margin of error based on evolving insights from policy impact literature.

One important example of such necessity is the substantial disparity between the significant role that carbon pricing plays in energy and climate modelling exercises and its so far negligible empirical impact in accelerating energy transitions towards decarbonisation (Lilliestam et al., 2022,

192

2021; Patt and Lilliestam, 2018). One cause of no acceleration in energy transitions with climate policies so far may stem from this lack of such reflection in energy and climate policymaking, which needs to be addressed as meeting the climate target requirements for 1.5°C needs radically different and stronger actions rather than incremental changes.

The last recommendation, which is particularly relevant for the G7 countries, is to address the significant gap between the substantial expansion of electricity supply necessary for climate change mitigation and its markedly stagnating growth in the last decades. Currently, only Germany in its latest policy aims to supply the amount of electricity necessary for the accelerated electrification of other energy sectors for decarbonisation (Figure 6.1). In contrast, Japan currently even targets a decrease in electricity supply (Figure 6.9), which may help decarbonise electricity but is likely to slow down the decarbonisation of its entire energy system. With the electrification of various energy demand sectors already underway and expected to accelerate in the future (IEA, 2023c), the security of electricity supply may increasingly deteriorate unless stronger actions are taken to expand its supply.

Historically, such energy security concerns facilitated the acceleration of energy transitions, including more recently in some G7 countries after the Russo-Ukrainian War in 2022. This suggests that recognising the importance of and accordingly strengthening efforts to expand electricity supply could drive the faster development of low-carbon electricity. It is, however, crucial to note that under such rapid increase in energy demand, various technologies, including those based on fossil fuels, tended to grow in historical transitions (Figure 5.2 and Figure 5.6). In contrast, future transitions require achieving the accelerated growth of low-carbon technologies, resulting in the expedited decline of fossil fuels.

Appendix A





Fable A1: Country	y codes use	d in this	dissertation.
--------------------------	-------------	-----------	---------------

Code	Country
AR	Argentina
AU	Australia
BR	Brazil
CA	Canada
DE	Germany
ES	Spain
EU24	EU member states excluding France, Germany, and Italy
FR	France
GB / UK	United Kingdom
IT	Italy
JP	Japan
NL	Netherlands
NO	Norway
PL	Poland
RU	Russia
SE	Sweden
TH	Thailand
UA	Ukraine
US	United States
VE	Venezuela
ZA	South Africa

Country	Year
Austria	1960
Belgium	1960
Denmark	1960
Finland	1960
France	1960
Germany	1960
Greece	1960
Ireland	1960
Italy	1960
Luxembourg	1960
Netherlands	1960
Poland	1960
Portugal	1960
Spain	1960
Sweden	1960
Hungary	1965
Bulgaria	1971
Cyprus	1971
Czechia	1971
Malta	1971
Romania	1971
Slovakia	1971
Croatia	1990
Estonia	1990
Latvia	1990
Lithuania	1990
Slovenia	1990

Table A2: First year of available data in the IEA energy statistics (IEA, 2022)for the EU member states.

References

- Abram, Abrams, J., Adams, C., Akroyd, J., Alexander, A., 2023. Letter to the Prime Minister (28 March 2023) [WWW Document]. URL <u>https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Letter to the Prime Minister 28 March 2023.pdf</u> (accessed 10.27.23).
- Alkousaa, R., Wacket, M., 2023. Germany lagging emissions goals despite renewables boom think tank [WWW Document]. Reuters. URL <u>https://www.reuters.com/business/environment/germany-lagging-emissions-goals-despite-</u> renewables-boom-think-tank-2023-01-04/ (accessed 5.26.23).
- Baker, L., Hook, A., Sovacool, B.K., 2021. Power struggles: Governing renewable electricity in a time of technological disruption. Geoforum 118, 93–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2020.12.006
- Bang, G., Rosendahl, K.E., Böhringer, C., 2022. Balancing cost and justice concerns in the energy transition: comparing coal phase-out policies in Germany and the UK. Clim. Polic. 22, 1000–1015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2022.2052788</u>
- BASE, 2022. The nuclear phase-out in Germany. BASE, Berlin; Germany.
- Bättig, M.B., Bernauer, T., 2009. National Institutions and Global Public Goods: Are Democracies More Cooperative in Climate Change Policy? Int. Organ. 63, 281–308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0020818309090092</u>
- Bausch, C., Görlach, B., Mehling, M., 2017. Ambitious climate policy through centralization? Evidence from the European Union. Clim. Polic. 17, S32–S50. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2016.1259100
- Beeson, M., 2010. The coming of environmental authoritarianism. Environ Polit 19, 276–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644010903576918
- BEIS, 2022. Updated energy and emissions projections 2021 to 2040. BEIS, London; United Kingdom.
- BEIS, 2020a. United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland's Nationally Determined Contribution 2020. BEIS, London; United Kingdom.
- BEIS, 2020b. Industrial Strategy: Offshore Wind Sector Deal. BEIS, London; United Kingdom.
- BEIS, 2020c. Updated energy and emissions projections 2019. BEIS, London; United Kingdom.

BEIS, 2018. Industrial Strategy: Nuclear Sector Deal. BEIS, London; United Kingdom.

- BEIS, 2017a. The Clean Growth Strategy: Leading the way to a low carbon future. BEIS, London; United Kingdom.
- BEIS, 2017b. Updated energy and emissions projections: 2016. BEIS, London; United Kingdom.
- Bento, N., Wilson, C., 2016. Measuring the duration of formative phases for energy technologies. Environ Innovation Soc Transitions 21, 95–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2016.04.004
- Bergek, A., Jacobsson, S., Carlsson, B., Lindmark, S., Rickne, A., 2008. Analyzing the functional dynamics of technological innovation systems: A scheme of analysis. Research Policy 37, 407–429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.12.003</u>
- Bhaskar, R., 1978. On the Possibility of Social Scientific Knowledge and the Limits of Naturalism. Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour 8, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5914.1978.tb00389.x

Bhaskar, R., 1975. A realist theory of science. Routledge, New York; United States.

- BMU, 2019. Klimaschutzprogramm 2030 der Bundesregierung zur Umsetzung des Klimaschutzplans 2050 [Climate Protection Programme 2030 of the Federal Government for the implementation of the Climate Protection Plan 2050]. BMU, Bonn; Germany.
- BMUB, 2016. Climate Action Plan 2050. BMUB, Berlin; Germany.
- BMWi, 2019. Commission on Growth, Structural Change and Employment. BMWi, Berlin; Germany.
- BMWi, 2010. Energiekonzept. BMWi, Berlin; Germany.
- BMWK, 2022a. Germany's current climate action status. BMWK, Berlin; Germany.
- BMWK, 2022b. Overview of the Easter Package. BMWK, Bonn; Germany.
- Bocse, A.M., Gegenbauer, C., 2017. UK's Dash for Gas: Implications for the role of natural gas in European power generation.
- Bolton, R., 2022. Making Energy Markets The Origins of Electricity Liberalisation in Europe. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham; Switzerland.
- Brauers, H., Oei, P.-Y., Walk, P., 2020. Comparing coal phase-out pathways: The United Kingdom's and Germany's diverging transitions. Environ Innovation Soc Transitions 37, 238–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.09.001</u>

- Breetz, H.L., 2020. Do big goals lead to bad policy? How policy feedback explains the failure and success of cellulosic biofuel in the United States. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 69, 101755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101755
- Brower, D., Sheppard, D., Tani, S., 2023. Germany locks in more US natural gas as it shuns Russian supply. Financial Times, New York; United States, and London; United Kingdom.
- Brutschin, E., Cherp, A., Jewell, J., 2021. Failing the formative phase: The global diffusion of nuclear power is limited by national markets. Energy Res Soc Sci 80, 102221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2021.102221
- Bundesregierung, 2010. Energiekonzept für eine umweltschonende, zuverlässige und bezahlbare Energieversorgung [Energy concept for environmentally friendly, reliable and affordable energy supply]. BMWi, Berlin; Germany.
- Burck, J., Uhlich, T., Bals, C., Höhne, N., Nascimento, L., Tavares, M., Strietzel, E., 2022. Climate Change Performance Index 2023. Germanwatch, Bonn; Germany.
- Ćetković, S., Buzogány, A., 2016. Varieties of capitalism and clean energy transitions in the European Union: When renewable energy hits different economic logics. Clim. Polic. 16, 642–657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2015.1135778</u>
- Chapman, A.J., Itaoka, K., 2018. Energy transition to a future low-carbon energy society in Japan's liberalizing electricity market: Precedents, policies and factors of successful transition. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 81, 2019–2027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.06.011</u>
- Cherp, A., Vinichenko, V., Jewell, J., Brutschin, E., Sovacool, B., 2018. Integrating technoeconomic, socio-technical and political perspectives on national energy transitions_ A metatheoretical framework. Energy Res Soc Sci 37, 175–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.09.015</u>
- Cherp, A., Vinichenko, V., Jewell, J., Suzuki, M., Antal, M., 2017. Comparing electricity transitions: A historical analysis of nuclear, wind and solar power in Germany and Japan. Energ Policy 101, 612–628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.10.044</u>
- Cherp, A., Vinichenko, V., Tosun, J., Gordon, J.A., Jewell, J., 2021. National growth dynamics of wind and solar power compared to the growth required for global climate targets. Nat Energy 6, 742–754. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-021-00863-0</u>
- Cho, S.-H., Tanaka, K., Wu, J., Robert, R.K., Kim, T., 2016. Effects of nuclear power plant shutdowns on electricity consumption and greenhouse gas emissions after the Tohoku Earthquake. Energy Econ. 55, 223–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2016.01.014</u>
- Collingridge, D., 1984. Lessons of nuclear power US and UK history. Energy Policy 12, 46–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-4215(84)90087-9
- Colvin, R.M., Jotzo, F., 2021. Australian voters' attitudes to climate action and their socialpolitical determinants. PLoS ONE 16, e0248268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248268</u>
- Congleton, R.D., 1992. Political Institutions and Pollution Control. Rev. Econ. Stat. 74, 412. https://doi.org/10.2307/2109485
- Cooper, M., 2016. Renewable and distributed resources in a post-Paris low carbon future: The key role and political economy of sustainable electricity. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 19, 66–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.05.008
- Coser, L.A., 2017. The Idea of Social Structure, Papers in Honor of Robert K. Merton. Routledge, Abingdon; United Kingdom.
- Danermark, B., Ekström, M., Karlsson, J.Ch., 2019. Explaining Society, Critical Realism in the Social Sciences: Second Edition. Routledge, Abingdon; United Kingdom. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351017831-9</u>
- David, H., 2018. Carbon Price Floor (CPF) and the price support mechanism. The House of the Commons of the United Kingdom, London; United Kingdom.
- David, P.A., 1985. Clio and the Economics of QWERTY. The American Economic Review 75, 332–337.
- DECC, 2014. Updated energy and emissions projections: 2014. DECC, London; United Kingdom.
- DECC, 2013. Electricity Market Reform Delivery Plan. DECC, London; United Kingdom.
- DECC, 2011a. Planning our electric future: a White Paper for secure, affordable and low-carbon electricity. DECC, London; United Kingdom.
- DECC, 2011b. Updated energy and emissions projections: 2011. DECC, London; United Kingdom.
- Dehler-Holland, J., Okoh, M., Keles, D., 2022. Assessing technology legitimacy with topic models and sentiment analysis The case of wind power in Germany. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 175, 121354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121354</u>
- Depledge, J., Saldivia, M., Peñasco, C., 2022. Glass half full or glass half empty?: the 2021 Glasgow Climate Conference. Clim. Polic. 22, 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2022.2038482
- DESNZ, 2023. Energy and emissions projections 2022 to 2040. DESNZ, London; United Kingdom.

- Dincer, I., 2000. Renewable energy and sustainable development: a crucial review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 4, 157–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1364-0321(99)00011-8</u>
- Drahos, P., 2021. Survival Governance: Energy and Climate in the Chinese Century. Oxford University Press, Oxford; United Kingdom.
- Drezner, D., 2001. State structure, technological leadership and the maintenance of hegemony. Rev. Int. Stud. 27, 003–025. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0260210501000031</u>
- DTI, 2007. Meeting the Energy Challenge A White Paper on Energy May 2007. London; United Kingdom.
- DTI, 2000. Energy paper 68 Energy Projections for the UK. DTI, London; United Kingdom.
- ECCC, 2023. Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Canadian Environmental Sustainability Indicators. ECCC, Quebec; Canada.
- ECCC, 2020. A Healthy Environment and a Healthy Economy: Canada's strengthened climate plan to create jobs and support people, communities and the planet. ECCC, Quebec; Canada.
- ECCC, 2016. Pan-Canadian Framework on Clean Growth and Climate Change: Canada's Plan to Address Climate Change and Grow the Economy. ECCC, Quebec; Canada.
- EIA, 2023. Annual Energy Outlook 2023. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- EIA, 2021. Annual Energy Outlook 2021. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- EIA, 2019. The National Energy Modeling System: An overview. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- EIA, 2018. Annual Energy Outlook 2018. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- EIA, 2016. Annual Energy Outlook 2016. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- EIA, 2010. Annual Energy Outlook 2010. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- EIA, 2006. Annual Energy Outlook 2006. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- EIA, 2000. Annual Energy Outlook 2000. EIA, Washington DC; United States.
- Eitan, A., Hekkert, M.P., 2023. Locked in transition? Towards a conceptualization of pathdependence lock-ins in the renewable energy landscape. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 106, 103316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2023.103316
- Elder-Vass, D., 2010. The Causal Power of Social Structures: Emergence, Structure and Agency. Cambridge University Press, New York; United States.

- Ellenbeck, S., Lilliestam, J., 2019. How modelers construct energy costs: Discursive elements in Energy System and Integrated Assessment Models. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 47, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.08.021
- Elzen, M. den, Kuramochi, T., Höhne, N., Cantzler, J., Esmeijer, K., Fekete, H., Fransen, T., Keramidas, K., Roelfsema, M., Sha, F., Soest, H. van, Vandyck, T., 2019. Are the G20 economies making enough progress to meet their NDC targets? Energy Polic. 126, 238–250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.11.027</u>
- Ember, 2023. Yearly electricity data (ver. 18 May 2023) [WWW Document]. URL <u>https://ember-climate.org/data-catalogue/yearly-electricity-data/</u> (accessed 5.26.23).
- ENEA, 2012. Rapporto Energia e Ambiente 2009-2010 [Energy and Environment Report 2009-2010]. National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development of Italy, Rome; Italy.
- ENEA, 2010. Le Fonti Rinnovabili 2010: Ricerca e innovazione per un futuro low-carbon [Renewable Sources 2010: Research and innovation for a low-carbon future]. Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development of Italy, Rome; Italy.
- EPA, 2019. Repeal of the Clean Power Plan; Emission Guidelines for Greenhouse Gas Emissions From Existing Electric Utility Generating Units; Revisions to Emission Guidelines Implementing Regulations, RIN 2060–AT67.
- EPA, 2015. Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units, RIN 2060–AR33.
- Eskander, S.M.S.U., Fankhauser, S., 2020. Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from national climate legislation. Nat. Clim. Chang. 10, 750–756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0831-</u>
- European Commission, 1975. Council Directive of 13 February 1975 on the restriction of the use of natural gas in power stations, 75/404/EEC.
- Evans, A., Strezov, V., Evans, T.J., 2010. Sustainability considerations for electricity generation from biomass. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14, 1419–1427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2010.01.010</u>
- Ewijk, S. van, McDowall, W., 2020. Diffusion of flue gas desulfurization reveals barriers and opportunities for carbon capture and storage. Nat Commun 11, 4298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18107-2</u>
- Falkner, R., 2016. The Paris Agreement and the new logic of international climate politics. Int. Aff. 92, 1107–1125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12708</u>

- Feng, K., Jiang, Z., 2021. State Capacity and Innovation Policy Performance: A Comparative Study on Two Types of Innovation Projects in China. Rev. Polic. Res. 38, 427–453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ropr.12420</u>
- Finon, D., Staropoli, C., 2001. Institutional and technological co-evolution in the French electronuclear industry. Industry Innovation 8, 179–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13662710120072967</u>
- Fletcher, A.J., 2017. Applying critical realism in qualitative research: methodology meets method. Int. J. Soc. Res. Methodol. 20, 181–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1144401</u>
- Fouquet, R., 2010. The slow search for solutions: Lessons from historical energy transitions by sector and service. Energ Policy 38, 6586–6596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.06.029</u>
- Fouquet, R., Pearson, P.J.G., 2012. Past and prospective energy transitions Insights from history. Energ Policy 50, 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.08.014</u>
- G7, 2022. G7 Leaders' Communiqué [WWW Document]. URL https://www.g7germany.de/resource/blob/974430/2062292/9c213e6b4b36ed1bd687e8248004 0399/2022-07-14-leaders-communique-data.pdf?download=1 (accessed 8.28.23).
- GEA, 2012. Global energy assessment: toward a sustainable future. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; United Kingdom.
- Geels, F.W., Berkhout, F., Vuuren, D.P. van, 2016a. Bridging analytical approaches for lowcarbon transitions. Nat Clim Change 6, 1 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2980</u>
- Geels, F.W., Kern, F., Fuchs, G., Hinderer, N., Kungl, G., Mylan, J., Neukirch, M., Wassermann, S., 2016b. The enactment of socio-technical transition pathways: A reformulated typology and a comparative multi-level analysis of the German and UK low-carbon electricity transitions (1990–2014). Research Policy 45, 896–913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2016.01.015</u>
- German Federal Government, 2020. Von der Kohle zur Zukunft [From coal to the future]. Bundesregierung, Berlin; Germany.
- Goldemberg, J., 1998. Leapfrog energy technologies. Energy Polic. 26, 729–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-4215(98)00025-1
- Goldthau, A., 2012. From the State to the Market and Back: Policy Implications of Changing Energy Paradigms. Glob. Polic. 3, 198–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-5899.2011.00145.x</u>
- Grubb, M., Drummond, P., Hughes, N., 2020. The shape and pace of change in the electricity transition. We Mean Business Coalition, Washington, DC; USA.

- Grubler, A., 2012. Energy transitions research: Insights and cautionary tales. Energ Policy 50, 8–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.02.070</u>
- Grubler, A., 2010. The costs of the French nuclear scale-up: A case of negative learning by doing. Energ Policy 38, 5174–5188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.05.003</u>
- Grubler, A., Nakicenovic, N., 1991. Long Waves, Technology Diffusion, and Substitution. Review (Fernand Braudel Center) 14, 313. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/422246</u>
- Grubler, A., Wilson, C., Bento, N., Boza-Kiss, B., Krey, V., McCollum, D.L., Rao, N.D., Riahi, K., Rogelj, J., Stercke, S.D., Cullen, J., Frank, S., Fricko, O., Guo, F., Gidden, M., Havlík, P., Huppmann, D., Kiesewetter, G., Rafaj, P., Schoepp, W., Valin, H., 2018. A low energy demand scenario for meeting the 1.5 °C target and sustainable development goals without negative emission technologies. Nat Energy 3, 515–527. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-018-0172-6</u>
- Grubler, A., Wilson, C., Nemet, G., 2016. Apples, oranges, and consistent comparisons of the temporal dynamics of energy transitions. Energy Res Soc Sci 22, 18–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.08.015</u>
- Gürsan, C., Gooyert, V. de, 2021. The systemic impact of a transition fuel: Does natural gas help or hinder the energy transition? Renew Sustain Energy Rev 138, 110552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110552
- Gürtler, K., Postpischil, R., Quitzow, R., 2019. The dismantling of renewable energy policies: The cases of Spain and the Czech Republic. Energy Polic. 133, 110881. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.110881</u>
- Haelg, L., Waelchli, M., Schmidt, T.S., 2018. Supporting energy technology deployment while avoiding unintended technological lock-in: a policy design perspective. Environ. Res. Lett. 13, 104011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aae161</u>
- Hake, J.-F., Fischer, W., Venghaus, S., Weckenbrock, C., 2015. The German Energiewende History and status quo. Energy 92, 532–546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2015.04.027</u>
- Hall, P.A., Soskice, D., 2001. Varieties of Capitalism, Oxford University Press. Oxford University Press, Oxford; United Kingdom.
- Hancké, B., 2009. Intelligent Research Design A Guide for Beginning Researchers in the Social Sciences. Oxford University Press, New York; United States.
- Hannah, L., 1982. Engineers, Managers, and Politicians: The First Fifteen Years of Nationalised Electricity Supply in Britain. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore; United States.
- Haywood, L., Leroutier, M., Pietzcker, R., 2023. Why investing in new nuclear plants is bad for the climate. Joule 7, 1675–1678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2023.07.006</u>

- Hecht, G., 2000. The Radiance of France Nuclear Power and National Identity after World War II. The MIT Press, Cambridge; United states.
- Helm, D., 2002. Energy policy: security of supply, sustainability and competition. Energy Policy 30, 173–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-4215(01)00141-0</u>
- Herpich, P., Brauers, H., Oei, P.-Y., 2018. An historical case study on previous coal transitions in Germany. IDDRI and Climate Strategies, Paris; France and London; United Kingdom.
- Hirschhausen, C. von, 2014. The German "Energiewende" An Introduction. Econ. Energy Environ. Polic. 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.5547/2160-5890.3.2.chir</u>
- Höhne, N., Marquardt, M., Fekete, H., 2022. German LNG terminal construction plans are massively oversized. NewClimate Institute, Cologne; Germany.
- Hoppe, J., Hinder, B., Rafaty, R., Patt, A., Grubb, M., 2023. Three Decades of Climate Mitigation Policy: What Has It Delivered? Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-112321-103821</u>
- Hoppmann, J., Huenteler, J., Girod, B., 2014. Compulsive policy-making—The evolution of the German feed-in tariff system for solar photovoltaic power. Research Policy 43, 1422–1441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.01.014
- Hughes, L., Lipscy, P.Y., 2013. The Politics of Energy. Annu. Rev. Political Sci. 16, 449–469. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-072211-143240
- Iacobuta, G., Dubash, N.K., Upadhyaya, P., Deribe, M., Höhne, N., 2018. National climate change mitigation legislation, strategy and targets: a global update. Clim Policy 18, 1114– 1132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2018.1489772</u>
- IAEA, 2022. Country Nuclear Power Profiles: Germany [WWW Document]. URL https://cnpp.iaea.org/countryprofiles/Germany/Germany.htm (accessed 3.30.23).
- IEA, 2023a. Energy Technology Perspectives 2023. IEA, Paris; France.
- IEA, 2023b. Net Zero Roadmap: A Global Pathway to Keep the 1.5 °C Goal in Reach, 2023 Update. IEA, Paris; France.
- IEA, 2023c. Electricity Market Report 2023. IEA, Paris; France.
- IEA, 2022. Extended Energy Balances: 2022. IEA, Paris; France.
- IEA, 2021a. Achieving Net Zero Electricity Sectors in G7 Members. IEA, Paris; France.
- IEA, 2021b. Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector. IEA, Paris; France.

- IEA, 2019. Energy Policies of IEA Countries: United Kingdom 2019 Review. IEA, Paris; France.
- Ikenberry, G.J., 2009. The irony of state strength: comparative responses to the oil shocks in the 1970s. Int Organ 40, 105–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0020818300004495</u>
- Ikenberry, J., 1986. The irony of state strength: comparative responses to the oil shocks in the 1970s. Int Organ 40, 105–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0020818300004495</u>
- IRENA, 2022. Renewable Power Generation Costs in 2021. IRENA, Abu Dhabi; United Arab Emirates.
- Jacobs, A.M., Weaver, R.K., 2015. When Policies Undo Themselves: Self-Undermining Feedback as a Source of Policy Change. Governance 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gove.12101</u>
- Jacobs, D., 2012. The German Energiewende History, Targets, Policies and Challenges. Renewable Energy Law and Policy Review Vol. 3, 223–233.
- Jacobsson, S., Lauber, V., 2006a. The politics and policy of energy system transformation explaining the German diffusion of renewable energy technology. Energ Policy 34, 256--276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2004.08.029</u>
- Jacobsson, S., Lauber, V., 2006b. The politics and policy of energy system transformation explaining the German diffusion of renewable energy technology. Energy Policy 34, 256– 276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2004.08.029</u>
- Jakob, M., Steckel, J.C., 2014. How climate change mitigation could harm development in poor countries. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Clim. Chang. 5, 161–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.260</u>
- Jänicke, M., 2012. Dynamic governance of clean-energy markets: how technical innovation could accelerate climate policies. J Clean Prod 22, 50–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.09.006
- Jeswani, H.K., Chilvers, A., Azapagic, A., 2020. Environmental sustainability of biofuels: a review. Proc Royal Soc 476, 20200351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.2020.0351</u>
- Jewell, J., Cherp, A., 2023. The feasibility of climate action: Bridging the inside and the outside view through feasibility spaces. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Change 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.838</u>
- Jewell, J., Cherp, A., 2019. On the political feasibility of climate change mitigation pathways: Is it too late to keep warming below 1.5°C? Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Clim. Chang., WIREs Clim. Change 11, 182–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.621</u>
- Jewell, J., Vinichenko, V., Nacke, L., Cherp, A., 2019. Prospects for powering past coal. Nat Clim Change 8, 626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0509-6</u>

- Johnstone, P., Schot, J., 2023. Shocks, institutional change, and sustainability transitions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 120, e2206226120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2206226120</u>
- Johnstone, P., Stirling, A., 2020. Comparing nuclear trajectories in Germany and the United Kingdom: From regimes to democracies in sociotechnical transitions and discontinuities. Energy Res Soc Sci 59, 101245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.101245</u>
- Jonathan, S., 2005. Gas pipeline co-operation between political adversaries: examples from Europe.
- Jones, C.R., Eiser, J.R., 2010. Understanding 'local' opposition to wind development in the UK: How big is a backyard? Energy Polic. 38, 3106–3117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.01.051
- Jordan, A., Matt, E., 2014. Designing policies that intentionally stick: policy feedback in a changing climate. Polic. Sci. 47, 227–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-014-9201-x</u>
- Kaijser, A., 1992. Redirecting Power: Swedish Nuclear Power Policies in Historical Perspective. Annu Rev Energ Env 17, 437–462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.eg.17.110192.002253</u>
- Kallis, G., Kostakis, V., Lange, S., Muraca, B., Paulson, S., Schmelzer, M., 2018. Research On Degrowth. Annual Review of Environment and Resources. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevenviron-102017-025941</u>
- Karapin, R., 2020. Federalism as a Double-Edged Sword: The Slow Energy Transition in the United States. J. Environ. Dev. 29, 26–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1070496519886001</u>
- Katzenstein, P.J., 1976. International relations and domestic structures: Foreign economic policies of advanced industrial states. Int. Organ. 30, 1–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0020818300003726</u>
- Keith, D.R., Houston, S., Naumov, S., 2019. Vehicle fleet turnover and the future of fuel economy. Environ. Res. Lett. 14, 021001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aaf4d2</u>
- Kemfert, C., Präger, F., Braunger, I., Hoffart, F.M., Brauers, H., 2022. The expansion of natural gas infrastructure puts energy transitions at risk. Nat Energy 7, 582–587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-022-01060-3</u>
- Kemmler, A., Kirchner, A., Maur, A.A. der, Ess, F., Kreidelmeyer, S., Piégsa, A., Spillmann, T., Wünsch, M., Ziegenhagen, I., 2020. Energiewirtschaftliche Projektionen und Folgeabschätzungen 2030/2050: Dokumentation von Referenzszenario und Szenario mit Klimaschutzprogramm 2030 [Energy industry projections and impact assessments 2030/2050: Documentation of reference scenario and scenario with climate protection program 2030]. BMWi, Berlin.

- Kern, F., Rogge, K.S., 2016. The pace of governed energy transitions: Agency, international dynamics and the global Paris agreement accelerating decarbonisation processes? Energy Res Soc Sci 22, 13–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.08.016</u>
- Kern, F., Smith, A., Shaw, C., Raven, R., Verhees, B., 2014. From laggard to leader_ Explaining offshore wind developments in the UK. Energy Policy 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2014.02.031</u>
- Kern, F., Verhees, B., Raven, R., Smith, A., 2015. Empowering sustainable niches: Comparing UK and Dutch offshore wind developments. Technol Forecast Soc 100, 344–355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.08.004</u>
- Kikuchi, M., 2021. Changing dynamics of the nuclear energy policy-making process in Japan. Environ. Polic. Gov. 31, 116–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1922</u>
- Kirton, J.J., Kokotsis, E., 2015. The Global Governance of Climate Change, G7, G20, and UN Leadership. Routledge, Abingdon; United Kingdom.
- Kirton, J.J., Kokotsis, E., Warren, B., 2018. G7 governance of climate change: The search for effectiveness. Routledge, Abingdon; United Kingdom. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429506642</u>
- Knill, C., Schulze, K., Tosun, J., 2012. Regulatory policy outputs and impacts: Exploring a complex relationship. Regul. Gov. 6, 427–444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5991.2012.01150.x</u>
- Köhler, J., Geels, F.W., Kern, F., Markard, J., Onsongo, E., Wieczorek, A., Alkemade, F., Avelino, F., Bergek, A., Boons, F., Fünfschilling, L., Hess, D., Holtz, G., Hyysalo, S., Jenkins, K., Kivimaa, P., Martiskainen, M., McMeekin, A., Mühlemeier, M.S., Nykvist, B., Pel, B., Raven, R., Rohracher, H., Sandén, B., Schot, J., Sovacool, B., Turnheim, B., Welch, D., Wells, P., 2019. An agenda for sustainability transitions research: State of the art and future directions. Environ Innovation Soc Transitions 31, 1–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.01.004</u>
- Kohsaka, R., Kohyama, S., 2022. Contested renewable energy sites due to landscape and socioecological barriers: Comparison of wind and solar power installation cases in Japan. Energy Environ. 0958305X2211150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0958305x221115070</u>
- Kokotsis, E., 1999. Keeping International Commitments: Compliance, Credibility and the G7, 1988-1995. Routledge, New York; United States.
- Kramer, G.J., Haigh, M., 2009. No quick switch to low-carbon energy In the first of two pieces on reducing greenhouse-gas emissions. Nature 462, 568–569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/462568a</u>

- Kuramochi, T., Nascimento, L., Moisio, M., Elzen, M. den, Forsell, N., Soest, H. van, Tanguy, P., Gonzales, S., Hans, F., Jeffery, M.L., Fekete, H., Schiefer, T., Casas, M.J. de V., Vivero-Serrano, G.D., Dafnomilis, I., Roelfsema, M., Höhne, N., 2021. Greenhouse gas emission scenarios in nine key non-G20 countries: An assessment of progress toward 2030 climate targets. Environ. Sci. Polic. 123, 67–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.04.015</u>
- Kuyper, J., Schroeder, H., Linnér, B.-O., 2018. The Evolution of the UNFCCC. Annu Rev Env Resour 43, 343–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102017-030119</u>
- Laan, T., Geddes, A., Kursk, O.B. von, Jones, N., Kuehne, K., Gerbase, L., O'Manique, C., Sharma, D., Stockman, L., 2023. Fanning the Flames: G20 provides record financial support for fossil fuels. IISD, Winnipeg; Canada.
- LaBelle, M.C., 2023. Energy as a weapon of war: Lessons from 50 years of energy interdependence. Glob. Polic. 14, 531–547. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.13235</u>
- Lauber, V., Jacobsson, S., 2015. Lessons from Germany's Energiewende, in: The Triple Challenge for Europe. Oxford University Press, pp. 172–203. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198747413.003.0007
- Leca, B., Naccache, P., 2006. A Critical Realist Approach To Institutional Entrepreneurship. Organization 13, 627–651. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1350508406067007</u>
- Lechtenböhmer, S., Luhmann, H.-J., 2013. Decarbonization and regulation of Germany's electricity system after Fukushima. Clim. Polic. 13, 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2013.754605
- Leipprand, A., Flachsland, C., Pahle, M., 2020. Starting low, reaching high? Sequencing in EU climate and energy policies. Environ Innovation Soc Transitions 37, 140–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.08.006</u>
- Lélé, S.M., 1991. Sustainable development: A critical review. World Dev 19, 607–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-750x(91)90197-p
- Lilliestam, J., Patt, A., Bersalli, G., 2022. On the quality of emission reductions: observed effects of carbon pricing on investments, innovation, and operational shifts. A response to van den Bergh and Savin (2021). Environ. Resour. Econ. 83, 733–758. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-022-00708-8</u>
- Lilliestam, J., Patt, A., Bersalli, G., 2021. The effect of carbon pricing on technological change for full energy decarbonization: A review of empirical ex-post evidence. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Clim. Chang. 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.681</u>
- Lindvall, D., Karlsson, M., 2023. Exploring the democracy-climate nexus: a review of correlations between democracy and climate policy performance. Clim. Polic. ahead-of-print, 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2023.2256697</u>

- Lockwood, M., 2015. Feedback effects and institutional context, in: Scoones, I., Leach, M., Newell, P. (Eds.), The Political Dynamics of Green Transformations: Routledge, New York; United States. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315747378</u>
- Loftus, P.J., Cohen, A.M., Long, J.C.S., Jenkins, J.D., 2015. A critical review of global decarbonization scenarios: what do they tell us about feasibility? Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Clim. Chang. 6, 93–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.324</u>
- Lovins, A.B., Palazzi, T., Laemel, R., Goldfield, E., 2018. Relative deployment rates of renewable and nuclear power_ A cautionary tale of two metrics. Energy Res Soc Sci 38, 188– 192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.01.005</u>
- Lund, P.D., 2015. Energy policy planning near grid parity using a price-driven technology penetration model. Technol Forecast Soc 90, 389–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2014.05.004
- Mahoney, J., 2000. Path dependence in historical sociology. Theory Soc. 29, 507–548. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1007113830879
- Malhotra, A., Schmidt, T.S., 2020. Accelerating Low-Carbon Innovation. Joule 4, 2259–2267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2020.09.004
- Marchetti, C., Nakicenovic, N., 1979. The Dynamics of Energy Systems and the Logistic Substitution Model. IIASA, Laxenburg; Austria.
- Markard, J., Bento, N., Kittner, N., Nuñez-Jimenez, A., 2020. Destined for decline? Examining nuclear energy from a technological innovation systems perspective. Energy Res Soc Sci 67, 101512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101512</u>
- Matthes, F.Chr., Cames, M., 2000. Energiewende 2020: Der Weg in eine zukunftsfähige Energiewirtschaft [Energy Transition 2020: The path to a sustainable energy industry]. Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung, Saarbrücken; Germany.
- Meckling, J., Nahm, J., 2018. The power of process: State capacity and climate policy. Governance 31, 741–757. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gove.12338</u>
- Meckling, J., Sterner, T., Wagner, G., 2017. Policy sequencing toward decarbonization. Nat. Energy 2, 918–922. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-017-0025-8</u>
- Merton, R.K., 1968. Social Theory and Social Structure. The Free Press, New York.
- METI, 2021. 6th Strategic Energy Plan. METI, Tokyo; Japan.
- METI, 2018. 5th Strategic Energy Plan. METI, Tokyo; Japan.

- METI, 2015. Chouki enerugii jyukyuu mitoushi [Long-term energy demand and supply outlook]. METI, Tokyo; Japan.
- METI, 2010. 3rd Strategic Energy Plan. METI, Tokyo; Japan.
- METI, 2008. Chouki enerugii jyukyuu mitoushi [Long-term energy demand and supply outlook]. METI, Tokyo; Japan.
- METI, 2005. 2030 nen no enerugii jyukyuu tenbou [Projected energy demand and supply in 2030]. METI, Tokyo; Japan.
- METI, 2001. Chouki enerugii jyukyuu mitoushi [Long-term energy demand and supply outlook]. METI, Tokyo; Japan.
- Meyer, B., Küchler, S., Hölzinger, O., 2010. Staatliche Förderungen der Stein- und Braunkohle im Zeitraum 1950 - 2008 [State subsidies of hard coal and lignite in the period 1950 - 2008]. Forum Ökologisch-Soziale Marktwirtschaft (FÖS), Berlin; Germany.
- MISE, 2023. 2nd Integrated National Energy and Climate Plan of Italy. MISE, Rome; Italy.
- MISE, MATTM, 2017. Strategia Energetica Nazionale [National Energy Strategy]. MISE and MATTM, Rome; Italy.
- MISE, MATTM, MIT, 2019. Integrated National Energy and Climate Plan of Italy. MISE and MATTM, Rome; Italy.
- Mitchell, C., 1995. The renewables NFFO: A review. Energy Policy 23, 1077–1091. https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-4215(95)00123-9
- Moe, E., 2015. Renewable Energy Transformation or Fossil Fuel Backlash. Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke; United Kingdom.
- Moe, E., 2011. Vested interests, energy efficiency and renewables in Japan. Energ Policy 40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.09.070
- Murphy, J.T., 2001. Making the energy transition in rural east Africa: Is leapfrogging an alternative? Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 68, 173–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0040-1625(99)00091-8</u>
- Muttitt, G., Price, J., Pye, S., Welsby, D., 2023. Socio-political feasibility of coal power phaseout and its role in mitigation pathways. Nat Clim Change 13, 140–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-022-01576-2</u>
- Nacke, L., Vinichenko, V., Cherp, A., Jakhmola, A., Jewell, J., 2023. Socio-political cost of accelerating coal phase-out. In review in Nature Communications. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2733550/v1</u>

- Nascimento, L., Elzen, M. den, Kuramochi, T., Woollands, S., Dafnomilis, I., Moisio, M., Roelfsema, M., Forsell, N., Gutierrez, Z.A., 2023. Comparing the Sequence of Climate Change Mitigation Targets and Policies in Major Emitting Economies. J. Comp. Polic. Anal.: Res. Pr. ahead-of-print, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13876988.2023.2255151</u>
- Nascimento, L., Höhne, N., 2023. Expanding climate policy adoption improves national mitigation efforts. npj Clim. Action 2, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44168-023-00043-8</u>
- Nascimento, L., Kuramochi, T., Höhne, N., 2022a. The G20 emission projections to 2030 improved since the Paris Agreement, but only slightly. Mitig. Adapt. Strat. Glob. Chang. 27, 39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-022-10018-5</u>
- Nascimento, L., Kuramochi, T., Iacobuta, G., Elzen, M. den, Fekete, H., Weishaupt, M., Soest, H.L. van, Roelfsema, M., Vivero-Serrano, G.D., Lui, S., Hans, F., Casas, M.J. de V., Höhne, N., 2022b. Twenty years of climate policy: G20 coverage and gaps. Clim Policy 22, 158–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2021.1993776</u>
- NewClimate Institute, Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, 2023. Climate Policy Database (2023 version). <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7774109</u>
- Normann, H.E., 2019. Conditions for the deliberate destabilisation of established industries_ Lessons from U.S. tobacco control policy and the closure of Dutch coal mines. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2019.03.007</u>
- Odenweller, A., Ueckerdt, F., Nemet, G.F., Jensterle, M., Luderer, G., 2022. Probabilistic feasibility space of scaling up green hydrogen supply. Nat Energy 7, 854–865. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-022-01097-4
- Oei, P.-Y., Brauers, H., Herpich, P., 2019. Lessons from Germany's hard coal mining phase-out: policies and transition from 1950 to 2018. Climate Policy 29, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2019.1688636
- Office of the Auditor General of Canada, 2021. Lessons Learned from Canada's Record on Climate Change: Canada's commitments and actions on climate change. Office of the Auditor General of Canada, Ottawa; Canada.
- Otto, J., Kahle, D., 2022. ggdensity: Interpretable Bivariate Density Visualization with "ggplot2" [WWW Document]. URL <u>https://github.com/jamesotto852/ggdensity/</u>.
- Pahle, M., 2010. Germany's dash for coal: Exploring drivers and factors. Energ Policy 38, 3431–3442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.02.017</u>
- Pahle, M., Burtraw, D., Flachsland, C., Kelsey, N., Biber, E., Meckling, J., Edenhofer, O., Zysman, J., 2018. Sequencing to ratchet up climate policy stringency. Nat. Clim. Chang. 8, 861–867. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0287-6</u>

- Parker, M., 1994. The politics of coal's decline: the industry in Western Europe. Earthscan, Oxfordshire; United Kingdom.
- Pascale, F., 2023. Italy looks at nuclear energy to supplement energy mix [WWW Document]. Euractive. URL <u>https://www.euractiv.com/section/politics/news/italy-looks-at-nuclear-energy-to-supplement-energy-mix/</u>
- Patt, A., Lilliestam, J., 2018. The Case against Carbon Prices. Joule 2, 2494–2498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2018.11.018
- Patterson, J.J., 2023. Backlash to Climate Policy. Glob. Environ. Politics 23, 68–90. https://doi.org/10.1162/glep_a_00684
- Pearson, P., Watson, J., 2012. UK Energy Policy 1980-2010: A history and lessons to be learnt. The Institution of Engineering and Technology, Stevenage; United Kingdom.
- Pielke, R., Wigley, T., Green, C., 2008. Dangerous assumptions. Nature 452, 531–532. https://doi.org/10.1038/452531a
- Pierre, J., Peters, B.G., 2020. Governance, Politics and the State. Bloomsbury Publishing, New York; USA.
- Pierson, P., 2000. Increasing returns, path dependence, and the study of politics. Am Polit Sci Rev 94, 251–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2586011</u>
- Platts, 2022. World Electric Power Plants Data Base. S&P Global, New York; United States.
- Pollitt, M.G., 2012. The role of policy in energy transitions: Lessons from the energy liberalisation era. Energ Policy 50, 128–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.03.004</u>
- Povitkina, M., 2018. The limits of democracy in tackling climate change. Environ. Politics 27, 411–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2018.1444723</u>
- PPCA, 2023. Our Story [WWW Document]. URL <u>https://poweringpastcoal.org/our-story</u> (accessed 4.3.23).
- Renn, O., Marshall, J.P., 2016. Coal, nuclear and renewable energy policies in Germany_ From the 1950s to the "Energiewende." Energy Policy 99, 224–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.05.004
- Rentier, G., Lelieveldt, H., Kramer, G.J., 2019. Varieties of coal-fired power phase-out across Europe. Energ Policy 132, 620–632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.05.042</u>
- Riahi, K., Schaeffer, R., Arango, J., Calvin, K., Guivarch, C., Hasegawa, T., Jiang, K., Kriegler, E., Matthews, R., Peters, G., Rao, A., Robertson, S., Sebbit, A.M., Steinberger, J., Tavoni, M., Vuuren, D. van, 2022. Mitigation pathways compatible with long-term goals. Climate

change 2022: Mitigation of climate change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate change 2022: Mitigation of climate change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

- Rinscheid, A., Rosenbloom, D., Markard, J., Turnheim, B., 2021. From terminating to transforming: The role of phase-out in sustainability transitions. Environ Innovation Soc Transitions. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2021.10.019</u>
- Ritchie, H., Rosado, P., Roser, M., 2023. Energy. Published in Our World in Data [WWW Document]. URL <u>https://ourworldindata.org/energy</u> (accessed 10.12.22).
- Roberts, C., Geels, F.W., Lockwood, M., Newell, P., Schmitz, H., Turnheim, B., Jordan, A., 2018. The politics of accelerating low-carbon transitions: Towards a new research agenda. Energy Res Soc Sci 44, 304–311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.06.001</u>
- Rogelj, J., Fransen, T., Elzen, M.G. den, Lamboll, R.D., Schumer, C., Kuramochi, T., Hans, F., Mooldijk, S., Portugal-Pereira, J., 2023. Credibility gap in net-zero climate targets leaves world at high risk. Science 380, 1014–1016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adg6248</u>
- Rogelj, J., Shindell, D., Jiang, K., Fifita, S., Forster, P., Ginzburg, V., Handa, C., Kheshgi, H., Kobayashi, S., Kriegler, E., Mundaca, L., Séférian, R., Vilarino, M.V., 2018. Mitigation Pathways Compatible with 1.5°C in the Context of Sustainable Development, Special Report on Global warming of 1.5°C (SR15). IPCC, Geneva; Switzerland.
- Rogers, E.M., 2003. Diffusion of Innovations. The 5th edition. The Free Press, New York; United States.
- Rogge, K.S., Johnstone, P., 2017. Exploring the role of phase-out policies for low-carbon energy transitions_ The case of the German Energiewende. Energy Res Soc Sci 33, 128–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.10.004
- Rosenbloom, D., 2018. Framing low-carbon pathways: A discursive analysis of contending storylines surrounding the phase-out of coal-fired power in Ontario. Environ Innovation Soc Transitions 27, 129–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2017.11.003</u>
- RTE, 2020. Mid-term adequacy report on the electricity supply-demand balance in France 2019 Edition. RTE, Paris; France.
- RTE, 2015. BILAN PRÉVISIONNEL de l'équilibre offre-demande d'électricité en France [FORECAST BALANCE of the electricity supply-demand in France]. RTE, Paris; France.
- RTE, 2009. Generation Adequacy Report on the electricity supply-demand balance in France. 2009 Edition. RTE, Paris; France.

- RTE, 2005. Generation Adequacy Report on the electricity supply-demand balance in France. RTE, Paris; France.
- Santana, P.H. de M., 2016. Cost-effectiveness as energy policy mechanisms: The paradox of technology-neutral and technology-specific policies in the short and long term. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 58, 1216–1222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.300</u>
- Sayer, A., 1992. Method in social science: a realist approach (2nd Edition). Routledge, Abingdon; United Kingdom.
- Schaffer, L.M., Bernauer, T., 2014. Explaining government choices for promoting renewable energy. Energ Policy 68, 15–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.12.064</u>
- Schaub, S., Tosun, J., Jordan, A., Enguer, J., 2022. Climate Policy Ambition: Exploring A Policy Density Perspective. Politics Gov 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.17645/pag.v10i3.5347</u>
- Schlesinger, M., Lindenberger, D., Lutz, C., Hofer, P., Kemmler, A., Kirchner, A., Koziel, S., Ley, A., Piégsa, A., Seefeldt, F., Straßburg, S., Weinert, K., Knaut, A., Malischek, R., Panke, T., Paulus, S., Tode, C., Wagner, J., Lehr, U., Ulrich, P., 2014. Entwicklung der Energiemärkte – Energiereferenzprognose [Development of Energy Markets – Energy Reference Forecast]. Prognos/EWi/gws, Basel/Köln/Osnabrück.
- Schlesinger, M., Lindenberger, D., Lutz, C., Hofer, P., Kemmler, A., Kirchner, A., Strassburg, S., Ess, F., Fürsch, M., Nagl, S., Paulus, M., Richter, J., Trüby, J., Khorushun, O., Lehr, U., Thobe, I., 2010. Energieszenarien für ein Energiekonzept der Bundesregierung [Energy scenarios for an energy concept of the Federal Government] (No. Projekt Nr. 57/12). Prognos/EWI/GWS, Basel/Köln/Osnabrück.
- Schmidt, V.A., 2009. Putting the Political Back into Political Economy by Bringing the State Back in Yet Again. World Polit 61, 516–546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0043887109000173</u>
- Schneider, F., Kallis, G., Martinez-Alier, J., 2010. Crisis or opportunity? Economic degrowth for social equity and ecological sustainability. Introduction to this special issue. J Clean Prod 18, 511–518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.01.014</u>
- Schulz, W., 2000. Promotion of Renewable Energy in Germany, in: Energy and Environment: Multiregulation in Europe. Routledge, London; United Kingdom.
- Schulz, W., Bartels, M., Gatzen, C., Lindenberger, D., Müsgens, F., Peek, M., Seeliger, A., Steuber, D., Wissen, R., Hofer, P., Kirchner, A., Scheelhaase, J., Schlesinger, M., 2005. Die Entwicklung der Energiemärkte bis zum Jahr 2030 [The development of the energy markets up to 2030] (No. BMWA-Dokumentation 545). BMWA, Berlin.
- Semieniuk, G., Taylor, L., Rezai, A., Foley, D.K., 2021. Plausible energy demand patterns in a growing global economy with climate policy. Nat Clim Change 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-00975-7</u>

- Sewerin, S., Fesenfeld, L.P., Schmidt, T.S., 2023. The role of policy design in policy continuation and ratcheting-up of policy ambition. Polic. Soc. puad027. https://doi.org/10.1093/polsoc/puad027
- Sforna, G., 2019. Climate change and developing countries: from background actors to protagonists of climate negotiations. Int. Environ. Agreem.: Politics, Law Econ. 19, 273–295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10784-019-09435-w
- Shearman, D., Smith, J.W., 2007. The Climate Change Challenge and the Failure of Democracy. Bloomsbury Publishing, New York; United States.
- Singh, M.K., 2023. What is state capacity and how does it matter for energy transition? Energy Polic. 183, 113799. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2023.113799</u>
- Skocpol, T., 1985. Bringing the State Back In: Strategies of Analysis in Current Research. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; United Kingdom.
- Skogstad, G., 2017. Policy feedback and self-reinforcing and self-undermining processes in EU biofuels policy. J. Eur. Public Polic. 24, 21–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2015.1132752
- Sluisveld, M.A.E. van, Harmsen, J.H.M., Bauer, N., McCollum, D.L., Riahi, K., Tavoni, M., Vuuren, D.P. van, Wilson, C., Zwaan, B. van der, 2015. Comparing future patterns of energy system change in 2°C scenarios with historically observed rates of change. Global Environ Change 35, 436–449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.09.019</u>
- Smil, V., 2024. Halfway Between Kyoto and 2050: Zero Carbon Is a Highly Unlikely Outcome. J.P.Morgan, New York; United States.
- Smil, V., 2016a. Energy transitions: global and national perspectives (Second Edition). Praeger, Santa Barbara; United States.
- Smil, V., 2016b. Examining energy transitions: A dozen insights based on performance. Energy Res Soc Sci 22, 194–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.08.017</u>
- Smil, V., 2010. Energy transitions: history, requirements, prospects. Praeger, Santa Barbara; United States.
- Smil, V., 2008. Long-range energy forecasts are no more than fairy tales. Nature 453, 154–154. https://doi.org/10.1038/453154a
- Snam, Terna, 2021. Scenario National Trend Italia [Scenario National Trend Italy]. Terna, Rome; Italy.
- Sorrell, S., 2018. Explaining sociotechnical transitions: A critical realist perspective. Res Policy 47, 1267–1282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.04.008</u>

- Sovacool, B.K., 2016. How long will it take? Conceptualizing the temporal dynamics of energy transitions. Energy Res Soc Sci 13, 202–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.12.020</u>
- Sovacool, B.K., Geels, F.W., 2016. Further reflections on the temporality of energy transitions: A response to critics. Energy Res Soc Sci 22, 232–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.08.013
- Spilker, G., 2013. Globalization, Political Institutions and the Environment in Developing Countries. Routledge, New York; United States.
- Spooner, D., 1995. The'dash for gas' in electricity generation in the UK. Geography 80, 393–406.
- Sprenger, T., Schäfer, F., 2022. Implikationen des geplanten Zubaus erneuerbarer Energien gemäß Osterpaket und EEG 2023Implikationen des geplanten Zubaus erneuerbarer Energien gemäß Osterpaket und EEG 2023 [Implications of the planned expansion of renewable energies according to the Easter Package and EEG 2023]. EWI, Cologne; Germany.
- Stoddard, I., Anderson, K., Capstick, S., Carton, W., Depledge, J., Facer, K., Gough, C., Hache, F., Hoolohan, C., Hultman, M., Hällström, N., Kartha, S., Klinsky, S., Kuchler, M., Lövbrand, E., Nasiritousi, N., Newell, P., Peters, G.P., Sokona, Y., Stirling, A., Stilwell, M., Spash, C.L., Williams, M., 2021. Three Decades of Climate Mitigation: Why Haven't We Bent the Global Emissions Curve? Annu Rev Env Resour 46, 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-012220-011104
- Stokes, L.C., 2020. Short circuiting policy: Interest groups and the battle over clean energy and climate policy in the American States. Oxford University Press, Oxford; United Kingdom.
- Stokes, L.C., 2016. Electoral Backlash against Climate Policy: A Natural Experiment on Retrospective Voting and Local Resistance to Public Policy. Am. J. Political Sci. 60, 958– 974. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12220</u>
- Stokes, L.C., 2013. The politics of renewable energy policies: The case of feed-in tariffs in Ontario, Canada. Energy Polic. 56, 490–500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.01.009</u>
- Storchmann, K., 2005. The rise and fall of German hard coal subsidies. Energy Policy 33, 1469–1492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2004.01.006</u>
- Süsser, D., Martin, N., Stavrakas, V., Gaschnig, H., Talens-Peiró, L., Flamos, A., Madrid-López, C., Lilliestam, J., 2022. Why energy models should integrate social and environmental factors: Assessing user needs, omission impacts, and real-word accuracy in the European Union. Energy Res. Soc. Sci. 92, 102775. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2022.102775</u>
- Susskind, L., Chun, J., Gant, A., Hodgkins, C., Cohen, J., Lohmar, S., 2022. Sources of opposition to renewable energy projects in the United States. Energy Polic. 165, 112922. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2022.112922</u>

- Sutton, I., 2021. Share of citizen energy in decline as funding runs out and big investors take over [WWW Document]. URL <u>https://www.cleanenergywire.org/news/share-citizen-energy-projects-decline-funding-runs-out-and-big-investors-take-over</u> (accessed 3.31.23).
- Suzuki, M., 2014. Adherence to the Past or Hope for the Future?: The historical development of Japan's energy politics and its implications for future nuclear policy. Master of Science thesis. Central European University; Budapest.
- Sweerts, B., Detz, R.J., Zwaan, B. van der, 2020. Evaluating the Role of Unit Size in Learningby-Doing of Energy Technologies. Joule 4, 967–970. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2020.03.010</u>
- Taylor, S., 2007. Privatisation and Financial Collapse in the Nuclear Industry : The Origins and Causes of the British Energy Crisis of 2002, Routledge. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203946275</u>
- The Federal Government of the United States, 2009. American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, 123 STAT. 115.

The Federal Government of the United States, 2005. Energy Policy Act of 2005, 119 STAT. 594.

- The Federal Network Agency of Germany, 2024. Growth in renewable energy in 2023 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.bundesnetzagentur.de/SharedDocs/Pressemitteilungen/EN/2024/20240105_EEG Zubau.html (accessed 2.19.24).
- The Federal Parliament of Germany, 2020. Gesetz zur Reduzierung und zur Beendigung der Kohleverstromung und zur Änderung weiterer Gesetze (Kohleausstiegsgesetz) [Act on the reduction and cessation of coal-fired power generation and amending other laws (Coal Phaseout Act)], BGBl. I S. 1818.
- The Government of Canada, 2023. Canada's Energy Future: Energy Supply and Demand Projections to 2050. The Government of Canada, Ottawa; Canada.
- The Government of Canada, 2021. Canada's Energy Future: Energy Supply and Demand Projections to 2050. The Government of Canada, Ottawa; Canada.
- The Government of Canada, 2016. Canada's Energy Future: Energy Supply and Demand Projections to 2040. The Government of Canada, Ottawa; Canada.
- The Government of Canada, 2011. Canada's Energy Future: Energy Supply and Demand Projections to 2035. The Government of Canada, Ottawa; Canada.
- The Government of Canada, 2007. Turning the corner: taking action to fight climate change. The Government of Canada, Ottawa; Canada.

- The Government of France, 2019. LOI n° 2019-1147 du 8 novembre 2019 relative à l'énergie et au climat (1) [LAW no. 2019-1147 of 8 November 2019 on energy and climate (1)], Texte 1 sur 161.
- The Government of France, 2015. LOI n° 2015-992 du 17 août 2015 relative à la transition énergétique pour la croissance verte (1) [LAW no. 2015-992 of 17 August 2015 on the energy transition for green growth (1)], DEVX1413992L.
- The Government of France, 2010. LOI n° 2010-788 du 12 juillet 2010 portant engagement national pour l'environnement (1) [LAW no. 2010-788 of 12 July 2010 on the national commitment to the environment (1)], DEVX0822225L.
- The Government of France, 2005. LOI n° 2005-781 du 13 juillet 2005 de programme fixant les orientations de la politique énergétique [Law no. 2005-781 of 13 July 2005 setting out energy policy guidelines], ECOX0400059L.
- The Government of the United Kingdom, 2023. Powering Up Britain. The Government of the United Kingdom, London; United Kingdom.
- The Government of the United Kingdom, 2022. British Energy Security Strategy. The Government of the United Kingdom, London; United Kingdom.
- The Government of the United Kingdom, 2009. The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan. The Government of the United Kingdom, London; United Kingdom.
- The House of Commons of the United Kingdom, 2017. Carbon Capture and Storage [WWW Document]. URL https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubacc/1036/1036.pdf (accessed 6.3.19).
- The Ministerial Committee for European Affairs of Italy, 2007. Energia: temi e sfide per l'Europa e per l'Italia. Position Paper del Governo italiano [Energy: issues and challenges for Europe and Italy. Position Paper of the Italian Government]. The Ministerial Committee for European Affairs of Italy, Rome; Italy.
- The National Diet of Japan, 2002. Enerugii seisaku kihon hou [Basic Act on Energy Policy].
- The Parliament of the United Kingdom, 2008. Climate Change Act 2008, 2008 c 27.
- The White House, 2021. Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad, Executive Order 14008 (Vol. 86, No. 19).
- The White House, 2016. FACT SHEET: The Recovery Act Made The Largest Single Investment In Clean Energy In History, Driving The Deployment Of Clean Energy, Promoting Energy Efficiency, And Supporting Manufacturing. The White House, Washington, DC; USA.

- Tobin, P., 2017. Leaders and Laggards: Climate Policy Ambition in Developed States. Global Environ Polit 17, 28–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/glep_a_00433</u>
- Turnheim, B., 2012. The destabilisation of existing regimes in socio-technical transitions. PhD Dissertation. University of Sussex, Sussex; United Kingdom.
- Turnheim, B., Geels, F.W., 2012. Regime destabilisation as the flipside of energy transitions Lessons from the history of the British coal industry (1913–1997). Energy Policy 50, 35–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.04.060</u>
- UNFCCC, 2015. The Paris Agreement. UNFCCC, Bonn; Germany.
- UNFCCC, 1998. Kyoto Protocol to The United Nations Framework Convention On Climate Change United Nations 1998. UNFCCC, Bonn; Germany.
- Unruh, G.C., 2000. Understanding carbon lock-in. Energ Policy 28, 817–830. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-4215(00)00070-7
- Valentine, S.V., Sovacool, B.K., 2010. The socio-political economy of nuclear power development in Japan and South Korea. Energy Policy 38, 7971–7979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.09.036
- Vinichenko, V., 2018. Mechanisms of energy transitions: National cases and the worldwide uptake of wind and solar power. Doctoral dissertation. Central European University, Budapest, Hungary.
- Vinichenko, V., Cherp, A., Jewell, J., 2021. Historical precedents and feasibility of rapid coal and gas decline required for the 1.5°C target. One Earth 4, 1477–1490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.09.012
- Vinichenko, V., Jewell, J., Jacobsson, J., Cherp, A., 2023a. Historical diffusion of nuclear, wind and solar power in different national contexts: implications for climate mitigation pathways. Environmental Research Letters 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/acf47a</u>
- Vinichenko, V., Vetier, M., Jewell, J., Nacke, L., Cherp, A., 2023b. Phasing out coal for 2 °C target requires worldwide replication of most ambitious national plans despite security and fairness concerns. Environ Res Lett 18, 014031. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/acadf6</u>
- Vorwerk, A., 2002. The 2002 Amendment to the German Atomic Energy Act Concerning the Phase-out of Nuclear Power, Nuclear Law Bulletin No. 69. OECD, Paris; France.
- Welton, S., 2018. Grasping for energy democracy. Michigan Law Review 116, 581-644.
- Westander, H., Risberg, J., 2022. Kommunala vetot 2020–2021 [Municipal veto 2020-2021]. Westander, Stockholm; Sweden.

- Williams, J.H., DeBenedictis, A., Ghanadan, R., Mahone, A., Moore, J., III, W.R.M., Price, S., Torn, M.S., 2012. The Technology Path to Deep Greenhouse Gas Emissions Cuts by 2050: The Pivotal Role of Electricity. Science 335, 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1208365
- Wilson, C., 2012. Up-scaling, formative phases, and learning in the historical diffusion of energy technologies. Energ Policy 50, 81–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.04.077</u>
- Wilson, C., Grubler, A., 2011. Lessons from the history of technological change for clean energy scenarios and policies. Nat Resour Forum 35, 165–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-8947.2011.01386.x</u>
- Wilson, C., Grubler, A., Bauer, N., Krey, V., Riahi, K., 2013. Future capacity growth of energy technologies: are scenarios consistent with historical evidence? Climatic Change 118, 381--395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0618-y</u>
- Wilson, C., Grubler, A., Bento, N., S.Healey, Stercke, S.D., Zimm, C., 2020. Granular technologies to accelerate decarbonization. Science, Science 368, 36–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz8060</u>
- Wilson, C., Stercke, S.D., Zimm, C., 2023. Building back better: Granular energy technologies in green recovery funding programs. Joule 7, 1206–1226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2023.05.012</u>
- Wood, G., Dow, S., 2011. What lessons have been learned in reforming the Renewables Obligation? An analysis of internal and external failures in UK renewable energy policy. Energy Policy 39, 2228–2244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.11.012</u>
- York, R., Bell, S.E., 2019. Energy transitions or additions? Why a transition from fossil fuels requires more than the growth of renewable energy. Energy Res Soc Sci 51, 40–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.01.008
- Zaman, S.T., 2020. Sustainable Energy Transition in Developing Countries: Is Leapfrogging a Feasible Proposition? SSRN Electron. J. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4603988</u>